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PANILY TREE (George Flett, 1617 - 1897)* 

.- 

Sarah/Sally 1 
b. ca. 1775 
d. 27 Apr. 1845, 

Red River 

al Jacques Cardinal 2 

n2 James Peter Uhitford 3 
b. 26 Hat. 1766, 

St. Paul's Pariah 
m. Pre. 1795, Severn? 
d. 5 Hay 1818, 

Red River 

ail Feathers Wutunea 
Cardinal 

hief nekis 
d. ca. 1873 hief Louis Oosoup 

Ooeaup Band 
ml Assiniboine Qu'Appelle Area 

hief Red Pheaaant/Kaaekosit 
Hary Cut Sleeve 

I narried David Ahenekew 

eorge Bone 

Antoine Bone 

b, ca, 1819 
d. 10 Apr. 1906 

m3 Orkney 5 

- --- - -  - 

-Uarqaret/Peqgy Whitford 6 
b. 1796, Swan River 
baptism C a. 7 Dec. 1823, 
Red River 
d.  27 May, 1877, Poplar Point 

Baptiste Bone 
b. ca, 1824 
d. 1924 

hief  Keeseekoowenen 10 

m. George Plett Sr. 7 
b. Ca. 1775, Firth 
P. 7 Dec. 1823, Red River 
d. 10 June 1850, Red River 

Alexander Ross 8 
b. 1783, Scotland 
d. 1856, Red River 

io. 26 NOV. 1840, 
d. 28 Oct. 1897, Okanase 

Francise Cook 11 
b. 1822 
ci. Ca. 5 Aug. 1839 

a. Hary Roes 15 
b. 10 Jan. 1024,  

Columbia River area 
d. 19 nar. 1912 

-Letitia 12 
b. 6 Aug. 1839 
a. 1861, Alexander nurray 

- 4 h i l d  who died 14 
d. Ca. 1857, Red River 

*See the notes on the next page. 

m. Sarah Tiaentwa 9 
b. ca. 1798, Columbia River ares 

Baptized and a. 24 Dec. 1820 
d. 26 Feb. 1884, Winnipeg 

A 

b. 23 NOV. 1861 
a. J. A. Lauder 

30 nay, 1878 
d Lauder, 1897 

I 

L-~lexandet W. Rous 17 
m. Catherine Murray 

2 1  June, 1865, Red Rivet 

Ann Sutherland Annie Flett 16 



*Notes for FAMILY TREE (George Flett 1817-1897) 

Rarihokwats, wSarah/Sally,w a profile deposited at the 
United Church of Canada: Archives of the Conference of 
Manitoba and Northwestern Ontario (UCA), 25 April 1997. 

Rarihokwats, wSarah/Sally.u 

Hudson's Bay Company Archives (HBCA), Biographies 
Binder W to 2. 

UCA, L A .  Donaghy Collection, PP 11, 82-P200, Wkanase 
Indian Mission," 6 .  Michael Cardinal was narned Mekis 
Okanase Cardinal according to Osborne Lauder and Brian 
Whitford at the Keeseekoowenin Reserve. They s a i d  
Okanase meant Little Bone. Personal interview, 31 May 
1996. Walter Traill referred to Chief Little Bone in 
Mae Atwood (ed. ) , In Ru~ert's Land. Memoirs of Walter 
Traill (Toronto: McClelland and Stewart, 1970), 102- 
103. For Mekis' approximate death date, see Alexander 
Morris, The Treaties of Canada with the Indians of 
Manitoba and the North-West Territories (Toronto: 
Belfords, Clarke & Co., 1880), 339-340. 

For Cardinal's three wives, see Rarihokwats, 
wSarah/Sally.fl See also Donaghy, 6. Osborne Lauder 
and Brian Whitford agree. 

HBCA, Biographies Binder W to 2. See also Donaghy and 
Rarihokwats, "Margaret Whitford," a profile deposited 
at UCA. 

E.E. Rich (ed.), Minutes of Council Northern Department 
of Rupert Land Societv 1821-1831 (London: The Chanplain 
Society for the Hudson's Bay Record Society, 1939), 
Appendix A ,  213. 

Frits Pannekoek, "Ross, Alexander,' Dictionarv of 
Canadian Bioara~hv, Vol. VI11 (1851-18601, 765. 

Laurenda Daniells, frRoss, Sally (Sarah]," Dictionarv of 
Canadian Bioara~hv, Vol. XI (1881-1890), 775-776. John 
A. Caldwell, Prince Rupert, B.C. supplied Sallyfs 
surname. "From the Land of the Wkanakons . 12 
November 1996. Manuscript in possession of Alvina 
Block, Winnipeg. 

Rarihokwats, rfSarah/Sally.M Compare with Donaghy. 

Provincial Archives of Manitoba (PAM), Anglican Parish 
Register Data. 



1 2 .  P M ,  S c r i p  records, Reel T - 4 6 8 7 .  See also  F l e t t f s  w i l l  
i n  William C o l d w e l l  papers, PAM, MG14 C 7 3 ,  Box 7 ,  
C o r r e s p o n d e n c e  f i l e ,  1 8 9 4 - 1 8 9 8 ,  

1 3 .  PAM, William C o l d w e l l  p a p e r s ,  B o x  7 ,  F l e t t  to Coldwell 
2 1  A u g u s t  1875 .  For Flett's death date see F r e e  Press, 
2 9  October 1897 .  

1 4 .  PAM, Ross F a m i l y  C o l l e c t i o n ,  MG2 C14, L e t t e r  No. 2 0 4 ,  
Alexander W .  Ross to James Ross, 8 March 1 8 5 7 .  
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will. 
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r e c o r d s ,  R e e l  T - 4 6 8 7 .  
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George Flett, Native Presbyterian Missionary: 

"Old Philos~pher~/~~ev'd Gentlemann 

Pref ace 

On 15 July 1875 William Wagner, a surveyor for the 

reserves of Treaty Two in southwestern ~anitoba, visited the 

Okanase Reserve. He reported to David Laird, Superintendent 

of the North West Territories, that the newly established 

reserve called Okanase, at Riding Mountain House, was better 

off than the surrounding reserves because the Presbyterians 

had sent a wschoolmaster, a M r .  George Flettw to work there. 

Mr. Flett did not "stand on his dignity as a Revfd oentleman 

would do but like the old Philosophersm he went from "house 

to house" teaching tne people.' 

George Flett had begun his church career as an 

interpreter on the first Presbyterian missionary expedition 

to the Northwest from 1866-1867. He served as rnissionary to 

the Ojibwa at Okanase (now known as Keeseekoowenin) Reserve 

from 1873-1895. Flett, his career, and his relationships 

are exceptionally interesting. He lived during a critical 

t i m e  in the history of the Northwest, and was involved in 

many aspects of its economic, political and religious life. 

Yet, although w e  have biographies of European missionaries 

such as James Evans and Robert Rundle, and of native 

' ~ r e a t y  & Aboriginal Rights Research Centre of ~anitoba 
(TARR), RG10, Vol. 3555, file 10, William Wagner to David 
Laird 15 July 1875. copies from NAC, O t t a w a .  



missionaries such as Peter Jones, Henry Budd, and Charles 

Pratt,' no scholarly work about George Flett has been 

published. 

Flett was a bicultural individual of Orkney/Cree 

origin. His wife, Mary Ross Flett, was of Scottish/Okanagan 

background. Biculturalism, in the Northwest, was a common 

result of fur trade marriages. The fur trade in Rupert's 

Land, from 1670 to the 1820s, presented some unique 

problems. One of these predicaments was that in the early 

years of the fur trade, Company men were net allowed to 

bring white women with them i n t o  Indian country because it 

was too expensive to bring family units from Engiand and 

France to the North West.' European fur traders soon 

' ~ c r  James Evans see, among others, the hagiographie 
work of Egerton R. Young, The A~ostle of the North: Reverend 
James Evans (Toronto: Revell, 1899). Rundlers diary has 
been edited by Hugh A. Dempsey with an introduction and 
notes by Gerald M. Hutchinson, The Rundle Journals, 1840- 
1848 (Calgary: Historical Society of Alberta/Glenbow- 
Alberta Institute, 1977). Peter Jones% biography is by 
Donald Smith in Sacred Feathers (Toronto: University of 
Toronto Press, 1987). Henry Budd's dia ry  has been edited by 
Katherine Pettipas, The Diarv of the Reverend Henrv Budd 
1870-1875 (Winnipeg: Manitoba Record Society, 1974). See 
also Raymond M. Beaumont's "Origins and Influences: The 
Family T i e s  of the Reverend Henry Buddl' in Prairie Forum 
17.2 (1992). For biographical information about Charles 
Pratt, see Winona Stevenson "The Journals and Voices of a 
Church of England Native Catechist: Askenootow (Charles 
Pratt), 18514884," in Readino Bevond Words, eds. Jennifer 
S.H. Brown and Elizabeth Vibert (Peterborough: Broadview 
Press, 1996). 

%ee Jennifer S.H. B r o w n ,  Strancrers i n  Blood: Fur Trade 
Com~anv Families in Indian Countrv (Vancouver: University of 
British Columbia Press, 1980), 10-11. 



learned that for many reasons it was expedient and appealing 

to make alliances with Indian w~rnen .~  These women bore the 

sons and daughters of fur trade officers and servants, 

children who, by the early 1800s often came to be labeled 

%alf-breeds," Irmixed bloods,'' or Metis. In this study, 

when it is impossible to be more specific about racial 

origin, 1 will refer to children born of fur trade fathers 

and native mothers as bicultural people. 

The Red River vicinity became the hub of a bicultural 

community as numerous fur traders and their native families 

retired there after the 1821 merger. Hudson's Bay Company 

officials, and in some cases missionaries at Red River, 

stereotyped fur trade children as people on a lower socio- 

economic level t h an  the Scottish colonists, suitable only 

for intermediary positions as go-betweens on a lower salary 

than peoples of European backgrounds.' As intermediaries, 

bicultural people straddled two disparate qroups--European 

and native societies. 

Fur traders, missionaries, and government agents were 

dependent upon the skills of bicultural people to provide 

for their travel needs, to teach them survival skills in a 

harsh climate, and to interpret the languages of the peoples 

'Brown, Stranaers in Blood, 51 and 64. 

'~ee D.N. Sprague, introduction to The Genealocrv of the 
First Metis Nation: The Development and Dis~ersal of the Red 
River Settlement 1820-1900, compiled by L N .  Sprague and 
R.P.Frye (Winnipeg: Pemmican Publications, 1983), 16-20. 



they encountered. William Francis Butler, an officer in the 

Wolseley military expedition to Red River, received a 

special assignment from Governor Archibald ta go into the 

West, "the great lone landtr as he called it, to report on 

conditions there.' He was utterly dependent upon native and 

half-breed help as he travelled by horse and dog sled 

through the frozen wastes at sub-zero temperatures. Yet he 

1 had never been a believer in the pluck and courage of 
the men who are the descendants of mixed European and 
Indian parents. Admirable as guides, unequalled as 
voyageurs, trappers, and hunters, they nevertheless are 
wanting in those qualities which give courage or true 
manhood. ' 

Bicultural people received little credit for their 

achievements. Rather, the public image they were given was 

often derogatory. L A .  Clifton describes the o l d  stereotype 

of these people as being 

psychologically 
ability to live 
were originally 
another culture 

diminished, losing key elements of the 
effectively in the community where they 
socialized without gaining enough of 
to become comfortably adjusted there.' 

Clifton, however, points out that bicultural people were in 

fact often wculturally enlargedm because they %~aster[ed] 

'Butler, William Francis, The Great Lone Land: A 
Narrative of Travel and Adventure in the North-West of 
America (Edmonton: M.G. Hurtig, 1968), 197. First 
published in London: S.Low, Marston, Low & Searle, 1872. 

 u am es A. Clifton, "Alternate Identities and Cultural 
FrontiersIn Beincr and Becornino Indian (Chicago: Dorsey 
Press, 1989), 29. 



knowledge of both culturesn in their background. Bicultural 

people displayed a surprising agility as they xnoved easily 

from one culture to another. Cliftonrs view is that 

bicultural people adopted a flexibility or mobility to take 

on more than one ethnic identity "either in sequence over 

their lives or at one the, according to what context they 

were in at the moment-"' 

George and Mary Flett spent their lives in intermediary 

positions. George was a postmaster for the Hudson's Bay 

Company at Victoria, then he served as an interpreter at 

Prince Albert. From 1873 to 1895 he w a s  a rnissionary in the 

Lake Manitoba area. As a postrnaster, he mediated between 

the Cree and Hudson's Bay Company officiais. As interpreter 

at the Prince Albert mission, he spoke for the Rev. James 

Nisbet to the Cree. A s  a missionary, he negotiated with the 

Presbyterian Foreign Mission Committee for the Saufteaux at 

Okanase and for other native people in the area. 

Wherever George went, Mary went with him. Both George and 

Mary found rneans to communicate w i t h  disparate groups of 

people: their own white and native kin, the fur trade, the 

natives on the reserves, and the white Presbyterian Foreign 

Mission Committee. Sometimes their activities and attitudes 

appeared to be inconsistent as they tried to satisfy the 

expectations that others had of them. Mary played an 

'%A. Clifton, preface in Beinu and Becornina Indian, 
ed. by J.A. clifton (Chicago: Dorset Press, 1989), x. 



important part in George's life and ministry but, as is 

usually the case for women, much less information is 

available about Mary than about George. As a result, this 

study focuses primarily on George. 

An analysis of Flettfs life requires more than mere 

biography because George Flett was an exemplar who 

illustrated how a bicultural missionary could have the 

flexibility to fil1 various divergent roles and to function 

well in al1 of them. Yet he was also distinctive from other 

native missionaries. Henry Budd, the Church of England 

missionary to the Cree at The Pas, Moose Lake, and Nepowewin 

from 1840 to 1875, was the son of a Cree fa ther  and a mother 

of mixed descent. Although Budd was educated by t h e  Church 

Missionary Society in Red River, Beaumont finds that "Buddrs 

Cree heritage exerted a powerful influence in his formative 

years."" Yet, towards the end of his missionary career, he 

identified closely w i t h  Church of England religious language 

and patterns of thought. When his son, whom he had educated 

for church ministry, died, he felt that "the Lord cut down 

[those] props that [he would] lean on Him alone." He seemed 

to feel isolated and separate from the Cree in his charge." 

Winona Stevenson finds that some native ministers, such as 

Henry Budd, appeared "to have been thoroughly indoctrinated 

"Beaumont, rfOrigins and Influences, ' 183. 

"~udd, The Diarv of the Reverend Henrv Budd, 158-160. 

- 6 



in European values and  perspective^.^" Pettipas, in 

assessing Buddrs journals, says that his style and attitude 

were not different from that of European mis~ionaries.'~ 

Charles Pratt's father was of Cree and French ancestry 

while his mother was Assiniboine. Pratt, who was also 

educated by the Church Missionary Society at Red River, 

became a Church of England missionary among the Plains Cree. 

According to Stevenson, Pratt did not isolate himself from 

his people as Budd did. Yet in looking at Pratt's journals, 

Stevenson finds that he used the same pious language and 

preached the same message as other "tenacious evangelicalsN 

and that he represented himself as Hself-abusing and 

sub~ervient.~~" Stevenson argues that Pratt did this to 

accommodate himself to the expectations of his employers and 

that there was another layer to Pratt in which he identified 

more closely with his own people. 

Like Budd and Pratt, George Flett was educated by the 

Church Missionary Society at Red River. Flettrs father, 

however, was an Orkneyman and his mother was English/Cree in 

origin, making Flett less native than Budd or Pratt. Yet 

"winona L. Stevenson, "'Our Man in the Fieldr: The 
Status and Role of a CMS Native Catechist in Rupert's Land," 
Journal of the Canadian Church Historical Societv 33.1 
(April 1991): 65. 

"~atherine Pettipas, introduction to The Diarv of the 
Reverend Henrv Budd. 1870-187s (Winnipeg: Manitoba Record 
~ociety, 1974), xix. 

'4~tevenson, lrJournals and V o i ~ e s , ~ ~  308-309. 



apparently he identified increasingly with the Saulteaux 

people as he grew older. An example of his identification 

is that in a letter to Andrew Browning Baird, convener of 

the Presbyterian Foreign Mission Conunittee (FMC), Flett 

referred to the Cree and Saulteaux languages as %y own 

toung . '*" One of Flettrs successor missionaries at Okanase, 
%A. Donaghy, wrote that "it seemed a fitting thingn that 

Flettrs funeral service was held in the log church at 

Okanase and that he was buried in the Indian cemetery.'" 

George Flettfs letters to his brothers-in-law, Jantes 

Ross, William Coldwell, and John Black, and to the 

Presbyterian FMC do not give the impression that he felt in 

any way subservient like Budd and Pratt. The language he 

used was not overly pious or fawning. There are, however, 

gaps in the record. He left no personal diaries, journals, 

or sermons for researchers to scrutinise and assess. No 

description of Flettrs conversion can be found; nor can we 

know with any certainty why he chose to be ordained as a 

missionary when he had opposed al1 cornpetitive missionary 

efforts at least until the age of fifty. The archiva1 

sources require careful reading and interpretation, given 

"United Church of Canada: Archives of the Conference 
of ~anitoba and Northwestern Ontario ( U C A ) ,  Andrew Browning 
Baird Collection, E358-360, Flett to "Dear friendrTV 28 March 
1890. 

"UCA, James A. Donaghy Collection, PP 11, 82-P200, 
"Okanase Indian Mission," 6. 



their gaps. Reports for the public by the Presbyterian FMC 

need to be read with caution as they were prepared to 

impress and please the public in order to raise necessary 

financial support. In Flettts case, private and public 

records often relay very different messages. Private 

correspondence with board members reveals tension in the 

relationship between Flett and the FMC convenors while 

public records carefully cover up disagreements. 

Donald B. Smith has written of Peter Jones, a 

bicultural Methodist missionary to the Anishinaabeg on the 

north shore of Lake Ontario, that he "operated in two worlds 

and responded to the signals of both."l7 Jones had dealings 

with lndian agents, lieutenants governor, governors general ,  

and other British officiais. He also had the confidence of 

the Ojibwa and the Six Nations. Knowledge of two cultures 

could be an asset  but it could also be a liability. Jones 

sometimes became weary of meeting the demands involved in 

bridging two cultures.1a 

As did Jones, Flett operated in at least two worlds. 

He was both an "Old Philosopher' (native elder) and a "Revrd 

Gentlemann (devoted missionary). The incongruities in 

Flettrs life may have reflected the mobility or flexibility 

that bicultural people practiced as they moved from one role 

''Smith, 211. 

"Smith, 211-212. 



t o  another in their efforts to bridge two cultures. This 

apparent flexibility may be the key to his ability to 

straddle the demands and expectations of the native 

population and the mission board. In assuming various roles 

comfortably, Flett was able to please  the members of the FMC 

who were his employers. At certain times, however, his r o l e  

of operating in two worlds, and satisfying the inhabitants 

of both, became difficult. 

George Flett provides a case study of how difficult it 

was f o r  bicultural people, especially those of European and 

native origin, to achieve a secure social standinç in 

Rupert's Land society in the last ha l f  of the nineteenth 

century. Yet archival  sources show that he was not 

dysfunctional, but r a t h e r  that he was a culturally enlarged 

person. A study of Flettfs life reveals the divergent roles 

he played as "old philosopheru and "Revfd Gentleman." 
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became increasingly more interested in George Flett as time 

went by. 

And now to a study of Flettrs life. To understand the 

nature of Flettfs dual origins, it is necessary first to 

look at his parentage and his earliest years. 



Cbapter 1 

George F'lett's Ancestors, Relatives, and E a r l y  Social 

Contexts 

The lives of individuals are most significantly shaped 

by the people who surround them i n  the first years  of their 

childhood;' George Flett was no exception. He was barn on 

10 February 1817 a t  Moose Lake on the Saskatchewan River 

where his father, George Flett Senior, was employed by the 

Hudson's Bay Company. George Flett Senior came to Rupert's 

Land from the Orkney Islands in 1796 ,  at the aqe of twenty- 

one. He worked for the Hudson's Bay Company as an inland 

labourer and boatman at York Factory until 1810. From 1810 

to 1822 he worked at Moose Lake, near Cumberland House, 

first as an assistant trader and then as a postmaster. 

Flett Senior was one of the many employees who were retired 

to Red River soon after the merger of the Hudson's Bay and 

the North West Companies in 1821.' 

'For one illustration of how a Cree nurse influenced 
Reverend E. Ryerson Young in his childhood while his parents 
were Methodist missionaries to the Cree and Northern Ojibwa 
(Saulteaux) at Norway House and Berens River, see Jennifer 
S.H. Brown, "A Cree Nurse in a Cradle of Methodism: Little 
Mary and the Egerton R. Young Family at Norway House and 
Berens River," in F i r s t  Davs. Fiqhtina Davs: Women in 
Manitoba Historv, ed. Mary Kinnear (Regina: Canadian Plains 
Research Center, 1987), 18-40. 

'~lett Junior's birthdate is given in a letter from Flett 
Jr. to Coldwell, 21 August 1875 i n  which Flett Jr. applied f o r  
land grants for mixed blood children under the ~anitoba Act 
for himself and his w i f e .  PAM, William Coldwell Papers, MG14 
C73, Box 7. Information about George Flett Senior cornes from 
E.E. Rich, ed., Minutes of Council Northern De~artment of 
R u ~ e r t  Land 1821-1831 (London: Champlain Society for the 





After the merger, when Francis ~eron" became master at 

Moose Lake and Nelson was at Cumberland House, Nelson 

observed that old Flett was now Heronfs "right hand man," 

and called him a fiprejudiced old foolm who "now that he has 

the power, takes every opportunity to revenge himself & 

insult On returning to Moose Lake, however, Nelson 

met Flett again and reflected later in his journal that he 

was a tfgood old neighbourw who had 

done a grea t  deal  of work himself to bring the place to 
some order, profit, & comfort & the moment that he was 
to have reaped the b e n e f i t  another steps in. A man's 
feelings, however humble h i s  sphere, ought n e v e r  to be 
played with and the old man has no Philosophy, & not 
too much discretion.' 

From Nelson's journal, o n e  senses that the environment 

in which younq George grew up was more violent than 

religious. Drinking and stabbings among the native peoples 

who visited Moose Lake posts seem to have been the order of 

the day. The Cree and Saulteaux blamed the white people for 

creating this atmosphere by giving them rum. Nelson 

specifically mentioned Flett Senior giving rum to his 

hunters. '  Company rivalry for furs played a part in 

 or Heron's first name see E.E. Rich, ed., Journal of 
Occurrences in the Athasbasca Department bv Georae Sim~son. 
1820-1821. and R e u o r t  (Champlain Society for the Hudson's 
Bay Record Society, 1938), Volume 1, 442. 

6Nelson, 20 August 1821. 

'Nelson, 6 June 1822. 

  els son, 26 May 1821. 



creating violence among the Cree and Saulteaux, especially 

when hunters had a debt with one trader and t hen  were 

pressured into selling to another. Company employees a l so  

privately prodded the native peoples into pillaging one 

another in order to bring in more furs to their own post. 

Nelson observed: 

What c a n  be more unjust, more criminal, more 
unpardonable, than to tonnent people into steps for 
which we mean to punish them? But we, like good 
Christians, have very convenient consciences, as 
elastic as a silk stockinq and like it they extend 
distend and  recline in calm and ease at pleasure.' 

To a small boy, this atmosphere of rivalry and v i o l e n c e  

would have been charged with an element of excitement. No 

doubt, young George played with the children of the Cree wko 

came to trade furs in exchange for supplies at Moose Lake. 

Nelson mentioned women and children who accompanied men when 

they came to the post." As well, George Junior would have  

mixed with the children of half-breed servants who worked at 

Moose Lake." Besides English, he learned to speak the Cree, 

French, and Saulteaux languages. Over thirty years later, 

'Nelson, 4 July 1821. 

"walter Traill, who was postmaster at Riding Mountain 
House in 1868, wrote that he had Cive servants--a cook, a 
horse guard, and a cattle keeper. Although T r a i l l  made a 
point of stressing that European and canadian Hudson's B a y  
Company employees were usually not married, the people who 
performed menial tasks at a post were usually natives or 
mixed bloods. As such, they probably had children. Walter 
Traill, In Ru~ert's Land: Memoirs of Walter Traill, ed. Mae 
Atwood (Toronto: McClelland and Stewart, 1970), 1 6 2 .  



he wrote: "the Cree ~ h i p a w a y  and French was al1 allike to 

me as the English. tl" 

The Moose Lake area was a Cree reqion, but Flett 

probably learned to speak Saulteaux and French as a result 

of the close proximity of the HBC and NWC posts at Moose 

Lake before the merger. Nelson wrote that the Flett house 

was only a few yards from his place: in fact, his journal 

mentions one of Flettrs children running to his door with a 

message." So the Flett children were in daily contact with 
/ 

the "brules' who spoke French, and with Saulteaux speakers 

in Nor-Westers' families. 

Exploring Flettfs materna1 roots may also provide some 

clues about why younq Georqe could speak four lanquages. 

Flettrs mother was Margaret (Peggy) Whitford, daughter of 

James Peter Whitford and an Indian woman named Sarah, likely 

a Cree. Whitford came from the parish of St. Paul's, London 

and entered the HBC in 1788, working in the York Factory 

district in such  positions as postmaster and inland trader. 

From 1813 until he retired before 1818, he worked at Carlton 

House on the Saskatchewan." Whitford and Sarah had a 

"PAM, Ross Farnily Collection, MG2 C14, Letter No. 6 8 ,  
George Flett to James Ross, 26 January 1854. 

 elson son, 21 May 1821. 

L4Hudsonrs Bay Company Archives (HBCA), Officersr and 
Servants' Ledger - York, 1797-1813, A. 16/34, fo. 41d; 
Servantsr Contracts 1776-1791, A. 32/3, fo. 211; List of 
Servants in Hudson Bay 1788-1790, A. 30/4, fo. 50d; List of 
Servants in Hudson Bay 1813-1814, A. 30/12,13; List of 
Servants in Hudson Bay 1814-1815, A30/14 fo. 7 d ;  and 



family of t e n  children, Margaret (born approximately in 1796 

at Swan River) being one of them? 

Peter Lorenz Neufeld, a former teacher in the Minnedosa 

area, wrote many articles on Flett and his ancestry. H i s  

biography of Keeseekoowenin states that George FletYs 

mother, Margaret/Peggy, was a sister to chief Okanase, alias 

Michael Cardinal." In another article, he wrote that 

Margaret and Michael were children of Jacques cardinaLL7 

A rough family t r e e  of Flettts ancestry, originatinq 

(in contrast) from native oral tradition and  s k e t c h e d  by 

J.A. Donaghy, states that F l e t Y s  mother was the sister of a 

Michael Cardinal who had three wives, a Dakatoh woman, an 

Orkney wornan, and  a French wornan. The Dakatoh womanrs s a n s  

were Ochoup, St. Paul, and Mekis; the French woman's were 

John, William, and Antoine Bone; and the Orkney woman's were 

Yellowhead, Baptiste Bone, and Keeseekoowenin B u r n s L S  

Officers and Servants Ledger - Edmonton 1813-1819, A 16/15, 
fo. 76d-77. 

'%lenbow Archives, Charles Denny Collection M7 144, 
Francis Whitford File, 176,780. 

"See Peter Lorenz Neufeld, 'tKeeseekoowenin,w Dictionarv 
of Canadian Bioara~hv, Vol. XII1 (1901-1910), 537-538. 

"~eter Lorenz Neufeld, "The Notable Michael Cardinal 
Family," Indian Record (January 19861, 20. 

"ucA, Donaghy, 1-2. Donaghy, a missionary at Okanase 
from 1909-1917, states t h a t  he got t h e  information for his 
history from Baird, Flettfs relatives, and the native people 
on the reserve, Some parts of Donaghyrs history are hard to 
reconcile with FletYs history since he says that the two 
families settled in t h e  Little Saskatchewan valley in the 
Riding Mountain vicinity, But Flettfs father worked on the 



In the spring of 1996, 1 interviewed Brian Whitford, 

band leader at Keeseekoowenin (fomerly Okanase) Reserve, 

and Osborne Lauder, a descendant of George and Mary Flettrs 

adopted daughter Annie. Whitford's recollections of Michael 

Cardinal fit Donaghyrs family tree, except that Whitford and 

Osborne Lauder were not sure that Margaret Whitford Flett 

and Michael Cardinal were brother and sister. 

Walter Archibald Scott, Keeseekoowenin's grandson and 

popularly known on the reserve as "Gld Baldy, lV now lives at 

Strathclair and is over ninety years old. His handwritten 

records, obtained from a present-day researcher for the 

Interlake Reserves Tribal Council Rarihokwats, inform us 

that : 

Michael Cardinal or Okanese or Little Bcne, fwas] son 
of Jacques Cardinal who lived in the reqion of the 
Yellowhead Pass of the Rockies. Jacques had a Native 
Indian wife who had at least five children: Andrea, 
Alexis, Michael, Susan, Margaret. Susan married Jasper 
House trader Henry John Moberly, Alexis became a 
Catholic missionary, Anàre remained in the Jasper area. 
Margaret married a Prince Albert fur trader, George 
Flett; their son, the Rev. George Flett of the first 
Elphinstone Mission. 
Michael Cardinal, known as Okanese, was the leader and 
chief [at Riding Mountain]. Okanese had three wives at 
the same time, one a Dakota, one Native and Orkney, and 
one Native and French Canadian. Each wife had her own 
tipi and had large families. The men became very good 

Saskatchewan before he settled at Red River. More likely, 
they connecter3 closely while Flettts father was at Moose 
Lake. Michel probably travelled from the Bow River and up 
the Saskatchewan as a trader before he settled at Riding 
Mountain, in which case his family could have lived at Moose 
Lake with the Fletts, but George Nelson does not mention 
anyone by this name in his journal. 



hunters and trappers, especially the sons of the Orkney 
woman . L9 

Rarihokwats, who draws on Walter Scott's recollections but 

adds to them, states that Michel Cardinal was the son of 

Sarah (Sally) , Ifan Indian woman" and Jacques Cardinal, a 

French Canadian. Sarah (Sally) subsequently married James 

Peter ~hitford Sr., barn 26 March 1766 at St. Paul's Parish, 

London. One of their children was Margaret (Peggy) Whitford 

who married George Flett, Senior, thus making Michel and 

Margaret half-siblings. 

Rarihokwats' research concludes that Michel Cardinal 

took three wives, an Assiniboine woman, a Metis woman, and 

an Orkney woman. With his Assiniboine wife he fathered Tai1 

Feathers Wuttunee, Baptiste Cardinal, St. Paul, Chief Mekis, 

Chief Louis Oosoup (chief in the Qu'Appelle area), Chief Red 

Pheasant, and Mary Cut Sleeve Keekakanekwas (who married 

David Ahenakew). With hiç Metis wife, he fathered George 

and Antoine Bone. With his Orkney wife, he fathered 

Baptiste Bone (Okanase), and Keeseekoowenin." If, as oral 

'gWhen 1 visited the Keeseekoowenin Reserve in the 
sumer of 1996, Brian Whitiord and Osborne Lauder told me 
that 1 should speak to Old Baldy (Walter Scott), who was 
coming to the reserve soon. However, 1 could not stay any 
longer. The quotation from Walter Archibald Scott is taken 
from a letter from Rarihokwats to Alvina Block, 11 May 1997. 

Rarihokwats, "Sarah/SaLly, a profile deposited at 
UCA, 25 April 1997. Rarihokwats family tree agrees with but 
includes more children than Donaghyrs genealogy. Althouqh 
both sources Say that Cardinal took an Orkney wife, she must 
have been Orkney/Cree as no Orkney women were available in 
the early 1800s. 



tradition has it, the Flett family lived with Michael 

Cardinal and h i s  three wives, young George would have 

learned to speak Saulteaux from Michael, French from one of 

his wives, Cree from his own mother and grandmother, and 

English from his Orkney father." Very likely, the Flett 

family lived in proximity to the Cardinal family at Moose 

Lake. 

When Henry Budd went to baptize the children at Moose 

Lake in 1870, he was struck by the contrast between the Cree 

there and his own parishioners at neighboring Devon, one and 

one-half daysr t r ave l  east of Cumberland House. A t  Moose 

Lake there was '%owling and yelling," while at Devon, which 

had been Christianized, there was "peace and quietness, 

prayer and prai~e.~~' I f  i n  1870, Moose Lake was considered 

a "heathenW place, it certainly was not a Christian place 

when the Fletts lived there from 1810 to 1822, as we have 

s e e n  from the George Nelson journal. 

"If we give credence to oral tradition, the conclusion 
must lead us to believe that Flett was related to the chiefs 
in the Riding Mountain area. Michel Cardinal's children 
were, in the 1870s, chiefs at Okanase Indian Reserve at 
Riding Mountain ( l a t e r  called Keeseekoowenin or No. 61), and 
other reserves in the area where Flett worked. Flettfs 
k i n s h i p  with them must have made his e n t r y  as a missionary 
much less difficult. He was, to some extent, indiqenous 
rather than foreign since he was likely considered a cousin 
to the chiefs fathered by Michel Cardinal. 

'' Diarv of Henrv Budd, 16-17. 



Although the environment at Moose Lake was definitely 

not religious, when in late 1823 the Fletts maved ta the Red 

River settlement, George Flett Senior and Margaret (Peggy) 

Whitford were, like many similar families, officially 

married by the Church of Enqland minister, David Jones. On 

the same day Jones baptized their five sons, George Junior 

(aged six) being the third oldest." Although George Senior 

was called "old Flettfn he was only forty-eiqht years old 

when he retired from the HBC. Originating in Firth, Orkney 

(Presbyterian country), he would no doubt have chosen to 

join the Presbyterian Church, had there been one in Red 

River. Until the coming of the Reverend John Black i n  1851, 

however, Presbyterians wcrshipped at St John's Church. 

Presbyterian roots must have been deeply embedded within the 

Flett household since they were not eradicated during two 

decades at a trading outpost, nor during another thirty 

years of worship in the Church of England. 

The Flett family acquired thirty-four acres of riverlot 

land by squatter's rights in the Point Douglas area." 

George Junior was VrainedW at the parish school durinq the 

early years of the Red River Indian Mission School which 

Iiopened its doors to the children of settlers, Company, and 

"~ich, Appendix A, 213. 

24~rits Pannekoek, A Snua Little Flock: The Social 
Oriains of the Riel Resistance of 1869-70 (Winnipeg: Watson 
& Dwyer, 1991), 20. See also William Coldwell, "Fifty-One 
Years Ago," Free Press 12 March 1887, 



Indians alike.ll Flett must have attended school with Henry 

Budd and John Westfs and David Jones's other "little 

chargestm who were at the Mission School between 1820 and 

1828. He and his classmates learned about ~hristianity and 

civilization--the way of life superior, in the minds of 

missionarieç, to what he had observed from his playmates at 

Moose Lake and his materna1 ancestors. The school provided 

education in reading and writing in the English Language, 

arithmetic, and religion. As Katherine Pettipas stated, 

Practical skills associated with farming and 'other 
usefu l  arts of civilized lifef were also learned, for 
the CMS firmly believed that Chriçtianity and 
'civilizationf went hand in hand. The hunting and 
gathering way of life was perceived to be one of 
'laziness and indolencef: this lifestyle would only 
disappear if Natives could be persuaded to learn t h e  
real worth of a good dayfs work throuqh a commitment to 
a settled lifestyle based on agricult~re.~~ 

West gave each child a garden plot so t h a t  t h e y  could be 

%ducated, and trained in industry upon the soil, in the 

hope that t h e y  [would] be recovered from their savage habits 

and cu~torns.~" They also learned practical skills such as 

fishing, hunting, and fixing a gun." 

"~atherine Pettipas, " 'The  Praying Chieff: Reverend 
Henry Buddtn Journal of the Canadian Church Historical 
Societv 33 (1991): 43-44. 

''John West quoted in Pettipas, introduction to Diarv of 
Henrv Budd, xvi . 

27~ndrew Browning Baird, The Indians of Western Canada 
(Toronto: Press of the Canada Presbyterians, 1895), 17. 
See also Winona Stevenson, "The Red River Indian Mission 
School and John West's 'Little Charges,' 1820-1833,' Native 
Studies Review 4.1 (1988): 129, 147. 



Flettfs teacher may have been William Garrioch, an 

Orkneyman elnployed by the Hudson's B a y  Company, who was 

married to Nancy Cook, daughter of William Hemmings Cook and 

a Cree mother . Garrioch had knowledge of Indians, 

doubtless through his wife, and a simple faith. But he was 

under the s u p e r v i s i o n  and watchful eyes of the Church 

Missionary Society. 

Since George Junior lived in Red River, he w e n t  home 

a f t e r  school. In 1832 and 1833, there were three females in 

the Flett household other t h a n  his rnother and sister. One 

of these women could have been Sarah, the Cree widow of 

James P e t e r  Whitford who was George's materna1 grandrn~ther.'~ 

Whitford had died in 1818, and Sarah died in 1845 at the age 

of 70 and was buried at Upper Church." She may have lived 

with the Flett family from 1818 until her death .  Whoever 

the women were who lived with the Fletts, they were 

influential in George Juniorrs formative years. He 

certainly did not forget the native languages he had fearned 

at Moose L a k e .  Since he was o n l y  seven years old when he 

"~prague and Frye, Table 1. Or the teacher may have 
been William Garrioch, age 22, son of William Garrioch who 
retired to Red River in 1 8 2 5 .  

2gAccording to the 1832 and 1833 census returns ,  there 
were three unmarried women living in the Flett household. 
See District o f  Assiniboia Census Returns, MG2 B3 1832-1849 
at PAM. 

"HBCA Biographies Binder, W to Z . Whitford, Peter 
James. 



came to Red River, we can presume that Cree, Saulteaux and 

French were still spoken in the Flett home in Red River or 

in the neighborhood. 

A picture of George Flett ernerges, a child taught by a 

teacher who himself was bicultural but under the supervision 

of a Church of England missionary who was intent upon 

Christianization and civilization. A father who was rooted 

in the Presbyterian faith, at least after he came to Red 

River and perhaps in Firth before he came to Rupert's Land, 

was part of the picture. But the four women in the childts 

life, mother, grandmother and others, strenqthened Georqefs 

native cultural orientation. As well, other children he 

associated with in school and in the neighborhood had at 

least partially native backgrounds. It is not surpriçing 

that George Flett Junior exhibited both native and European 

traits of character and outlook along with seeming 

inconsistencies in h i s  life as he moved between European and 

native wor l d s  . 



Chapter II 

A t  S a u l t  Ste. Marie, 1835-1836, and Red River, 1836-1861 

George Flett's sense of connection with his native 

identity, already s h a p e d  by his playmates in Moose Lake and 

Red River and by the materna1 side of his family, was 

further reinforced in his teen-age years. The encounters he 

had with native peoples during an extended family trip when 

he was eighteen years old influenced him profoundly. He 

referred back to these events later in life because they 

provided important insights about relating to native peoples 

and about their responses to Christianity. 

In 1887, George's brother-in-law, William Coldwell, who 

was a Winnipeg Free Press reporter, interviewed George about 

a unique family journey that had occurred in 1835 and 1836.' 

George's father had become restless at Red River because he 

thought his familyfs econcmic and intellectual future might 

be more secure elsewhere. After the Flett Eamily settled 

d o m  at Point Douglas, they experienced the 1826 Red River 

flood, so it w a s  1828  before they got ahead with farming. 

They prospered, but George Flett Senior thought, 

there m u s t  be some place within reach, where the 
prospects were brighter and more certain for  his 
farnily; where dangers from grasshoppers and floods were 
not tu be reckoned with; where the market for  farm 
produce w a s  larger and more lucrative; where more of 

'The following information and quotations are taken 
from William Coldwell, "Fifty-one Years Ago, l1 Free Press, 12 
March 1887 unless otherwise footnoted. 



the benefits of civilization might be had, and with 
greater ease and certainty. 

Flett Senior took his wife, six sons, and one daughter with 

him in his search for  utopia. 

One of Flett Seniorrs concerns was likely that there 

was a poor market for grain at Red River. In 1827, he 

milled 112 pounds of flour with a relatively low bran 

content of 12 pounds.' By 1833, he had forty-six acres of 

land under cultivation, more than most other Red River 

settlers.' But apparently the only market for Red River 

wheat was what the Hudsonfs Bay Company could use for its 

posts.' To compcund Flett's p r b l e m  of providing f û r  his 

large family, agriculture was a risky occupation. Frosts, 

floods, birds, mice, and grasshoppers often destroyed a 

large portion of crops. Technology was undeveloped: wooden 

plouqhs, sickles, scythes, and flails were still in use. 

The varieties of wheat that Red River farmers sowed were not 

suited to the climate and produced a poor quality of flour.' 

Further, river frontage farming strips were becoming scarce. 

'~lexander Ross, The Red River Settlement: Its Rise. 
Proaress and Present State (Edmonton: Hurtig, 1972), 121. 

' PM,  MG2 B3, District of Assiniboia Census Returns, 
1833. 

'The Hudsonrs Bay Company was still the only market for 
Red River farmers in 1870. See Memoirs of Walter Traill, 
42. 

%. Herman Sprenger, tlAn Analysis of Selective Aspects 
of Metis Society, 1810-1870" (M.A. thesis, University of 
Manitoba, 1972), 61-64. 



Flett Senior's farm would have to be subdivided in order to 

keep his growing sons on the land2 

So the Flett family set out for an undetermined 

destination in the spring of 1835. They did not travel 

alone, According to Coldwellrs newspaper report, at least 

five other families went--the Kathesons, the McLeans, the 

Roses, the Livingstones, and a French family. A "Sioux 

halfbreed, Larocque of Fort pepinN accompanied the group  as 

their guide. The Flett family transported a I1years stock of 

 provision^^^ in ten Red River carts. They had also Vifteen 

or twenty head of cattle, and horses for use and sale."' 

The group's route took it south to Pembina, across the 

bcrder, and through Sioux territory.' One night while the 

çroup camped near an "Indian villagen at the junction of the 

St. Peters and Mississippi Rivers (Fort Snelling), t w o  Sioux 

'In fact, five years after the Flett family returned to 
Red River four sons left to begin farming elsewhere. John, 
William, James and David Flett joined the 1841 expedition to 
the Columbia District sponsored by the Hudsonfs Bay Company 
and led by James Sinclair. See William J. Betts, ItFrom Red 
River to the Columbia," The Beaver (Spring 1971): 5 0 .  

'According to the 1833 census,  the Fletts owned four 
horses, five mares, twenty-three oxen, sixteen cows, eight 
calves as well as other livestock. The Flett family was not 
without financial resources, 

'The term ltSiouxlt should be replaced by the term 
llDakotafi because tlSiouxlt means snakes or enemy and is 
sometimes understood to be racist and offensive, See Peter 
Douglas El ia s  in The Dakota of the Canadian Northwest: 
Lessons for Survival (The University of Manitoba Press, 
1988) , xiii. 1 will, however, use lrSiouxll in this setting 
because that is the term Flett used in his narrative. 



came to Laroque's tent but he did not invite them in. Next 

they went to the French familyfs tent where hospitality was 

denied them as well. Then they tried Flett Junior's tent 

and, according to his own report, he was "civil to them." 

They stayed for some time and left during the night. The 

next morning two oxen were missing--one belonging to 

Larocque and the other to the French family. Flett implied 

that by talking ta the Sioux into the night, and perhaps 

offering them food, he gained their good favour while the 

people who refused hospitality had to bear the consequences. 

Metis buffalo hunters knew the Sioux as cornpetitors and 

enemies, since it was Sioux territory that they invaded when 

they went on the hunt.' Flett had doubtless been in contact 

with Sioux previously, during his participation in the 

hunt . '" 
Taking time to talk with native people and to offer 

them food was a pattern evident in Flettrs later life. It 

is likely that he had learned customs of generosity and 

hospitality from his grandmother and his mother." The fact 

"~lett, in his narrative to Coldwell, says that he and 
his family wanted to go back to Red River because they 
strongly preferred the buffalo hunt to ice fishing. 

"Bruce M. White, in his article <'Give Us a Little 
Milk,' points out that gift giving was an integral component 
of trade, diplomacy, and family relationships between 
Indians and Europeans in the 18th and 19th century because 
an exchange of presents had social and cultural meanings for 
the Ojibwa and other native peoples. Gift giving 
established reciprocal confidence and binding relationshipç. 



that no oxen w e r e  missing from the Flett property after the 

familyfs civility to t h e  Sioux, probably helped to reinforce 

and ingrain habits of reciprocity and an unhurried approach 

in the young manfs mind. Much later, when he was a 

missionary, he found that this approach was the one that 

worked for him in relating constructively with his native 

parishioners. 

From Fort Snelling the FLetts and their qroup sailed 

down t h e  Mississippi, via dug-outs and boats, to Galena 

(Illinois) where the Fletts purchased horses, oxen, and 

wagons, and where other members in their party stayed to 

look for land. The Flett family travelled on, 196 miles 

overland to Chicago. In Chicago, t h e y  sold their cattle and 

horses and sailed to Mackinac where they stayed for ten 

days. The season was late, as Mackinac residents were 

digginq up their potatoes. At this point, Flett Sr. knew 

that he would likely take his family back to Red River, as 

he had Pound nothing better. According to Coldwellrs 

account of Flett's recollections 

they became convinced that the little colony of 
~ssiniboia, under the rule of the Hudson's Bay Company, 
were better off than they imagined; and the general 

It was a  way of demonstrating tangibly the esteem which two 
cultural groups had for each other and denoted a kinship- 
like relationship in which one group pitied and cared fur  
t h e  other l i k e  a parent attendinq a child. European 
officials (or royalty) were supposed to be benevolent 
fathers (or mothers) to their children, t he  Indians. 
Minnesota Historv 48.2 (1982): 60-65. That is not to Say 
t h a t  Scottish people, on Flettts fatherrs side, were n o t  
hospitable as well. 



conviction deepened daily that there was no place like 
home! When they left Chicago M r  . Flett, sen . , made up 
his mind to go to Canada. But at Mackinac he was 
evidently weakening in this purpose, and said that they 
would winter at the Sault Ste. Marie, as it would be 
cheaper to live there than to push farther on. 

The Flett family arrived in Sault Ste. Marie in the late 

autumn of 1835. 

Sault Ste. Marie w a s  an important place in the history 

of the Saulteaux or Ojibwa people. Indeed, the French named 

the Indians at Sault Ste. Marie "Saulteauxff because t h e s e  

people were living at the falls where they founded the 

mission of  Ste. Marie." The site o f  S a u l t  Ste. Narie, or  

Bow-e-ting as the Ojibwa called it, was one of the places 

where, according to Ojibwa oral tradition, the great sea 

shell appeared. When it reflected the rays of tfie Sun, this 

sea shell was life-giving; when it disappeared, the peop l e  

were left "in darkness and misery." The shell remained at 

Bow-e-ting for many years and, as a result, many generations 

of Ojibwa people lived full and happy lives there." 

Because of its importance as a summer fishing and 

trading centre, Sault Ste. Marie was also a seasonal meetinq 

place for many native peoples. Spring gatherings at fishinq 

"William W. Warren, Historv of the Oiibwav Nation 
(Minneapolis: Ross & Haines. 1974), 123. See also Theresa 
Schenck, wWilliam W. Warren's Historv of the Oiibwav Peo~le: 
Tradition, History, and Context," in ~eadina Bevond Words: 
Contexts for Native Historv, eds.   en ni fer S.H. Brown & 
Elizabeth Vibert (Peterborough: ~roadview Press, 1996). 



spots became occasions for *interrnixinq and in temarr iagew 

as many different native bands carne together in one spot in 

their seasonal cycle." Issues of Ojibwa-outsider relations 

and of claims to land had a long history in this region. In 

t h e  sp r ing  of 1836,  when the Flett f ami ly  was in Sault S t e .  

Marie, the Ojibwa people i n  that area were disturbed about 

their delegate (obviously n o t  of their own choice] who had 

gone to Washington to discuss land deals. A council was 

called at the Sault, before the "Major-Agent," likely Henry 

Schoolcraft. A native orator asked: 

Father, why and for what purpose has the man Whaiskee 
gone to the home of our great father? Why dia he leave 
without notifying me, and the other men of InEluence of 
my tribe, of the nature of his mission? ... we ask of you 
ta teii why this strange man has sa stranqely gone to 

. - 
smoke with the great chief of the long knives.-' 

Henry Schoolcraft, the American agent at the S a u l t ,  whiie 

saying that the whole Sault community was troubled, called 

this an amusing story. But obviously, native peoples in the 

area were deeply concerned about their lands and their 

futures in the spring of 1836. 

1 4 ~ l i v e  Patricia Dickason, Canada's First Nations: A 
Historv of foundina Peo~les from Earliest Times (Toronto: 
McClelland & Stewart, 19921, 167. See also Laura Peers, The 
Oiibwa of Western Canada 1780-1870 (Winnipeg: The University 
of Manitoba Press, 1994), 22-24. 

'5Henry R. Schoolcraft, Persona1 Memoirs of a Residence 
of Thirtv Years with the Indian Tribes on the ~merican 
Frontiers (Philadelphia: Lippincott, G r a n b o  and Co., 1851), 
532-533. 



During Schoolcraftfs time as ~ndian agent at Sault Ste. 

Marie, the rivalry between different denominations was 

intense. The ~aptists had gained a strong foothold there, 

eçtablishing a mission school in 1829. Then, in 1831, the 

Methodists brought in the native evangelist John Sunday, "a 

Canadian Ojibway-chief-turned-Methodist-preacher." He 

toured the area %tirring up much religious excitement amonq 

the Indiansu and drawing the people away from the Baptists. 

The Methodists, aided by the Presbyterian Schoolcraft, had 

Indian chiefs sign a petition requesting a Methodist mission 

school in direct and purposeful conilict with Baptist 

interests. Then in early 1832, the Baptist called two 

chiefs into his office after a prayer meeting, and had then 

sign a statement that the former petition they had signed 

had been Schoolcraftfs idea, not theirs. Shortly after 

that, Schoolcraft had them sign yet another statement to 

counter the earlier report. At a hearing on January 14, it 

was made plain that the plan to get Sunday, the Methodist 

evangelist, to Sault Ste. Marie did not originate with the 

Indians (as had formerly been said) but with the white 

people. No wonder the native people were confused. The 

atmosphere around Sault Ste. Marie was indisputably full of 

jealousies and suspicions." 

16John Fierst, ttReturn to 'Civilization': John Tanner's 
Troubled Years at Sault Ste. Marie,' Minnesota Historv 
(Spring 1986): 31-33. 



In 1833, Peter Jones, the bicultural Methodist 

missionary to the Anishinaabeg on the north shore of Lake 

Ontario, visited the Sault. He noted the strong 

interdenominational rivalry there. Naturally, his 

sympathies were with the Methodists. But Roman Catholics, 

Baptists, the Church of England, and Methodists were causing 

such confusion among the Ojibwa that they no longer knelt 

for prayer or stood ta sing as Jones had taught his 

followers to do. Jones observed that they were confused by 

the different modes of worship of the various 

denominations . " 
In his 1887 reminiscences, Flett told Coldwell that 

before his family left the Sault in the sprinq of 1836, the 

Indians calied a great council to which aaptist, Methodist, 

Roman Catholic, and Episcopal missionaries were invited. 

very likely, the Fletts were on the American s ide  of the 

boundary, since they Vound that the little French Village 

on the Canadian s i d e  was decidedly inferior in life and 

bustle to the American side." Obviously, there was 

representation from Canadian and American native peop le s  and 

"srnith, 180-181. For more evidence of the religious 
tension in which Sault Ste. Marie was embroiled in 1829 to 
1830, see John Fierst "Return to 'Ci~ilization',~ 26-29. 
Schoolcraft, the presbyterian Indian agent, and-~ingham, the 
Baptist missionary, were quarreling about who should control 
the finances designated for the mission school and about 
Schoolcraft's former mixed-blood servant, ~ o p h i a  Cadotte, 
who benefited from the annuity. Bingham wrote that the 
Sophia affair %aused a division in Our little society." 
Quoted in Fierst, "Return  to 'CivilizationcfV 29. 



missionaries because the old chief who spoke made reference 

to the King of England and to the President of the United 

States. 

Doubtless the great council was about land issues and 

problems with the government as well as about religious 

matters. But what rernained in Flett's memory was the 

cornpetition among the missionaries. He told Coldwell that 

at Sault Ste. Marie, lVeach of the reverend gentlemen 

push[ed] h i s  own peculiar tenets briskly ... and there was no 
slight difference of opinion among the teacher~.~~ The 

native peoples had listened carefully to the missionaries of 

the four denominations, but they were perplexed because the 

messages were contradictory. What one missionary called 

light, another called darkness, so whom were they to believe 

and what were they to do? Accordinq to Flettrs 

recollections, one old chief told the missionaries: 

It is the wish of this council. ..that you ministers go 
back to where you got those religions from,--that the 
Englishman go to our Great Father (William IV)--and 
that those who are Americans go and see our great 
grandfather, the President (Andrew Jackson)--and that 
you al1 confer with them and settle with them and among 
yourselves, which is the true religion. When you have 
done that, corne back here and wilL we listen to you. 
There is no use listening to you now, for you al1 
disagree as to your religion, while we are all agreed 
as to ours! 

After the ccnference was over and the ice had melted, 

the Flett family travelled back to Red River via the  

Canadian water route. Their journey,  both to Sault Ste. 

Marie and back, is documented in the 1887 Winnipeg Free 



Press as well as in the Hargrave Correspondence. On 9 

December 1835, Thomas Simpson wrote to James Hargrave: 

Peter Headen reached here yesterday from St. Louis; he 
brings accounts of the party which s t a r t e d  under the 
conduct of old Flett l a s t  June. The emigrants arrived 
in safety at St. Peters [Minnesota], where they sold 
their stock to advantage, and received passports from 
the Indian Agent. They then hired a Steamboat, and 
proceeded down the Mississippi, on which the Scotch 
located themselves, alongside some of their countrymen 
(the fellows are everywhere), below Prairie du Chien 
[Wisconsin]. Old Flett settled farther down, but his 
boys getting into squabbles with neighbour Jonathan, he 
broke up camp again, and with a bag of 800 dollars on 
his back, set out in search of an "el doradof* beyond 
St. Louis. I shall Say nothing further, as my 
authority is extremely questionable, but if flatterino 
accounts are received fron that quarter during the 
winter, we shall probably have another emigration 
thither next  summer. la 

On 11 August 1336, Thomas Simpson wrote to James Hargrave 

that 

O l d  George Flett & family arrived from Sault Sts. Marys 
this day week .... George now intends planting his tent 
permanently on the upper p a r t  of our late Experimental 
f arrn . " 

So apparently upon their return, the Fletts did not go back 

to Point Douglas but took up r e s i d e n c e  on the ~ssiniboine 

River." During-the winter at Sault Ste. Marie, the Flett 

''Thornas Simpson to James Hargrave , 9 December 18 3 5, in 
the Harsrave Corres~ondence 1821-1843, ed. G.P. De T. 
Glazebrook (Toronto: Champlain Society, 1938): 207-208. 
ltJonathanll was a common term for American citizens. 

2uRoss, 133-135. Ross writes that in 1827, the 
experimental farm was on the Assiniboine River. It was 
badly run and in 1833 it closed down at a loss of 6,000 
pounds . 



fami ly  had spent their time ice-fishing but, related Flett, 

they discovered that they had a Wery decided hankering for 

a r e t u r n  to the delights of buffalo hunting." Flettfs 

reference to buffalo hunting demonstrates that the Fletts 

were engaged in a mixed economy, not only in agriculture. 

When crops failed, residents of Red River, and especially 

the Metis, provided sustenance through t h e  h u n t .  Accordinq 

to Sprenger, the Metis supplied the Hudson's Bay Company as 

well as the Red River population wi th  buffalo products, 

of ten  compensating for crop  failures." The Flettsr 

participation in the hunt also shows that, as descendents cf 

Orkney and Indian origin, they were not strictly separate  

from the Netis? Indeed, they seem to have rningled 

extensively with them. In 1837, John, the second Flett son, 

worked as a blacksmith in Rupert's Land but was also enqaged 

in hunting and trapping." 

When four of George's brothers, in 1841, left to find 

their f u t u r e  in farming i n  the Columbia District, George did 

not join them. Doubtless one reason was that he had 

domestic responsibilities in Red River as he had fathered a 

"Sprenger, 69-70, 73. 

"~lett's obvious connection with the Metis buffalo hunt 
reinforces the daim that he was related to Michael 
Cardinal, who had Metis associations. 



daughter named ~ e t i t i a ~ '  who was born on 4 August 1839. Her 

mother was Francise Cook who must have died in childbirth, 

as she was buried on 6 August 1839 at t h e  age of  se~enteen.'~ 

Another reason was t h a t  he had married Mary Ross on 26 

November 1840, and became quite enmeshed with the Ross 

family. Mary was the  daughter of the Red River sheriff, 

Alexander Ross, and Sally Timentwa, whose father was an 

Okanagan chiefrZ6 whom Ross had met when he worked for the 

North West Company on the Pacific Coast. When Ross set o u t  

f o r  Red River i n  1825, he left Sally to follow hirn with four 

children. She journeyed across t h e  mountains on horseback, 

one child in f r o n t  of her, one child behind her, and twc cn 

another horse, arriving at Red River in the summer of 1826." 

Mary Ross,  one of the  children w h o  came across the Rockies, 

received her education at the Red River Academy where s h e  

"Letitia is named in Flett's wi.11. PAM MG14 C73 
William Coldwell Papers, Box 7, F i l e :  Correspondence 1894- 
1898. 

" PAM, Anglican Parish Register Data. 

'"or Sally Timentwa's surname, 1 am grateful to John A. 
Coldwell of Prince Rupert BC who is a descendant of William 
Coldwell and has researched the  Coldwell family tree. 

"~aurenda Daniells, "Ross, SallyrW Dictionarv of 
Canadian Bioara~hv, Vol. XI (1881-1890), 775-776. See also 
notes in Coldwell Papers, Box 7, Correspondence File 1899- 
1900. 



learned to read, write, and sing, and acquired "the proper 

deportment for young ladies. tT'B 

F l e t t  must have risen in status in Red River society 

when he married Alexander Ross's daughter, William Cockran 

solemnized George and Mary's marriage and witnesses were 

Cuthbert  Grant, Francis M. Dease, and John Dease, al1 of 

whom had old North West Company connections and would have 

known Alexander Ross for a long tirne." Cuthbert Grant was 

the leader of approxinately eighty to one hundred Metis 

families, former voyageurs and hunters, who settled on a 

land allowance at the  White Horse P l a i n s  given to them by 

George Simpson. They were to try their hand at agriculture 

there, but the buffalo hunt was also an important occupation 

for White Horse Plains residents. Grant was apgointed as 

"~eter Lorenz Neufeld, "George and Mary Flett: Forming 
the Faith on the Frontierrt* The Presbvterian Record (January 
1979), 15. 

2 9 P ~ M ,  M30 St. John's Baptisms and Marriages, 1351. For 
information about John and Francis Dease, see Heather 
Devine, IrRoots in the Mohawk Valley: Sir William Johnson's 
Legacy in the North West Company,' in The Fur Trade 
Revisited eds. Jennifer S . H .  Brown, W.J. Eccles, and Donald 
P. Heldman (Michigan State University Press, 1994), 239n.46. 
The Dease brothers grew up and received their education in 
Montreal and worked for  the North-West Company before the 
merger . 



Warden of the Plains in 1828." It is interesting to note 

that al1 of Flett's witnesses were old NorrWesters or at 

least descendants. Of interest also is that Grant, the 

leader of the Metis, was, like F l e t t ,  a Presbyterian of 

Scottish/Indian o r i g i n .  Obviously the lines drawn between 

the Metis and people of Çcottish/Indian origin were not very 

rigid. 

George and Mary, both of ~cottish/Indian oriqin, felt 

cornfortable at the White Horse Plains where they settled 

d o m  on a farm sometime after their rnarriaqe." That the 

council of Indians and rnissionaries at Sault Ste. Narie had 

left an indelible mark on young George is demonstrated by a 

letter that Flett wrote in 1854 to James Ross, his brother- 

in-law, who was attending the University of Toronto. In 

this letter, Flett described a journey he made in December 

1853, from Red River to St. Joseph near Pembina Mountain, 

located approximately thirty miles up the Pembina River from 

Pembina. Flett wrote that he was there "geatheren up some 

debts [he] had given out in year 1850." When Flett arrived 

at St. Joseph, he first went V o  pay [his] respectn to Mr. 

"~rant MacEwan, Metis Makers of Historv (Saskatoon: 
Western Producer Prairie Books, 1981), 23. MacEwan uses the 
word l t M e t i s V  for  people of  French and Indian descent as well 
as people of English and Indian descent. See also Margaret 
MacLeod and W.L. Morton in Cuthbert Grant of Grantown: 
Warden of the plains of R e d  R i v e r  (Toronto: McClelland and 
Stewart, 1974), 9 4 .  

"PAM, Ross Family Collection, Letter No. 100, Alexander 
Ross to James ROSS, 25 Auqust 1854. 



Belcourt (the Roman Catholic missionary) who "was very kind 

to [hiru]." Next he visited the schoolmaster, M r .  Barnard, 

whom Norman Kittson had brought in from Red Lake. Flett 

casually mentioned Kittson's name, as though everyone knew 

who he was. Norman Kittson ran a free trade depot, first at 

Pembina, and after the 1852 flood, at St. Joseph when both 

he and Father Belcourt moved to higher ground." Flettfs 

purpose for corning to St. Joseph, and his acquaintance with 

Kittson, may mean that he, like his father-in-law Alexander 

ROSS, was connected to, or at least sympathetic with, Red 

River free traders . '' 
Flett seems to have stayed at missionary Barnard's home 

while he remained at St. Joseph. Barnard had recently been 

at Red River (Flett states Barnard's w i f e  had died there), 

so they were acquainted. Other people staying at Barnard's 

were M r .  and Mrs. Spence and a teacher named Smith, al1 

Presbyterians. When Smith realized that Flett spoke 

English, French, Cree, and Ojibwa, he tried to persuade 

Flett to join their missionary cause. Flett knew that there 

was already a Cathalic mission headed by Father Belcourt at 

''Rhoda R. Gilman, Carolyn Gilman, and Deborah M. 
Stultz, The Red River Trails: Oxcart Routes Between St. 
Paul and the Selkirk Settlement 1820-1870 (St. Paul: 
Minnesota Historical Society, 1979), 35-36. 

' 3 e e  Pannekoek, lrRoss, Alexander, tt Dictionarv of 
Canadian Biocrra~hv Vol. VIII, 766-67. Alexander Ross had 
been engaged in free trade in the late 1820s and James 
Green, who married Isabella Ross, was an American free 
trader in the 1840s. 



Pembina. There was also a Baptist mission, and James Tanner 

(doubtless the half-ûjibwa Baptist son of former Indian 

captive John Tanner) was preaching to the Indians in the 

Chippewa language, using a Chippewa testament and hymn book 

translated by his father, whom FLett may have met in 1836 at 

Sault Ste. Marie." Flett replied to Smithrs plea with 

various excuses. First he said that he was not a good 

scholar but Smith countered, "Gcod a nough for indiens." 

Then Flett told Smith that his talking was better than his 

reading and writing, but Smith saw through al1 theçe 

excuses. In Flettrs words, Smith said: "1 know you are 

able for the work the field is large go f o r t h . "  Flett 

replied that he would be an unprofitable missionary because 

he had "seen too much of the kind before." 

Flettys final answer to the Presbyterians referred 

directly to his Sault Ste. Marie experiences almost twenty 

years eârlier. He said that when he was at the Sault in 

1835, Catholics, Baptists, "protastaintt [Protestants or 

Presbyterians?], and Methodists were there and l8one spoke as 

bad as he could of the other." He continued: 

Now you are here. ..3 diferent denominitions for a few 
half breeds what will Mr. Belcurt Say of you he will 
Say that you are intoders and you will Say no. tanner 
will Say that there is none like him ... now the poar 

"Peter Lorenz Neuf eld, "John ' Black Falconr Tanner, <' 
Brandon Sun 8 Septeniber 1972. In 1837, John Tanner wrote 
that he had been employed as a Baptist interpreter at Sault 
Ste Marie. See h i s  letter to Van Buren, President of the 
United States, 10 November 1837 in John Fierst, I1Return to 
'Ci~ilization',~ 25. 



indin and half Breed will Say how is it that this 
ministers differ so much, is etch one got a God for 
himself and if not whom shall we believe. 1 tould him 
what 1 hard the indians and Half Breds said to me that 
al1 of the ministers of the Gospel ought to gather and 
find out which is the true Reliqon and then corn and tel 
us. then would w e  be w i l l i n g  to  be Christians but the 
way that this ministers tel u s  we do not know whom to 
belive one tel us our religon is the true one and on 
others will Corne and take us what the man said is not 
true and a 3 and 4th will corne and tel us so we do not 
know the truth as yeat. so we will keep O u r  own 
religon w e  indians do not differ we all hold to the 
same Great Spirit? 

This quotation front Flettrs letter sounds as thouqh Flett 

(at l e a s t  in retrospect) felt like an insider at the Great 

Council, n o t  an outsider in the audience. He heard what the 

''indians and Half Breds said to me.' He perceived the 

message as personally addressed to him. 

Flett then summarized for Ross his answer to the 

Presbyterians at St. Joseph. He told the rnissionaries that 

when the differing denominations could aqree upon one God, 

then he would be a missionary. H i s  final comment was: 

llFriend 1 can not join you to do good is not to speak evel 

o f  one another and the indians wonPt believe y o ~ . ~ ~ '  In his 

opinion, there should not be competing rnissionaries or 

churches, and Christians should not be attacking one 

another. He also seerned to identify more with the Indians 

'%oss Family Collection, Letter No. 68, George Flett t o  
James Ross, 26 January 1854. 

''Ross Family Collection, Letter No. 68, George FLett to 
James Ross, 26 January 1854. 



and the half breeds than with the missionaries, although he 

was staying in a missionary home and he commented that they 

were very kind to him. Certainly, he was not ready to 

become a missionary until people of different denominations 

could treat each other with respect. 

After Flett had given his final answer to the 

misçionaries, he gave small presents to his hosts and the 

others staying in their home. Then he got on his "good old 

whit mearw and took to very bad road or rather no road at 

alLVV It being the end of December, the weather was not too 

favourable. When he arrived at scratchhg River he s p e n t  

what he called a Irvery cornfortable night." The room in 

which he slept was fifteen by twelve feet  and there were 

fifteen "soulsn and nine dogs in that room but "no bed steds 

women children men and dogs al1 alike on the same floor t h a t  

nature give it." The dogs were calling al1 night, there was 

no door to keep them out of the room, and it was too stormy 

to put them outside. A certain Mr. Lockard, one of the 

fifteen llsouls,w was not used to such acconimodations. He 

was sure the "house was full of Evel Spiritsn and yet he was 

afraid to move lest someone would think he was one of the 

dogs and would knock him down." 

From this letter, it seems t h a t  Flet t  was at home in 

the white "civili~ed~~ Presbyterian home in St. Joseph as 

"Ross Family Collection, Letter No. 68, George Flett to 
James Ross, 26 January 1854. 
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well as in the homely place in which he spent the night at 

Scratching River. There was nothing civilized about that 

accommodation, but Flett was able to laugh it off in a good 

humoured way. Such a night was not as unusual for him as it 

w a s  for Mr. Lockard. A s  for the Presbyterian missionary 

connection, that was to become the centre of his life a 

decade later to an extent he could not have imagined in 

1854. 

Sometime after their marriage, George and Mary had a 

child of their own. On 8 March 1857, Alexander W. Ross 

wrote to James Ross : "George ' s youngest chi ld di ed . W~ 

There is little indication in the records that George and 

Mary brought up Letitia, daughter to George Flett and 

Francise Cook, althcugh this waç very likely the casa since 

Letitiafs biological mother died in childbirth. Alexander's 

r e f e r e n c e  to a wyoungest childn sounds as though, besides 

the youngster who died, there was an older child in the 

Flett home, likely Letitia. 

On 23 November 1861, a daughter Annie was born,  out of 

wedlock, to Alexander W. Ross (Sandy, younger brother to 

Mary) and Ann Sutherland." George and Mary adopted Annie 

"PAM, Ross Family Collection, Letter No. 204, Alexander 
W. Ross to James Ross, 8 March 1857. 

39PAM, Scrip records, Reel T-4687. 
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while she was quite young." Both Letitia and Annie were 

illegitimate children. Bringing up non-biological children 

as their own was in keeping with ~jibwa-Cree traits." It 

could be called flexible adopting, to satisfy a desire for 

children, whether one's own or anotherrs. 

After adopting Annie, the Fletts soon left Red River, 

thus sparing the Ross family the embarrassnent of keeping an 

illegitimate child within Red River society. With Letitia, 

however, the case was different. She must have been in the 

Flett home between 1840 and 1861, while they lived on the 

White Horse Plains. Significantly, Letitia is never 

mentioned in the Ross Family collection of letters or in 

their family tree. If she had not been included in George 

F l e t Y s  will, it would have been impossible to trace the 

connection. 

%isbet mentions a niece who is with the Fletts at 
Prince Albert. Çee VUA, fonds ll6/2/2, Nisbet to Reid, 23 
August 1867. Since the Fletts moved directly from Victoria 
to Prince Albert, they must have adopted Annie before they 
moved to Victoria in 1864. Since  Letitia married in 1861, 
the year Annie was born, Letitia and Annie did not live in 
the Flett home together. 

"see the story of John Tanner's adoption by an Ojibwa 
woman in place of her dead son in The Falcon (Toronto: 
Penguin Books ~td., 1994)~ 9-10. 



Chapter III 

G e o r g e  Flett a t  Victoria, 1864-1866 

In 1 8 6 4 ,  G e o r g e  Flett w a s  appointed to open a new 

Hudson's Bay Company trading outpost at Victoria, in the 

Edmonton District. 1 have found no evidence in the records 

of the Hudson's Bay Company that Flett had worked for them 

before. He may have been a free trader, as h i s  gathering of 

debts and his acquaintance with Kittson çeems to imp ly .  

Kittson was a free trader for many y e a r s  and then later 

became a Hudson's Bay Company agent.' Perhaps Flett 

followed the same ernployment pattern as d i d  Kittson. Tt was 

not unusual for the Hudson's Bay Company to hire people such 

as Flett to take charge of its outposts. Accsrding to 

Walter Traill, half-breeds often acted for the Company at 

its smaller trading centres.' 

Victoria was in the heart of Plains Cree country.' The 

Plains Cree to the south were often engaged in war w i t h  the 

Blackfoot. Since they were first to get guns from the 

Hudson's Bay Company, they were able to push the Blackfoot 

back from prime buffalo country. Now a state  of ceaseless 

'Mernoirs of Walter Traill, 1 8 .  

'Mernoirs of Walter Traill, 100. 

' L e s l i e  J. Hurt, The Victoria Settlement 1862-1922 
(Alberta Culture Historical Resources ~ivision, 1979). 7. 



warfare existed between Cree and Blackfoot during the summer 

and autumn." 

Most post journals of the Victoria area have not 

survived. Leslie J. Hurt writes that the Company wanted to 

open a post at Victoria ta prevent the successful operation 

of free-traders. victoria was a propitious site because 

several hundred Cree congregated near the site of the 

Methodist mission, which was on the Saskatchewan River, 

making for easy transportation. There was a cart trail 

between Fort Edmonton and Fort Victoria, providinq 

alternative transit.' 

Apparently the Victoria outpost was establiçhed by N . 2 .  

Christie, the C h i e f  Factor at Fort Edmonton, vho chose the 

lccation for the buildings in September, 1864. At first, 

Christie wanted John McDougall, son of the missionary George 

McDougall, to take charge of Victoria but his father would 

not allow him to engage in this occupation. Subsequently 

George Flett was asked to construct the buildings and begin 

trading with the surrounding Cree population.' 

Two years before Flett arrived in Victoria, George 

McDougall began a Methodist mission there. He had been 

preceded by Robert Terrill Rundle, who worked among the 



natives along the upper Saskatchewan for eight years, and 

then by Benjamin Sinclair, a Swampy Cree half-breed. In 

1855, Thomas Woolsey, an Englishman from Canada, and Henry 

Bird Steinhauer, a Methodist Ojibwa evangelist, came to 

assist Sinclair. McDougall was not really the pioneer 

missionary there, since others of his persuasion had worked 

among the Cree at Victoria. 

The goals of Methodist missionaries were to win the 

llheathenn over to Christianity, to actively pronote 

civilization in the West, and to lure the Cree and Blackfoot 

away from Roman Catholicism. The McDougalls and other 

largely ontario-based Methodists were profoundly 

nationalistic: therefore Y o  convert t3e native population 

of western Canada to the word of God, was both the ~hristian 

and the patriotic thinq to do."' Roman Catholicism, 

identified with the French, was not compatible with their 

pro-British sentiments. 

McDougall described his feelings at Victoria in a 

letter written in 1862 to his superior, Enoch Wood: 

We are now in the country of the dreaded Blackfeet, and 
in the centre of a great prairie. All around us is 
strange. One seems to be carried back to some remote, 
long past age. Never before have 1 felt so forcibly a 
consciousness of my own 
expecting an attack from 
providence of Heaven, ou 
only refuge God--blessed 

insignif icance . Hourly 
a war-party, living upon 

r covering the vaulted sky 
be His holy name, we are 

the 
', Our 



witness of His watchful providence over the wants of 
helpless man. 

In the Victoria area, war was not fought only between 

the Cree and Blackfoot. There was also a combat for souls 

between Methodists and Roman Catholics. Father Albert 

Lacombe was there, establishing his Roman Catholic missions. 

Many times, the Cree (and even sometimes the Blackfoot), 

called upon Father Lacombe to stand between them in times of 

war. The Cree in the Victoria area were receptive and 

polite to both McDougall and Lacombe. Sometimes they took 

advantage of denominationai rivalry by p lay inq  one 

missionary off against the other. Zohn McDouqall, i n  

describing h i s  father's work among the Cree, noted thac they 

were always courteous. But often their politeness merely 

reflected what they thought the Methodists would like them 

to Say and not what they really thought.' 

George McDougall said of ~atholicism that it was "oniy 

less pestif orous and Godless than Paganism itself . w3 

Lacombe s a i d  of the Methodist mission that the W e s l e y a n s  

fanaticism had made very great expenditures to make their 

establishment important and were by means of presents and 

'John McDougall, George Millword McDoucrall, The 
Pioneer. Patriot and Missionarv (Toronto: William Brigqs, 
i9O2), 92. 

'Cited in James G. MacGregor, Father Lacombe (Edmonton: 
Hurtig Publishers, 1975), 148. 



promises. . . seeking to subvert the Indians, Caught in this 

battle for sou l s  between Lacombe and McDougall were the Cree 

and Blackfoot themselves. 

In 1864, George Flett entered this scene as t h e  

Victoria Hudson's Bay Company postmaster. He worked out a 

way to act in cooperation with both Methodists and 

Catholics. John McDougall described Flett and his 

relationship with the Methodist Mission t h u s :  

Mr. Flett was a native of Red River settlement, and 
thoroughly understood t he  Indians and their language, 
H e  was a warm friend of our mission, l a t e r  on himself 
became an honored missionary of the Presbyterian Church 
to the Indians in another part of the country." 

During his stay at the Victoria post, Flett also made 

friends with Father Lacombe, whose longterm guide on the 

Plains was Alexis Cardinal, likely Flett's materna1 

relative. Peter Neufeld thinks that Alexis may have been 

Michael Cardinal's brother, a thecry which agrees w i t h  

' '~ohn  McDougall, Saddle, Sled. and Snowshoe: Pioneerinq 
on the Saskatchewan in the Sixties (Toronto: William Briggs, 
1896), 217. 



Rarihokwatsr research." Although there was tension between 

the Methodist and Roman Catholic missionaries at Victoria," 

Flett apparently maintained a friendship with both parties, 

possibly helped by h i s  Cardinal connection. The Victoria 

post, then and later, came to be known as "an excellent 

example" of cooperation between the Company and the 

missionaries. An i n t e r e s t  in the welfare of native 

societies and half-breeds also characterized both traders 

and missionaries at the Victoria settlement." 

Victoria was approximately a fifteen-week journey  from 

Red River, for travellers moving a  household and s u p p l i e s . L 6  

Opening the Hudsonfs Bay Company post meant putting up 

buildings a n d  beginninq trade with the I n d i a n s  in t h e  

surrounding areas. When George and Mary got to Victoria, no 

permanent HBC buildings had been erected. Manpower and 

supplies were hard to get, so wpresumably, Flett operated 

"Rarihokwats, Ottawa, to Alvina  Block, Winnipeg, 11 May 
1997. See Peter Neufeld, "Forming the Faith on the 
Frontier," 15. According to the St. Boniface Historical 
Society database, Alexisr parents were Rose and Jacques 
Cardinal. Donaghy wrote that Michael Cardinal came from Bow 
River. There were many Cardinals in Alberta; Isaac Cardinal 
and Charles Cardinal were among the chiefs and head men who 
signed Treaty Six at Fort Pitt in 1876. See Alexander 
Morris, The ~reaties of Canada With the I n d i a n s  of Manitoba 
and the North-West Territories (Toronto: Belfords, Clarke & 
Co., 1880), 359. 

"Hurt, 24. See aïs0 MacGregor, 134 . 



under tent and canvas until the necessary men were found? 

It was October 1865, before there was a house for the Fletts 

to live in." Shortage of provisions for everyday life was a 

perpetual problem at victoria. Flour, sugar, gunpowder, and 

men were often lacking." According to Peter Erasmus, 

formerly guide and interpreter for t h e  Palliser expedition 

and then interpreter and general assistant for the 

McDougalls, there were only three "white f amiliesr< at 

Victoria in 1864, the McDougalls, the Connors (school- 

teacher), and the Fletts.lg Later that year, however, 

twenty-five to thirty English speakinq half-breed families 

moved in from Red River including Samuel Whitford, Joseph 

Turner, and Adam House." Whitford could have been an uncle 

to Flett, and brother to Margaret, Flettrs mother." George 

and Mary were able to feel at home at Victoria. "We had a 

letter from Mary,lv wrote Kenrietta Ross Black (sister to 

Mary) to James Ross on 24 December 1864. "She is very 

"~lenbow Archi 
.le No. 176, 780. 
.muel Whitf ord amo 

ves, Charles Denney 
Francis Whitford fi 
ng James Peter Whitf 

Col1 
le. 
'ord 

ection, M7 144, 
Denney lists a 
s children. 



conifortable i n  the Companyfs Fort: Jordy [the Ross nickname 

for George] has engaged to the Company for the winter."" 

At victoria, on the S a s k a t c h e w a n  River, the forests 

were to the north and the plains to the south. The Woods 

Cree brought in furs from the forests t o  trade f o r  

provisions. Flett began his work in September and,  although 

the 1864 season was a short one, he "furnished the  Edmonton 

depot with a steady supply of furs, usually of high 

quality." By November, Flett had acquired thirty-nine 

choice beaver pelts from the Woods Cree. The Plains Cree 

brought in b u f f a l o  robes ,  buffalo tongues, and dried meat. 

Flett and his two assistants were kept busy orqanizinq horse 

and dog trains t o  bring these goods to Fort Edmonton." By 

the tirne Flett was at Victoria, t r a f f i c  in liquor by the 

Hudson's Bay Company had become illegal.'"ree traders, 

however, were likely still selling alcohol  to the Cree and 

t h u s  forming a viable cornpetition. The Hudsonfs Bay Company 

was pleased w i t h  Flettrs w o r k .  When he resigned in the 

spring of 1866 after less than two years at Victoria, he 

received three carts, t w o  g a l l o n s  of gunpowder, a few pounds 

of shot and $100 on his a c c o ~ n t . ' ~  

22~oss F a m i l y  Collection, Letter N o .  273, Kenrietta 
Black to James Ross, 24 December 1864. 



A t  v i c t o r i a ,  Flett gained valuable experience in 

relating to the Cree in a work situation. He probably came 

into contact with the Blackfoot as well. Perhaps he had 

opportunities to exercise diplomacy when the Cree and 

Blackfoot came io Victoria to trade. Flett also saw how 

Methodist and Roman Catholic missionaries related to the 

Cree and Blackfoot. Obviously t hey ,  especially t h e  

McDougalls, made a strong impression upon him. They not 

only evangelized; they gave valuable medical and 

agricultural advice as well. In the spring of 1865, measles 

and scarlet fever threatened the Cree a r o u n d  the Victoria 

settlement. H u r t  writes: 

There is no record as to how many were decimated by the 
diçease in the Victoria area, aithough it can safeiy be 
assumed that the death rate was minimal. In September 
1864, well before the pestilence reached epidemic 
proportions, George McDouqall requested "vaccine 
matter" from F o r t  Edmonton." 

Flett must have admired the McDougallsf humanitarian 

approach to missions. 

Flett was forty-nine years old when he ended his work 

for the Hudsonfs Bay Company to become an interpreter on the 

Eirst Presbyterian missionary expedition to the North-West. 

At this age, it would seem that his lifefs patterns and 

values should have been fairly set. Yet he shifted 

directions at this point, leaving a secular way of l i f e  to 

become involved in a spiritual combat for souls. Now his 



relationship w i t h  native peoples was redefined. When he 

became their missionary, did he still relate to them as 

equals or did he assume a superior position? Did he try to 

change from an "old philosopherm to a "Revtd gentlemann? 

The gradua1 changes were somewhat imperceptible at first; 

they did not corne w i t h o u t  struggles. 



Chapter IV 

The Prince Albert Mission and a Return to Red River, 1866- 

In 1866, Flett left Victoria, to join James Nisbetfs 

Presbyterian mission expedition to the Cree in the Carlton 

House area. How and why he was persuaded to leave his 

lucrative job with the HBC and become an interpreter for a 

missionary is puzzling. In 1854, when he was asked ta join 

a mission, his answer had been clear. Missionaries would 

have to cease from competition for Indian souls before he 

would job. What had happened to change his mind? 

Certainly competition between missianaries was still 

actively continuing. The reason for Flettfs change of heart 

is not obvious, although he left a clue in a letter to 

Nisbet one year later. He wrote: 

1 found it a pleasure to help Mr. McDougald even when 1 
was a trader, 1 thought what would it be when 1 had no 
trading to do, but preaching and teaching.' 

Obviously Flett had great admiration for McDougallfs mission 

to the Cree at Victoria and he may have been won over to the 

idea of joining a mission expedition through McDougallfs 

example. 

In addition to his congenial relationship with 

McDougall, Flett was on good terms with the English-born 

Reverend John Black who was married to Henrietta Ross, 

'WA, Canada Presbyterian Church, North West 
Correspondence 116/2/2, Flett to Nisbet 22 July 1867. 



younger sister of his wife Mary.' Black began his work in 

September 1851 as the first Presbyterian minister in Red 

River. He f e l t  a great need to extend Christianity in the 

North-West. He began by increasing the number of 

Presbyterian meeting places around Red River. Soon after 

his arrival at Red River, services were conducted both at 

the new Presbyterian church at Froq Plain and around the 

settlement of Headingley, on the Assiniboine River. The 

services at Headingley alternated between the homes of two 

of Black8s future brothers-in-law, doubtless George Flett 

and James Cunningham who had married Sarah Ross and who, 

like Flett, lived and farmed at White Horse Plains.' When 

the Blacks went to Canada and New York State to visit famiiy 

and friends in 1859, some of the Ross family went with them. 

George and Mary Flett were included in that trip.' 

Black highly recommended Flett for the Nisbet 

expedition to Prince Albert in 1866. It was probably he who 

persuaded Flett  to join the cause of Presbyterian missions. 

James Marnoch, a Presbyterian historian, sugqests that the 

Christian witness of Mary Ross, the Ross family, John Black, 

'Black married Henrietta Ross in December 1853. His 
close connections with the Ross family began with h i s  
arrival at Red ~ i v e r  when he stayed in the Ross home. See 
Marnoch, 51. 

'Marnoch, 52. For the location of Flett and 
Cunningham, see P M ,  Ross Family Collection, Letter No. 113, 
Jemima Ross to James Ross, 14 November 1854. 

'Marnoch, 55, 61. 



James Nisbet, and the Presbyterian community convinced Flett 

to "believe them and to becorne himself a witness to the 

Christian Good News among his own Indian extended family."' 

James Nisbet came to Red River from eastern Canada in 

1862. He was sent by the FMC to help John Black with h i s  

e v e r  expanding field/ John Black and James Nisbet were 

good friends who had studied together at Knox College in 

Toronto. They also s h a r e d  a strong enthusiasm for 

evangelizinq the native peoples north and west of Red River. 

Bcth Black and Nisbet felt that the whole North West 

Territory was t h e i r  responsibility, as there was not another 

Presbyterian in those parts. When in 1 8 6 5  the FMC repcrted 

to the Synod of the Canada Presbyterian Church that they 

wanted to begin a mission work çomewhere in t h e  Saskatchewan 

valley, they recommended James Nisbet as the missionary.- 

Robert O. Dunning, writing in hindsight about 100 years of 

Presbyterianism in Saskatchewan, spoke with high admiration 

for Nisbet, reporting that Nisbet was so well-loved and 

popular at Red River that the people were sorry to see "so 

'~he Synod of the Canada Presbyterian Church officially 
made Red River a field for Foreign Missions in 1861, ten 
years after John Black began his work there. Dunning, 7. 

'APP, June  6-15, 1865. Appendix liii. 



great a mantv go: yet they felt strongly t h a t  they should 

give their best for the grea t  cause of  mission^.^ 

Nisbet may have influenced the Fletts between 1862 and 

1864 while they  were still i n  R e d  River. When t h e  Fletts 

left for victoria, Nisbet and his newly acquired bride took 

up residence in the Flett home at White Horse Plains.' They 

likely were good friends in order for Nisbet and his w i f e  t o  

live in their home. Nisbet may have convinced Flett, before 

he left f o r  Victoria, of t h e  significant r o l e  Flett coulà 

play in missions t o  t h e  Cree i n  the West. 

Before  Flett joined t h e  mission, Black and Nisbet were 

willinq to pay him what he got from the HBC if he was nct 

satisfied with regular wages paid t o  an  interpreter." 

They were greatly relieved when he agreed to leave Victûria 

to join the Prince Albert expedition. "George Flett finally 

agrees ta jo in  Mr. N[isbet] as interpreter, and an excellent 

one he is," wrote Black to his brother. He continued: 

M r .  N I  has  t h u s  secured four of the best t h a t  this 
c o u n t r y  offered: Geo. Flett, John Mackay, Alex Polson, 
and Wm. McBeath....All a r e  members of this congreqation 
and of respectable faxnilies. George Flett already at 
work, translating Psalms, etc. into the Cree tongue 

'ROSS Family Collection, Letter No. 273, Henrietta 
Black to James Ross, 24 December 1864. 

"WA,  116/2/2, James Nisbet (Red River) t o  R.F. Burns 
(St. Catharines), 5 December 1865. 



which is a beautiful language but encumbered with 
enormously long words." 

George and Mary, coming from Victoria, joined Nisbet's 

party about a dayrs d r i v e  by Red River cart from Carlton 

House." In fact, George left Mary at  their camping spot 

and, together with two of h i s  friends, came to meet the 

Nisbet expedition to help them transport their possessions 

across the South Saskatchewan River- The friends who 

accompanied FLett were farmers who had settled about fifty 

miles front where the Nisbet expedition was now located. 

Nisbet wrote that V h e y  [were] not pure Ind i ans ,  but [were] 

allied to the Indians." The crossing at the South 

Saskatchewan was particularly difficult, so Nisbet added, 

"When we saw these friends, and especially Mr. Flett, we 

thanked God, and took courage. Nisbet reported that Flett 

was "of great servicew to the mission expedition with 
. - 

gettinq carts, cattle, and horses across the river.-' 

Flett had already inspected the area and found the best 

possible locations for the mission. In fact, he had sent 

Nisbet a long letter, advising him on these points, via a 

"Black is quoted i n  James Marnoch, Western Witness: 
The Presbvterians in the Area of the Svnod of Manitoba 1700- 
1885 (Winnipeg: Watson & Dwyer, 1994), 61. 

"Robert D. Dunning, A C e n t u r v  of Presbvterianisrn i n  
Saskatchewan 1866-1966 (Prince Albert: St. Paul's 
Presbyterian Church, 1966), 11. 

"~askatchewan Archives Board (SAB), Nisbet letters S- 
A57, Nisbet to Burns, 20  June 1866. 



person who travelled that way. Nisbet had found this 

cornunication posted, Indian fashion, on a pole located a 

dayfs journey east of the South Branch. Flett wrote that he 

had already met with the Cree in the area. They were not 

enthusiastic about having a mission in their midst. Some 

were "entirely hostile," some were "indifferentlw none were 

"invitinq." The chiefs said they hoped to g e t  large 

payments for their land when a treaty was made, so they did 

not want to give up their land for settlement at this tirne. 

But as Flett çpent time listening to them, he prepared the 

ground for Nisbetrs entry.lc 

When the group reached Fort Carlton, Chief Factor 

Lawrence Clarke advised them that a spot about t h i r t y  miles 

down the North Saskatchewan would be a good place for their 

mission. Leaving the rest of the party at Fort Carlton, 

Nisbet and Flett went to inspect the proposed site. It was 

favourable in more ways than just  the physical location. 

Other denominations did not have missionaries in that area." 

To bring Christianity to a place where there was no fear of 

encroaching on missionaries of other persuasions would have 

been in accord with Flettrs ideas that native societies 

should not be confronted with a plethora of confusing 

doctrines. 

"SAB, ~isbet letters, Ç-A57, Nisbet to Burns 20 June 
1866. 



The Cree, however, who congregated at that site between 

hunting seasons, w e r e  not immediately willing to let them 

settle there. T h e y  were afraid that a mission would attract 

settlers and çettlement would drive away the buffalo. 

Flett, after %orne two days parleyingIW was able to convince 

the Cree to let the mission have their site.'& Andrew 

Browning Baird, later the CO-convener of the Presbyterian 

FMC, explained Flettfs success in retrospect: 

The Indians were by no means anxious to have them, but 
the tables were cleverly turned upon them by Mr. Flett, 
w h o  had been born on the Saskatchewan, and who claimed 
on that account a right to a share in the land by the 
same arguments as they themselves used.:' 

Whatever the details, Flett playrd a major part in talkinq 

the Cree into letting t h e  Presbyterian mission settle on 

their lands. 

Flett accompanied Nisbet in al1 of the neqotiations 

with the Cree. When they arrived at the future mission site 

with their goods and cattle, bath men went to talk with "the 

principal Indians ... the old men." Later, eight Cree 

appeared. Nisbet described the encounter t h u s :  

"Dunning, 11. 

"Baird, 9. Flett w a s  quite right since Moose Lake is 
connected to the Saskatchewan River. 

"Eighteen years later, the Cree challenged the 
Presbyterian Church's right of possession of the mission 
site acquired through Flettrs Cree descent. John Webster 
Grant, Moon of Wintertime: Missionaries and the Indians of 
Canada in Encounter since 1534 (Toronto: University of 
Toronto Press, 1984), 165. 



They took seats on the drift wood and watched the 
unloading of the boat with a good deal of interest, 
although they did not display undue curiosity. M i r .  
Flett and 1 s a t  dom among them, and as a preliminary 
to conversation (according to Indian fashion) we gave 
to each a bit of tobacco, after the whole Company had 
their pipes in ''full blastn 1 made a little speech to 
them, Mr . Flett interpreting . '* 

After Nisbet finished explaining that they were friends who 

had corne to help the Cree attain a better life now and in 

the hereafter, Flett talked about the places he had visited 

where t h e  mission was not invited to stay. He told them who 

had invited the party to stay here and that he hoped al1 of 

the Cree would welcome them. The head man replied t h a t  the 

mission wanted land; if the Cree had gone to England to ask 

for land, they would have had to pay for it, so it was o n l y  

Logical to expect that the mission would pay the Cree for 

the land they were settlinq on here. He was concerned that 

heavier white settlement would follow the mission into the 

area. Another Cree was in favour of t h e  mission staying 

with them but he warned them that they were a "beggarly 

s e t f V 1  always asking for %omething or another." Nisbet and 

Flett promised to help the Cree cultivate their land and 

trade provisions for moose skins. The day ended w i t h  

trading and food for the Cree, donated by the Nisbet party. 

The next day, the whole camp of Cree visited Nisbet and 

his group. On Flett's advice, Nisbet set out a bag of flour 

and some tea and tobacco for the assembly. The Cree sat 

"SAB, Nisbet letters, Nisbet to Burns, 30 July 1866. 
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d o m  on robes laid out for them in front of Flett's big 

leather tent. They wanted to know how many white men 

existed and how they lived. Nisbet later wrote that they 

"asked some very shrewd questions.tt As the day wore on, it 

began to rain and the younger Cree left. The older men, 

however, were invited into Flettfs tent for supper. In the 

end, the Cree were impressed by the presen t s  and by kindness 

s h o w  to them, and their final decision was that Nisbet and 

his group could stay on Cree land. A f e w  days later, the 

Cree killed a red deer and brought the heart and tongue to 

the mission. Thus they reciprocated by giving their most 

valued meat in return for the food they had received. 

John McKay, another bicultural menber of the mission 

group, was in charge ûf brinqinq in provisions from the 

plains. There he met an "old christian Indian," a friend of 

Flettrs. He had a cart and a h o r s e  that belonged to Flett. 

The old man was sick, and his wish was to get tc the mission 

to meet Flett and the missi~nary.~' Incidents such as thls 

one indicate that Flett was not a newcomer on the plains. 

He felt cornfortable with the Cree of the area and had mixed 

with them Ereely before Nisbet arrived. 

Shortly after the arriva1 of the group at Prince 

Albert, Nisbet wrote a letter that was printed in June 1867, 

in "The Home and Foreign Board of the Canada Presbyterian 

'OSAB, Nisbet letters, S-A57, Nisbet to Burns, 30 July 
1866. 



Churchtt as part of a series for Sunday School children. In 

it Nisbet described the Cree living at Prince Albert. His 

letter had the tone of a romantic adventure story, coming 

from a place very remote and "other." He wrote: "You can 

scarcely imagine the fantastic ways in which these Indians 

dress....The great majority of the Indians are nothing but 

wandering çavages st i lLtr  Some of the adjectives he used to 

describe the Cree were mwandering,w ltdirty,lt and midle.tT 

But,  he wrote, they could be improved if o n l y  they were 

taucjht the right way." 

The language Nisbet used to portray his first encounter 

with the Cree is reminiscent of the way Columbus depicted 

t h e  peop le  he called "fndian~~~ in the Caribbean when he 

first landed. There is the same sense of wonder at that 

which is almost unbelievable and yet is true. Nisbetrs 

letter to children must have helped to stockpile stereotypes 

in many young Presbyterian minds t h a t  wou ld  affect the way 

they thought about aboriginal peoples for years to corneœi2 

Eventually, Nisbet named t h e  mi s s ion  site Pr ince  

Albert." To his relatives at Oakville, he explained why he 

chose the name: 

2 1 Dunning , 

"See Çtephen Greenblatt, Marvelous Possessions: The 
Wonder of the New World (Chicago: University of Chicago 
Press, 1991), 20-22, 72-73. 

"Jean E. Murray, r t N i s b e t ,  James, rt Dictionarv of 
Canadian Bioaraphv, Vol. X (1871-1880), 5 4 9 .  





languages, character, and customs. John McKay was to do the 

buffalo hunting on the plains, to bring provisions for the 

mission ~tation.'~ The two young Kildonan men wha had come 

along were to help set up buildings and to break land for 

farrning." One of these young men was James Green, likely 

FletYs nephew ." 
After the fledgling mission was partially organized, 

Nisbet and Flett travelled farther west to hold meetings at 

HBC f a r t s  and at Cree camps. They travelled 500 miles up 

river to Edmonton to meet with the Cree there. Nisbet 

wanted to meet George McDougall at Victoria. Flett was the 

ideal cornpanion for Nisbet since he knew the Cree language, 

was well acquainted with the countryside and Victoria, and 

had a wam friendship with McDougall. On this trip, Flett 

again showed how familiar he was with the native way of 

life. One night, Flett and Nisbet wece visited by some 

Indians who had come to steaf horses. Flett gave them 

supper and talked with them. When the Indians decided to 

stay for the night, Flett kept talking with them until they 

26Mc~ayrs wife and Nisbetrs wife were sisters. See 
Smiley, 35. 

'%AB, Nisbet letters S-A57, Nisbet to Burns, 20 June 
866. See also VUA, fonds 116/2/2, James Nisbet to W. Reid, 
23 August 1867. After Isabella Ross's first husband, 
william Gunn, died she married James Green. The nephew who 
accompanied the Nisbet expedition was probably Isabella's 
son. 



fell asleep. Then Flett and Nisbet harnessed their horses 

and left." 

Flettrs way of dealing with the Cree, both in choosing 

a mission site and in dealing with the potential horse 

thieves, was to take enough time to talk. T h a t  was a l s u  his 

way of conducting missions. Later, in 1890, Flett reported 

to mission headquarters: "It requires t h a t  the missionary 

live among them and be with them talk to them every day 

talking and reasoning with them and talk them out of there 

foolish notions."'' This approach was what Wagner, the 

surveyor, referred to when he said Flett was like an "old 

Philosopherw goinq €rom house to house and on Sundays to the 

tents of the residents at the Okanase reserve.?' 

Nisbet reported t o  Burns in June 1866: 

1 am happy to Say that Mr. flettrs views on the plan of 
carryinq out a mission are exactly my own: and our work 
will chiefly be visiting different bands of Indians at 
their camps and hunting grounds. The place we may 
select will be only a base of operations, from which w e  
hope to extend in various d i rec t ions  In f a c t ,  w e  may 
take up d a i m s  at more than one point at the very 
outset. '' 

By al1 appearances, Nisbet and F l e t t  had a good working 

relationship. 

'OUCA, Baird Collection, E358-360, Flett t o  I V D e a r  
friend," 28 March 1890. 

"TARR, Wagner to Laird, 15 J u l y  1875. 

%AB, Nisbet letters S-A57, Nisbet to Burns, 18 June 
1866. 



In Decentber 1866, however, Nisbet changed his 

objectives for the mission. At first, he had written about 

going out from his central base to v i s i t  t h e  Cree i n  t h e i r  

hunting grounds. Now he wanted to make Prince Albert a 

strong farming and educational centre through which he 

would influence children. He wrote to Burns: 

My idea is that if we remain there we shall do the most 
good to t h e  Indians, ultimately, by endeavouring to 
collect as many children as possible, and have 
industrial schools for them-teaching them the ordinary 
branches  of a common and christian education, but also 
training them to farminq, cattle-keeping, carpenter 
work, and whatever o t h e r  branches of industry may be 
found convenient. The girls would be taught house 
work, needle work, etc. 1 would bring children from any 
quarter, who may be willing to corne to us. ... The boys 1 
would clothe i n  moose leather, and canvas garments, an6 
the girls in print frocks." 

And so methods at the mission shifted. Andrew Browning 

Baird, secretary for the Presbyterian FMC from 1887 to 1899, 

in hindsight referred to the agricultural base versus the 

itinerating missionary plan as a "division of forces between 

homeguard and flying c ~ l u r n n . ~  Nisbet felt that a small 

group of missionaries was not equal to the task of doing 

both. And so, wrote Baird, "the plan for itinerating which 

had bulked largely in the original letters about the mission 

had not been carried out.tf" 

"SAB, Nisbet letters S-A57, Nisbet to Burns 10 
September 1866. 



The FMC expected that Prince Albert would be an 

operational base from which Nisbet and Flett would 

itinerate, returning only when the Cree congregated in the 

area of the mission during their seasonal cycle. But Nisbet 

quickly modified the plans for the mission by placing the 

most emphasis on farming and education, stressing the 

civilizing aspect of missions more than the Christianizing 

efforts. His alteration of the original goals brûught 

criticism from the F'MC and the supporting constituency. 

Later, in 1872, an article appeared in the Winnipeg Western 

Advertiser based on reports from Alex Polson, William 

McBeath, Selkirk Bannerman, and a M r .  Goldie that at the 

mission there was V o o  much farming, too little preaching. 

A great deal of money spent, and not one Indian converted." 

Further, there were alleqations that mission personnel 

traded with the Cree for their own profit. The FMC sent 

Rev. William Moore to investigate. Moore exonerated Nisbet, 

but recommended that evangelism be stressed more and that 

the farming operation should be separated from the mission." 

In 1873, as a result of Moore's report, the farming 

operarion was abandoned. The FMC was afraid that a strong 

agricultural base would encourage the Cree to settle around 

the missian to receive charitable handouts rather than to 

hear the gospel. Another concern was that a strong farming 



operation at Prince Albert would draw in settlers. This 

did, in f act, happen very q u i ~ k l y . ' ~  

Nisbet also changed his opinion about giving gifts to 

the Cree. In the  beginning, a t  Flettrs suggestion, he was 

fairly generous with food and other gifts. But he soon 

ruled that the Cree should work f o r  whatever they received 

f r o m  t h e  mission. Trading and gift giving were strictly 

forbidden except in cases of dire necessity." 

The good relationship between Nisbet and Flett was 

short-lived. Flettrs missionary endeavour there lasted for 

only one year. Nisbet, barn in 1323, was s i x  years youngeï 

t h a n  Flett. This age difference could have had a bearing cn 

the breakdown of the relationship. Flett, at 49 years ûf 

age, was probably not completely pliable. He may have f e l t  

that Nisbet, as the ycunger man, with less knowledge of 

native ways, could sometimes have asked f o r  advice. He w a s  

also unwilling to change his concept of the mission to 

conform with that of Nisbet. At any rate, he was back at 

R e d  River by July, 1867- The official reason for his return 

was that Mary was ill and needed medical help." Another 

reason given was that Flett had agreed only to help choose 

"Grant, 153. See also Baird, 11. 

"Dunning, 13. 

'aBaird, 17. 



the site for the niissi~n.'~ The minutes of the June 1867 

meetings of the Presbyterian Synod reported that "Mr- Flett 

and Kr. M c K a y  have proved indefatigable  assistant^.^ The 

1868 minutes did not mention that Flett had left the 

mission. 

In a long letter to W. Reid at the Toronto m i s s i o n  

headquarters about Flettrs departure, Nisbet made no 

reference to Mary's illness. Nisbet wrote to Reid rather 

than to Burns because Burns bad resiqned as convenor of the 

FMC and Nisbet had not heard who .the new convenor was. The 

letter was, however, to be Vaid before the C~mrnittee~~ and 

it contained "matter for the information of the contmittee 

alone. lr 

The letter c lear ly  showed that there had been tension 

between Nisbet and Flett for some time and that they had 

been trying to corne to an understanding. Nisbet had 

a t t e m p t e d  to get Flett to sign an agreement that he would 

remain at the mission but had not obtained Flettrs signature 

before he l e f t  for R e d  River in the summer of 1867. Now, 

"Smiley, 47 n21. George Bryce, a contemporary 
Presbyterian historian who was a mernber of the Manitoba FMC, 
wrote that F l e t t  left the Prince Albert mission in 1869 
when, in fact, he left in 1867. See George Bryce, "John 
Black: The Apostle of the Red River," installment VII: "A 
Kindred Spirit1' in The Westminster, August 1897. W A ,  Micro 
P.S. BX9001 AlOW, Reel 1, June 1896-June 1898. 

"APP June 1867, Appendix lxviii and June 1868, Appendix 
liii. 



with Flett gone, Nisbet reiterated, from his point of view, 

the events that led up to this rupture. 

In the process of hiring Flett, recalled Nisbet, FLett 

had specifically requested in writing that he would not need 

to hew and haul timber at the mission; he had been assured 

that McKay would be doing that work, but that in the first 

year everyone would have to work together to erect buildings 

for their own needs. Nisbet reported that after a f e w  

months of working together, Flett had complained to Nisbet 

that "McKay is master of everything at the mission, & that 

he (Mr F I )  was never consulted about its affairs." This, 

wrote Nisbet, was a most erroneous view since he had 

consulted F Z e t t  more about "Indian affairs? As for beinq 

master, Nisbet wrote, "no one is master at the mission but 

myself." Apparently he was aware o f  friction between McKay 

and Flett since McKay, at one occasion, had not corne to 

communion because of remarks Flett had made, but al1 that 

had been resolved. Nisbet wrote further that 

1 know that there were other matters in relation to the 
young men who were with us of which Mr. F. complained 
but without any just cause so far as 1 could see. In 
the mission 1 have endeavoured to know no man after the 
flesh--but having early observed the peculiarly 
sensitive disposition of Mr & Mrs F. 1 was doubly 
careful ta do everything in rny power to render their 
position comfortable & agreeable to them." 

Towards the end of the year, Nisbet had asked Flett to 

draw up a list of his expectations regarding supplies for 

- - - -  -- 

"WA, f o n d s  116/2/2, Nisbet to Reid 23 August 1867. 



the Flett family- Flettrs list amazed Nisbet. Flett wanted 

to have the sanie allowances as HBC postmasters received. 

This included a horse for his own use, free hours, firewood 

brought to his house, three or four cows, and a small barn 

of his own. Moreover, he wanted to get hay  for his animals 

on mission tirne, not on h i s  own free tirne. He would be 

willing to interpret, translate into Cree, help teach in the 

school, and travel with Nisbet. 

After receiving this list, Nisbet had a talk with 

Flett, telling him that h i s  demands were f a r  i n  excess of 

what the mission could allow. Flett would get only what his 

family really needed; he c o u l d  use a mission horse, b u t  i t  

would not be his own. He could also have "one cow but no 

more. f t  As for tirne, Flett was to work f cr t h e  mi s s ion  as 

t h e  others did when he was n o t  otherwise employed. Nisbet 

also o f f e r e d  free e d u c a t i o n  for Flettts n i e c e  and nephew, 

doubtless the adopted dauqhter Annie and James Green. As an 

alternative, Nisbet offered Flett a salary of 1 0 0  pounds 

without any other supplies. This offer Flett refused; 

indeed, the next day, he informed Nisbet that he intended to 

leave the mission. McKay could interpret; there was no n e e d  

for both of t h e m  t o  remain .  

Nisbet r e s p o n d e d  by pointing out what a serious 

decision Flett was making, s i n c e  he had joined t h e  mission 

after much prayerful deliberation by both himself and those 

who h i r e d  him. He told Flett that he needed both him and 



McKay, one to interpret, and one to stay at the mission when 

Nisbet and his interpreter were away. Nisbet also told 

Flett to "consider what effect his withdrawal would have on 

the minds of the rnembers of the church & on the credit of 

the mission itself." He sa id  that they had gotten along 

well in the past, he was not a "hard master" and that he 

would not expect an undue amount of work. Flett responded 

that he would stay and do the best he could. Nisbet then 

gave him a written agreement to sign, which Flett took with 

him. 

After a few days, Flett sent his reply. He wrote that 

he was not willing to do any work other than to interpret, 

translate, educate children, and travel with Nisbet. He 

would see to his own firewood, but otherwise, he would do 

o n l y  such physical work as he pleased. In a talk shortly 

afterward, Flett stated that the biggest difference between 

him and Nisbet w a s  "the work." Nisbet responded by saying 

that visitors to the mission should not get the impression 

that some employees had an easier time at t h e  mission, as 

had been said about Flett. Flett did n o t  sign any 

agreement, but Nisbet clairned that he agreed verbally to 

continue a t  the mission on Nisbetrs terms. Flett left, 

perhaps for vacation at Red River, after this understanding 

had been reached. 

Nisbet went on to explain to the FMC: "1 have written 

this mere abstract to let the comrnittee judge whether Mr F. 



has any or just cause for withdrawing from the mission on 

the ground t h a t  he alleged." H e  then included a copy of 

Flettfs letter of resignation t h a t  Flett sent to N i s b e t  from 

Red River, written on 22 July 1867. Flett wrote that he was 

not returning to Prince A l b e r t .  His reason for not writing 

sooner was t h a t  he had wished to consult with John Black 

first but Black had temporarily left Red River. Flett 

wrote: "My only reason or at least my chief reason for no t  

going back to you is because you want me to work a l l  day at 

something or o t h e r O t t  Because he could not work, he wrote, 

the mission would be deprived of h i s  other talents. He 

continued: 

1 thought 1 would be a useful man for the n i s s i o n  as 
long as 1 could speak or at least as long as 1 had 
health; but you are so determined t o  make me work that 
1 a m  obliged to leave the work of God that 1 was so 
delighted with. 

The tone of Flettrs letter was not hostile; in fact it was 

respectful, and indeed, more devout and pious than many 

letters that Flett wrote to the FMC later in his career. He 

cited the scripture passage that says Godps ways are better 

than man's, and alluded t o  Romans 8:28: "And we know that 

al1 things work together for good to them that love God, to 

them who are called according to his purpose."" But his 

pride was h u r t  by Nisbetrs staternent that outsiders should 

"Romans 8 : 2 8  (King James Version). 
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never think that there was anyone at the mission who was 

idle, as he demonstrated when he wrote to Nisbet: 

You told me plainly before 1 came off t h a t  1 would have 
to work because the gentlemen of Carleton & a l so  of 
f o r t  a-la-corne said t h a t  1 had easy times. When 1 
left Victoria 1 did not know that 1 would have to 
please al1 the H.B.C. officers on the Saskatchewan. 
You got me from them 1 hope you will get another from 
them that can do more work than 1 can do.43 

Nisbet also included a copy of his written response to 

Flettrs resignation. In this letter, he chided Flett for 

accepting work contracts outside the mission from Mr. 

Clarke, Mr. McDonald, and Mr. Ballandyne t o  make shingles 

and tu build houses. "1 do not need to make any comment on 

this, it requires only to be named to make its absurdity 

appear," wrate Nisbet ta Flett. It was not NFsbetfs 

intention, he wrote, to hire another interpreter. He would 

j u s t  have to remain close to the mission for the coming 

yea r  . 
Towards the end of his letter, Nisbet asked that the 

Committee affirm him in his decision to brinq native 

children to stay at t h e  mission and t o  go to school there. 

He had not yet been given approval of this p r o j e c t ,  although 

a number of children were already at the mission. He also 

wanted to teach HBC officerrs children. Nisbetrs letter is 

"Flett to Nisbet 22 July 1867, quoted in Nisbet to Reid 
23 August 1867. Nisbe t  edited Flettrs l e t t e r  s i n c e  he 
wrote: "The following is a true copy of M r .  F's letter with 
only the orthographical errors corrected." 



long, detailed, and strikingly defensive. For example 

Nisbet wrote: 

In his letter Mr F. says a great deal about work but 
the committee can judge whether his strong language is 
warranted by anything that 1 said to him on the subject 
(for I have written al1 that passed between us). The 
tone of h i s  letter would lead-to the inference  that 
there were unpleasant high words on the subject but 
there never was an angry word passed between & he left 
this in as good temper as he could be in? 

Several puzzling items present themselves in these 

letters. First, Flett, at this time, was fifty years old, 

and perhaps found it hard to do physical work. But, 

according to Nisbet, he was willinq to do outside work for 

HBC officers. Further, he worked at the Okanase Mission - 

till he was eighty years old, itinerating to many distant 

areas- H i s  Okanase years qive  the impression that he was an 

indefatigable worker. He was, however, his own master 

there.. He could perform those tasks which he deemed 

important, not those that others dictated to h i m .  At Prince 

Albert, Nisbet was determined, and indeed he wâs designated 

by the FMC, to be the chief authority figure. 

Further, Flett's definition of work was probably 

different from the way Nisbet and the FMC understood work. 

Flett wanted to be in contact with the Cree, to make 

connections, interpret, and teach. He likely did not find 

building stockades ta keep the Cree and t h e i r  dogs away from 

. -- 

"Nisbet to Reid 23 August 1967. 
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the turnips in the  garder^,'^ compatible with h i s  concept of 

being a missionary. He probably did not want to labour al1 

day and evening at developing a mode1 farrn. 

Another rnystery concerns horses and ownership in 

general. When Flett lived at Red River, he owned several 

horses. In his 1854 letter to James Ross, he says Mary 

Vound it hard to rid this whit mare: so 1 head to get a 

fine horse and nothing less than a 4 whell gig.wdb Further, 

Flett did not leave Victoria empty-handed, for the Hudson's 

Bay Company gave him supplies and money."' He must have had 

horses of his own to conte from Victoria to Fort Carlton. 

What happened to his possessions? D i d  they go into the 

general mission reserves or did Flett give some of them to 

the Cree among whom he lived or to relatives? 

The next  puzzle is about Mary's health. Why was her 

illness given as the public reason for FletYs return to Red 

River? Nisbet made not the slightest allusion to her health 

in h i s  detailed letter to Reid. It appears that the FMC 

covered up the real reason for Flett's resignation. 

Doubtless, they were afraid of harmful repercussions from 

the constituency. It was probably embarrassing to have 

friction in the first Presbyterian mission team durinq its 

4 5 Dunning, 12. 

"Ross Family Collection, L e t t e r  No. 88, George Flett to 
James Ross 29 June 1 8 5 4 .  



first year of operation. The FMC did not want to arouse any 

public criticisrn. 

Another enigma about Flettrs relationship with Nisbet 

is that in 1865, before Flett had promised to corne to the 

Saskatchewan mission, Nisbet wrote to R.F. Burns, that if 

Flett refused to join for wages t h e  same as McKay's, they 

would give h i m  what he was getting at Victoria as 

postmaster ." Why t h e n  was Flett s request for wages 

cornensurate with an HBC postmaster so problematic now? 

According to John Black, the whole matter was due to a 

personality clash between Nisbet and Flett. He wrote: 

As to Mr. Flett's n o t  givinq warning as to ieaving the 
Missions, I believe he dFd sa as soon as his mind was 
made up cn the matter. As to which party is chiefly CD 
blame 1 really am at a loss tu know. 1 think likely I 
have offended both parties by plain speaking i n  regard 
t o  it. Both feel aggrieved at the circumstances of 
their parting and both will be sufferers by it. The 
fact is I believe there is between Mr. N. and George 
süch an incompatibility of temper that we should never 
have brought them toqether . '' 

What was this incompatibility of temper? Was Flettfs native 

disposition coming to the fore in different attitudes and 

values about such things as tinte, work, and possessions? 

Obviously, he was not willing to be Nisbet's servant to 

build up a c i v i l i z e d  centre for farming and education in the 

rnidst of the Cree living around Fort Carlton. 

"~nited Church/Victoria University, 116/2/James Nisbet 
Fonds 3240, Nisbet to Burns 5 December 1865. 

"'WA, John Black Fonds 3021. Black to MacLaren 19 
November 1867. 



Whatever the reason, the Fletts were back in Red River 

a f t e r  only one year a t  Prince Albert. During the turbulent 

years between 1867 and 1873 Flett became very much involved 

w i t h  the English half-breeds. In 1860, before the Fletts 

went to Victoria, George Flett had been one of a number of 

speakers who addressed a meeting of half-breeds at the Royal 

Hotel near Fort Garry. This group decided that Assiniboia 

belonged to them because they were the descendants of the 

Cree, "the f irst owners of the soil. ly'" 

Now, back at home in Red River, Flett was chosen to be 

an English delegate in Riel's provisional government on 26 

January 1870. He participated, together with his brother- 

in-law James Ross, in debates about  whether Red River should  

j o i n  t h e  new Confederation a s  a province or a territory, and 

what should be included in the terms of union w i t h  canada." 

In al1 of these involvements, Flett demonstrated that 

he felt at home with the native and bicultural segment of 

Red River population and their customs rather than with 

Eastern Canadians who were infiltrating Red River and its 

environs in the 1870s. James Ross, who had been a brilliant 

student at the University of Toronto, had similar leanings. 

""The Land Question, Nor-Wester, 14 March 1860, 2 .  

"Alexander Begg, Alexander Beaars Red River Journal & 
Other PaDers, ed. W.L. Morton (Toronto: Champlain Society, 
1956), 285, 429. See also  W.L. Morton, Manitoba: The Birth 
of a Province (Winnipeg: Manitoba Record Society, 1965), 
23. 



James had experienced relentless pressure to succeed from 

his father, Alexander Ross. Alexander's letters exhorted 

James to study hard, enter the ministry, see to his moral 

life, and be sure to include certain items in his letters 

when he wrote home. The elder Ross was outspoken about his 

belief that half-breeds were inferior, even though his own 

children were descendants of Sarah Timentwa. He 

acknowledged that children of mixed marriages could easily 

speak several languages but they were 'Ia perfect model of 

savage life and manners, taught them by their wandering and 

degenerate parents. lt5' He thought they were a bad influence 

on European children because they were not industrious. 

Education, however, could make a difference ta childron 

of mixed marriages, thought Ross." Of Grkneymen who çettled 

at Red River, Ross said they were usually a step below 

Scotchmen because mast of them had married Indian women 

while in HBC service, and had brought children into t h e  

settlement who were '*in a great d e g r e e  ignorant of the 

habits of the white people."" Ross thought that hunting and 

fishing were manifestations of innate laziness. In 1849 

Alexander Ross complained to the governor of Red River, 

however, that even educated half-breed children were given 

-- 

5 2 R o s s ,  79. 

5 3 R o s s ,  80. 

"Ross, 111. 



"no place in the upper class9' and therefore they "sank into 

the lower c l a s s  and led it.w'5 

Earlier, probably in the 1840s ~enjamin McKenzie, 

grandchild of old NorfWester Roderick Mckenzie, came to Red 

River to attend St. John's Acaderny. His reminiscences 

include a description of a week-long holiday with James 

Ross, George Flett, and Mary Ross Flett. On one occasion 

they  went on a picnic at the site of Belcourt's abandoned 

mission where they socialized with the half-breed family 

F i a r n r n ~ n d . ~ ~  Alexander Ross described the Flamrnond family in 

his history of Red River as the family that demonstrated 

most aptly how much like "vagrant savagesv and haw shiftless 

half -breed f a m i l i e s  were One wonders what Ross thought , 

or indeed if he even knew, about his children's interaction 

with the Flammond family. 

Ross's children were well aware of their fatherrs 

feelings so they  tried t o  prove h i m  wrong, as Sylvia Van 

Kirk has demonstrated t k r o u g h  her research on the Ross 

fa~nily.~' James Ross, caught between two divergent Red River 

" ~ u o t e d  in Marnoch, 52. 

'"HBCA missionary search file. No Eurther reference is 
given. 

" ~ y l v i a  Van Kirk, rv\What if Marna is an Indian?': The 
Cultural Ambivalence of the Alexander Ross Family," in The 
New Peomles: Beina and Becornina Metis in North Arnerica, eds. 
Jacqueline Peterson and Jennifer S.H. Brown (Winnipeg: 
University of ~anitoba Press, 1985). 



political groups, could not withstand the tension and 

succumbed ta an early death. In contrast, Flett seems to 

have corne through the Red River conflict unscathed. 

In spite of Alexander Ross's sentiments that half-breed 

children were inferior, he was cornfortable with George 

Flett, whom the Ross family affectionately nicknamed Jordy 

and sometimes beaufrere [brother-in-law] J ~ r d y . ' ~  Ross 

boasted to George o u t  of a %eart alrnost too f u l l  for 

utterancet? of James ' accomplishments at the University: 

What will they say of the  rul lés  no^??^" George could 

listen to s u c h  boasting without feeling threatened cr 

inferior about his own scanty education. 

George was the practical persan in the Ross f ami ly .  12 

the 1 8 5 0 ~ ~  the trip Erom Toronto to Red River was so arduous 

that it could o n l y  be made through special arrangements. 

When James returned to Red River from Toronto for a visit, 

Alexander Ross arranged for George to meet his son at St. 

Paul to help overcome travelling difficulties."' After 

William Ross died in 1856, it was George who helped the 

59Ross Family Collection, Letter No. 96, James Ross tu 
George Flett 5 August 1854. 

6uRoss Fanily Collection, Letter No. 72, John Black to 
James Ross, 9 February 1854. 

Family Collection, Letter No. 117, Alexander Ross 
to James Ross, 23 January 1855. 



widow J e m i m a  with her business affairs." Later in 1856, 

when Alexander Ross was terminally ill, George Flett was 

"one of his most assiduous and skilful nurses."" Apparently 

Flett was a dutiful and faithful son-in-law even though he 

sometimes made tongue-in-cheek remarks about his father-in- 

law, the "old Scottish chief.""" 

In June 1854, he closed his letter to James by writing: 

"1 have wrot nothing but nonsense; what else could you get 

from Jordy."" Yet Flett seemed to have a healthy s e n s e  of 

self-esteem at this point i n  his life; as well, he occupied 

a warm place in t h e  hearts of the R o s s  family mentbers, even 

though many aspects and involvements in h i s  life had 

distinctively native qualities. Apparently he could move 

with ease from his Cree and half-breed friends to the Ross 

farnily living-room. In 1873, he was to move from Red River 

to the Ojibwa mission field that Be served for the rest of 

his life. 

"Ross Family Collection, Letter No. 189, Henrietta 
Black to James Ross, 7 August 1856. Henrietta wrote that 
"Jordy is down getting a boat and crew for Jemima to send 
off to York." 

6 ' ~ o s s  Farnily Collection, Letter No. 196, John Black to 
James Ross, 8 November 1856. 

64Ross Family Collection, L e t t e r  No. 68, George Flett to 
James Ross 29 June 1 8 5 4 .  

'Qoss Family collection, Letter No. 68, George Flett to 
James Ross 29 June 1 8 5 4 .  



Chapter V 

George Flett and his Native Congregations: Riding Mountain 

and Okanase Reserve, 1873-1897 

George and Mary Flett, with their adopted daughter 

Annie, left Red River in the sununer of 1873. In 1874, Flett 

wrote to h i s  brother-in-law, William Coldwell, requesting 

that he represent him in applying for half-breed land 

grants, including Annie as one who qualified for land and 

sending "Anniers Baptist registerm (baptism reqister].' 

Annie was always treated as part of the family, as though 

she were a biological daughter. 

The Presbyterian Foreign Mission Board had assigned 

Flett to the area around Fort Pelly. By the summer of 1874, 

George and Mary had built a home at the Okanase Reserve 

southwest of Riding Mountain, where they would remain for 

the rest of their lives. At Okanase, Flett was a missionary 

to a group that was Saulteaux in identity but also partly 

F r e n c h ,  Orkney, and Cree in descent. Isaac Cowie, the 

Hudsonrs Bay Company apprentice in the winter of 1869, made 

the observation that the Indians around F o r t  Pelly, Yike 

the Okanase band about Riding Mountain, were remotely 

- -- -- - - 

'Caldwell Papers, Flett to Caldwell, 21 August 1875. 
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descended from Europeans, but born and brought up with the 

Indians. *' 

When 1 visited the Okanase Reserve, now called 

Keeseekoowenin, Michael Cardinal ceased to be a mythical 

character. He took on flesh and blood because he w a s  very 

much a p a r t  of the history of the reserve. According to 

Brian Whitford, Mekis (meaning shell) Okanase (meaning 

little bone) Cardinal, the first chief at Okanase, was in 

fact Michael Cardinal. He was b o r n  at Rocky Mountain House 

of a fur trade father. He or his ancestors came from the 

East originally, perhaps with the North West Company. He 

may have been part French, but he "went nativem and settled 

in ttie Riding Mountain area sometirne around 1830. According 

to oral tradition Okanase had three wives. Okanase's domain 

included a l 1  of the present Riding Mountain Park and he and 

his three wives were buried just north of the present 

reserve . ' 
As noted in chapter 1, there is a consensus that Flett 

was related in some way to the chiefs at Riding Mountain. 

FLettfs obituary, probably written by one of the conveners 

'1saac Cowie, The Com~anv of Adventurers (Toronto: 
William Briggs, 1913), 362. Cowie's statement reinforces 
the idea that Michael Cardinal's ancestors were both Indian 
and European. 

'persona1 interview with Osborne Lauder and Brian 
Whitford, 31 May 1996. Lauder and Whitfordfs account of 
three wives agrees with Donaghy and Walter Scott. The oral 
tradition is consistent wherever it originates. 



of the E'oreign Mission Conunittee, stated that many of the 

residents ( V n d i a n s " )  at Okanase were related to Flett.' 

At Riding Mountain, Mekis Okanase Cardinal (or Little 

Bone) and his Saulteaux band lived in forest areas where 

they trapped furs, in contrast with the Plains C r e e  who 

hunted buffalo. In fact, they had been encouraged to trap 

s i n c e  t h e  early 1 8 6 0 ~ ~  when the HBC started an outpost 

there. But the Company had to provide Okanase and his band 

w i t h  pemmican and other provisions for their livelihood so 

that they were left  free to trap.' William E. Traill, who 

was at Fart Ellice in early 1865, had same contact with 

Okanase, or Chief Little Bone as Traill called him. One 

the, Traill followed the chief when h e  heard that he had 

furs, fearing that if Little Bone were not pursued, the 

furs would go to free-traders in exchange for liquor. For 

some reason, one of the chiefrs sons was with Traill on this 

winter dog-sled journey. After t h e y  % t r u c k  the trail of 

Old Bonel' they followed it until dark. When they stopped to 

camp, they found that Little Bone had left them "a good 

supply of wood ready cut and plenty of hay to sleep i n . "  

'"A Pioneer Missi~nary,~ The Westminster, 6 Novenber 
1987. 

%. John Selwood, "The Hudson*~ Bay Company a t  Riding 
Hountain House (Elphinstone)" (University of Winnipeg, 
Department of Geography, 1985) , 8 0 .  Photocopy in Riding 
Mountain search file, HBCA, Winnipeg. 



The next morning t hey  lTcarne up with the Old Bonew and traded 

for his furs." 

In 1867, Isaac Cowie wrote about this area: 

Fort Ellice, too, has its regular fur-trading outpost 
in the wooded Riding Mountains, f r o m  which it derived 
large quantities of fine furs trapped by the splendid 
hunters of the Saulteaux tribe, of whom t h e  family of 
t h e  Little Bones (Ouk-an-nay-sic) was the most expert.' 

Walter E. Traill, brother  to William, an apprentice at Fort 

Ellice in 1867, also n o t e d  that this outpost, about eiqhty 

miles distant, was known for its choice furs. There was, 

however, a "half-breedw in charge of the ~ i d i n g  Mountain 

post, and Traill thought that if only he (Traill) could be 

there, the Hudson's Bay Company could profit more from those 

furs which were now going to free-traders.' In the sprinq 

of 1868 the Riding Mountain outpcst was closeà because the 

Company ran out of provisions. As a result, the Saulteaux 

could not bring in the furs t h e y  expected to sell, which 

angered them so much t h a t  they burned down t h e  post. 

That fall, Traill was sent to Riding Mountain ta see 

what could be done. He did not get a V e r y  cordial 

reception Erom Little Bone ~ h i e f  and his f o l l ~ w e r s ~ ~  when 

they came 'to interviewn him. They wanted a promise that 

the pos t  would not close e a r l y  again and t h e y  wan ted  t o  get 

%AB, S-A104, T r a d e r  Transcripts, william E. Traill, 
Fort Ellice, t o  mother, 27 Janua ry  1865. 

%fernoirs of Walter Traill, 102-103, 1 2 2 .  



higher prices for their furs and pay less for supplies. 

They also complained that "the clothing furnished by the 

Queen was badly made, of an unfashionable s t y l e , "  To 

demonstrate Vhat the Queen had become careless with her 

sewing" they displayed a s h i r t  with one sleeve a foot 

shorter than the other. Traill continued: 

They said they had never failed t o  send her through the 
trader buffalo and deer tongues, moose n o s e s  and  dried 
saskatoon berries, b u t  still s h e  qot more careless 
every year .' 
Traill was a f ra id  that i f  he did  n a t  comply, t h e  f u r s  

wauld go ta Eree t r a d e r s  again.'' A t  this point, Little Bone 

and h i s  band were in a good position and could be f a i r l y  

assertive. Traill wrote: 

It will require al1 my own rescurcefulness to keep the 
Post at Riding Mountain open throughout the year .... The 
Indians here have always been a turbulent band ... In 
addition to making sure 1 have enough provisions to 
last al1 year 1 must now revise the tarife as demanded 
by Little Bone Chief and h i s  followers." 

Traillfs solution w a s  t a  invite t h e  chief and his 

followers to a big feast with plenty of ~smokesm a t  which 

they discussed revision of tariffs. Although Traill felt 

that he had managed to fool the Saulteaux into a deal, he 

later found t h a t  he had t o  go to their hunting camps in 

w i n t e r  to collect t h e i r  furs or else t h e y  still went t o  free 

'SAa, S-A104, Trader Transcripts, speech by Walter E. 
Traill 

' ' M e r n o i r s  of Walter Traill, 126-127. 

" M e r n o i r s  of W a l t e r  T r a i l l ,  132, 

92 



traders. He remarked that the Ridinq ~ountain Saulteaux 

were a "bad lot," "perfect de vil^.^" In retrospect, in a 

speech he made later in life, Traill acknowledged that 

although he felt he had outwitted the Saulteaux with a long 

and brilliant lecture in which he promised to lower the 

tariffs on furs sold at Riding Mountain and raise them on 

s k i n s  sold only in distant places, he was "crushed 

and ... blasted in the bud." The interpreter condensed 

Traillfs whole speech into five wards which apparently rneant 

"nearly the same as before." Although outwardly they agreed 

with his suggestions, the Saulteaux saw t h rouqh  Traillts 

clever plan to fool them into compliance." 

James C. Audy succeeded Traili at Ridinq Mountain in 

1871, and in 1880, David Armit became clerk there. A flour 

mil1 was put into operation and a store was built. A 

townsite was surveyed and called Elphinstone, after Lord 

Elphinstone who had purchased a large tract of land in the 

area for a ranch." The mil1 burned to the ground in 1886 

and was never rebuilt. By t hen ,  it was obvious that most 

business would go to Strathclair and Shoal Lake because the 

railway ran through those places and not through 

Elphinstone. The mil1 was never rebuilt, and the fur trade 

- - -  

"~emoirs of Walter Traill, 135. 

'%AB, S-A104, Trader Transcripts, speech by Walter E. 
Traill. 
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gradually died out. In 1895 the store was sold to John A. 

Lauder, FletYs son-in-law, and the Hudson's Bay Company 

left Riding Mountain. H. John Selwood considers the o u t p o s t  

at Riding Mountain an "unqualifieci failure." H i s  opinion is 

that the cost of supplying the trappers was more than the 

profit made from the furs they brought in. He calls the 

town of Elphinstone a "paper townsiterW a town laid out by 

land promoters that died out in the ensuing years." The 

present Elphinstûne is certainly little more than a qhost-  

tom. Apparently the t o m  and the post were afready on the 

way to decline when Flett began his m i s s i o n  there in 1874. 

The 1890 report of the Manitoba FMC differs from 

Selwoad's portrait of hunting dec l ine  at Ridinq Mountain. 

In their Foreign Mission report they stated: 

Mr. Flett finds it very difficult to prosecute his work 
satisfactorily on account of the prolonged absence of 
the Indians front their reserves. Okanase is at the 
Eoot of Riding Mountain where the hunting is still 
good. This furnishes too great a ten tp ta t ion  for t h e  
Indians to resist and many neglect their farms to 
Eollow the chaseoL6 

This church report focused more on the p r o b l e m s  t h a t  plagued 

Committee objectives to create an agricultural community 

than on the actual state of the native economy. Already in 

1880, Flett complained to Indian AEfairs that 

"~elwood, 84. See a l s o  HBCA, Widing Mountain," 
LC26238, 31 August 1960 for Minnedosa Tribune. 

L 6 U ~ ~ ,  The Minutes and Reoorts of the Seventh Svnod of 
Manitoba and the Northwest Territories of the Presbvterian 
Church in Canada (20-23 May 1890), 22. 



the country from one end of the Riding Mountain t o  the 
o the r ,  has been l e t  to owners of mills f o r  Timber 
Limits, and as they have gangs of men in the woods, al1 
the game iç driven off, so that t h e  poor Indians have 
no chance to make a living as in former years.17 

The Saulteaux at Riding Nountain, although an 

independent and assertive band until the 1870s, faced a 

changing future. In 1874, Flett witnessed the signing of 

the adhesion of the Fort Ellice Saulteaux Indians to Treaty 

Number Four.'' W e  may ask how Flett could take part in 

imposing treaties and consigning t h e  Saulteaux to reserves 

if he identified with native peoples. But the old ways were 

gone in the region; instead of herds of buffalo roving the 

prairies, bleached bones were strewn acrûss t h e i r  forner 

haunts. At Prince Albert, for example, ten years had made a 

great change. B a i r d  wrote that when Nisbetfs missionary 

expedition came to that area in 1866, the Cree were 

t tmonarchs of t h e  w e s t ,  proud and  haugh ty t t  who eaçily made 

their living on hunting buffalo and trapping beaver. The 

mission band then had to be %uppliants for a place to build 

their hou se^.^ In 1876, the tables were turned. Now the 

Cree were the %uppliant~.~ As Baird expressed it: 

Hunger and nakedness beset them, and they had to trust 
to the government and the missionaries to take p i t y  on 
them. The government bought their title to the lands, 

"PAM, RG10, Reel C-10123, Vol. 3706, File 18,809. 
Copies from National Archives of Canada. Flett to Indian 
Affairs, 3 January 1880. 

"Morris, 336. 



promising in payment annuities, schools, implements, 
food in times of scarcity." 

That, of course, was the point of v i e w  of the  convener of 

the Presbyterian FMC. But others agreed. Indian 

~ommissioner J.A.N. P r o v e n c h e r  reported that the Indians had 

confidence in the new plan. They understood that a change 

wôs absolutely necessary for them and that "the chase and 

the arrow8* were no longer viable as a means of livelihood." 

The Manitoba Ojibwa (or Saulteaux) applied ta the 

Lieutenant-Governor for treaties in the fa11 of 1870 because 

,. they were afraid of encroaching ~ettlement.~ Accordingly, 

on 21 August 1871 at Manitoba Post, the federal government 

made a treaty with the Saulteaux in southwestern Manitoba. 

In exchange for vast portions of land that the natives ceded 

to " H e r  Majesty," they were promised reserves equal to 1 6 0  

acres per family of five, a school for each reserve, and an 

annuity of three dollars per head. Of course, the Saulteaux 

thought they were going t o  have Yarge tracts of 

ground ... set a s i d e  for them as hunting grounds, including 

t i m b e r  lands, of which they rnight sel1 the wood as if they 

were proprietors of the ~oil.~'' They were told that they 

"Frank Tough, 'Thanges to the Native Economy of 
Northern Manitoba in the Post-Treaty Period: 1870-1900,fl 
Native Studies R e v i e w  1 (1984): 5 1 .  





After treaties were signed, the Indians were consigned 

to reservations. The Saulteaux at Riding Mountain d i d  not 

irnmediately agree on a location for a reserve after they 

signed Treaty Number Two in 1871. A part of the band under 

Noos-Koos and Ousoup wanted to settle between the Turtle and 

Valley Rivers, on the south side of Lake Dauphin, the area 

first given them by the treaty, but Mekis and his band, who 

lived at Riding Mountain, wanted their reserve near the HBC 

Post where their Eathers had lived. One of their chiefs 

whose descendants numbered 75 in 1874, was buried near the 

Post." Eventually the ma jcrity voteà  to settle in the 

latter area, while some continued to live south of Lake 

Dauphin where huntinq and fishing was better." 

The difficulty of determining the location of the 

reserve points to the problem of expecting several bands, 

each with its own traditional hunting grounds, to settle 

together in one place. Baird, FMC convener, saw other 

problems with reserves. He pointed out that "a band of 500 

savagesw herded together "with almost enough food and 

clothingtr did not make for honesty s i n c e  they would 

'=TARIZ RGlO V o l .  3613 File 4042, Letter from Alexander 
Morris, Lieutenant Governor of the North West Territories to 
Gibbs, Secretary of State, Ottawa, 17 October 1874. See 
also letter from Department of the Interior to Morris, 21 
September 1874. This ancestor likely was Michael Cardinal 
or Little Bone. 

"Neufeld, rtKeeseekoowenin. Ir Çee also TARR, RG10, Vol. 
3555, File 13, H. Martineau (Indian agent) to Provencher, 15 
May 1877. 



certainly find an excuse to have an "imitation buffalo huntff 

among the neighbouring ranchers' cattle! Further, they 

would not learn how to live an exemplary Christian life from 

the frontiersmen who lived beside themO2' 

With these  difficulties in mind, the FMC felt compelled 

to send a missionary into the area. I n  1873 they gave Flett 

a "roving commission .. .amoncg several widely scattered Indian 
bandsw around Fort Pelly and also south and west of Riding 

M~untain.~' Flett arrived at Ithis f ieldfr near Fort Pelly 

sonetime before 23 July 1873. Althouqh he was sent by the 

FMC, he had borrowed two hundred dollars for h i s  outfit. 

M r .  McBeath ( o r  McBeth), the B.B.C. officer at Fort Pelly 

gave h i m  a "kind reception."" From the beqinning, Flett 

worked as an itinerant r n i n i s t e r  travelling m a n y  miles to 

contact his prospective parishioners. In October 1874, he 

wrote to John Black: "1 travelled the first part of 

September north and west of this place. 1 have s e e n  al1 t h e  

"See letters from John Black to McLaren 25 July and 30 
August 1873, VUA, John Black Fonds 3021, box 1, file 2. See 
also The Acts and Proceedinas of the Presbvterian Church i n  
Canada (APP) 1 8 8 4 ,  Report of the FMC (Western Section), 
Appendix, lxxix: «[Flett] speaks very gratefully of the 
kindness shown him by Mr. McBeth, H.B.C. officer in charge  
of Fort Pelly." 



Indians who trade at Fort Pelly." He had travelled 232 

miles that month." 

His wife, Mary, and his adopted daughter, Annie, were 

often with h i m .  Mary took an active part in the services 

with the Indians, reading the "Indian hymnsu to t h e  

audience. T h e  F l e t t s  used psalms and paraphrases which they 

had translated into the language of their listeners." A 

year later, Flett wrote t h a t  when they were "out with t h e m , "  

they "sang the same psalm or paraphrase over and over again 

for a weekw and soon four  men and two women could sing very 

well and were a great help to the ~letts." The areas where 

Flett was t o  minister, when he first came t o  south-western 

Manitoba in 1873, were separated by 150 miles; it soon 

became obviaus that he zould n c t  attend t o  such  a large 

district. 

In 1874, Flett wrote that in his itinerant ministrÿ, he 

visited the Riding Mountain area (where the Fletts had 

established their home), Bird Tai1 River, Fort Ellice, Shaal 

"WA, Canada Presbyterian Church Fonds, Correspondence 
of the Foreign Mission Committee Western Section, Manitoba 
~orres~ondence, fonds 116/2/1, box 1, file 7 ,  Flett to 
Black, 19 October 1873. 

" W A ,  Canada Presbyterian Church Fonds, fonds 116/2/1, 
box 1, file 7, Flett to Black 19 October 1873. One of 
George Flettrs handwritten Cree syllabic hymnbooks is 
located in Flettrs file at the UCA, Winnipeg. 

"WA, fonds 116/2/1, box 1, file 7 ,  Flett to Black, 23 
November 1874, 



Lake, and Dejarlis." The bandfs uncertainty about their  

reservers location explains why the FMC reported in 1876 

t h a t  Flett had chosen to establish his headquarters where 'la 

considerable bodyw of Indians were 'likely to become 

permanently resident."" The location Flett chose for his 

mission was southwest of Riding Mountain on the Little 

Saskatchewan River, near the present town of Elphinstone, 

about one-hundred miles southeast of Fort Pelly and 160 

miles northwest of Winnipeg (on the Okanase reserve)." From 

this centre, Flett was to minister also t o  o t h e r  reserves 

such as  Rossburn (Waywayseecappo) and Rolling River. Flett 

named h i s  mission ltOkanasen which meant "Little Bonet' in t h e  

laquage of the Ojibwa people." Whereas Nisbet had named 

the first Presbyterian mission Prince Albert in honour of 

the royal consort, Flett named h i s  mission i n  hcnour of the 

band's famous deceased chief. 

FLettfs position with the Saulteaux a t  Okanase was that 

of an itinerant missionary but his relationship was that of 

an equal and a listener. He consulted with the Indians 

"wA, fonds 16/2/1, box 1, File 7, Flett to Black, 23 
November 1874. 

"AFP 1876 , Appendix 158. 

'"Baird, 17. See also APP 1883, Appendix xcvi-xcvii. 

"Donaghy, 4. According to Cowiers reference to the 
Indians at Okanase in 1869, the area was likely already 
named but Flett did not rename the mission after the British 
monarchy . 



about t h e i r  expectations and wishes.  When F l e t t  first came 

t o  t h e  F o r t  P e l l y  area, al1 the Indians who traded a t  the  

F o r t  came t o  h i s  p l a c e  to hold  what F l e t t  c a l l e d  a "great 

Counc iLW A t  t h i s  meeting, he l i s t e n e d  t o  their q u e s t i o n s  

and responded t o  them. The i r  f i r s t  concern was to know why 

F l e t t  was t r a v e l l i n g  through t h e i r  count ry .  H e  answered 

that he had corne t o  read t h e  Bib le  t o  them and t o  pray  with 

them and f o r  them. The I n d i a n s r  opinion was t h a t  he should 

have corne t a  them a f t e r  they had signed a t r e a t y .  (The 

Indians  around F o r t  P e l l y  came under Treaty N o .  4 which was 

signed 15 Septemher 1874.) F u r t h e r ,  the  o l d e r  men thought 

t h a t  t h e  government shou ld  have s e n t  them a missionary fram 

Canada. Flett t o ld  tbem that if they got a Canadian 

miss ionary ,  t h e y  would just look a t  each o t h e r  and make 

signs b u t  t h e y  would n o t  be able t a  unders tand o n e  ancther. 

Then a  younq man "go t  up and s a i d  t h a t  for h i s  p a r t  he would 

rather have one of  his own kind.t l  I n  t h e  end,  there w e r e  

on ly  t h r e e  o l d e r  peop le  who s t i l l  wanted someone from the 

East .  Voor  peop le , "  F l e t t  commented, "not t h a t  t h e y  ca red  

for anyone from Canada o n l y  t h e y  thought  it would p l e a s e  t h e  

governrnent who shou ld  be sent t o  make the  t r e a t y  for their 

lands.11 He also observed t h a t  he found t h e  llyoung men much 

wiser t han  t h e  o l d  men."" A t  t h e  end of t h e  d i s c u s s i o n ,  the 

"WA, fonds 116/2/1, Box 1 File 7 ,  F l e t t  t o  Black, 1 9  
October 1873. 



assembled Indians said they would gladly let Flett read to 

them when he came ta visit them in their homes. 

In O c t o b e r  1874, a child belonqing to one of Flett's 

neighbours at Riding Mauntain died. A "great number of 

Indiansn asked Flett to select a "burying place." He told 

them that they should have a choice in the matter as well. 

One of the young men went with him to find a suitable spot. 

Many Indians came to the funeral conducted by Flett." 

The events around this child's funeral offer a contrast 

t o  the  first funeral Nisbet conducted at Prince Albert. A 

young Indian man, brcther to a "conjurerw called the Bow, 

was very il1 durinq the first winter that the missionary 

expedition was there. After Nisbet and FLett visited him, 

he apparently requested baptism and he died shortly after 

his request was fulfilled. Nisbet asked the Bow what was to 

be done with the body. The answer was, IfThe body is yours-- 

we have no clah to it--do with it as you like, we shall not 

interfere." When Nisbet asked the Cree to choose a burial 

plot, he recorded that they merely replied h e  should do as 

he thought best. In fact, they asked that the body be taken 

to Nisbetrs place until the burial. Although some of the 

family came to Nisbet's house  he commented: 

Only one old Indian looked at the body after it was 
dressed and none came to the grave. Not one of those 
who spent Monday night with us asked to see the body as 
it lay in the coffin. Had we not taken charge of it, 

" W A ,  fonds 116/2/1, Box 1 File 7, Flett to Black, 23 
November 18 7 4 . 



al1 the burial would likely have been in a shallow hole 
dug perhaps on the site of the tent where the poor man 
died and that a few hours after death- The Indians 
(like children) are afraid to look upon or touch a dead 
body except such of them as are chriçtianised."' 

Although Flett accompanied Nisbet throughout the visitation, 

baptism, and burial, Nisbet was in charge. Unlike Flett, he 

evidently did not consult or understand the fa rn i ly  of the 

deceased. Nisbet looked down on the Cree at Prince Albert 

in a paternal manner, calling them children, while Flett 

thought of the Saulteaux at Okanase as equals and actively 

involved them in the first Christian funeral at Riding 

Mountain. 

Flett's letters suggest that native response ta his 

message was somewbat indifferent at first. He wrote to 

Black, must Say that they are very careless. They are 

not ... against it but they are not fond of it." Presumably, 

he meant Christianity. Sometimes as many as fifteen people 

came t o  Sunday meetings, but sometimes nobody showed up."' 

In 1874 attendance at prayer meetings often stood at forty: 

yet Flett commented that "the Indians are very good to us 

but not very good to them~elves.~" He apparently meant t h a t  

they did not accept his Christian message even though they 

4DWA, James Nisbet fonds 3240, 116/2/2, file B, Nisbet 
to Reid, 18 January 1867. 

"WA, fonds 116/2/1, Box 1, File 7 ,  Flett to Black 19 
October 1873. 

"WA, fonds ll6/2/l, Box 1, File 7, Flett to Black, 23 
November 1874. 



came to his meetings. Flett gave no indication in his 

letters that he was related to the Cree and Saulteaux arnong 

whom he lived and worked. The o n l y  hint of kinship is that 

the younq man at the Fort Pelly Council called Flett "one of 

his own kind' which could mean simply that Flett was a 

bicultural person who spoke Cree .  

By the time Flett got to Ridinq Mountain in the mid 

1870s, the economic situation of the Saulteaux was 

precarious, and it continued to decline. The hunt was not 

as successful as in times past, and agriculture presented 

its c m  problems in that area. According to the surveyor 

Wagner, Flett was teaching t h e  Saulteaux t o  c u l t i v a t e  t h e i r  

land during t h e  summer of 1875. But grasshoppers des t royed  

t h e i r  crops. I n  September of that year, J.A.N. Provencher, 

the Indian Comissioner, received an urgent letter from the 

chief and headmen at Riding Mountain. The band had not 

obtained the provisions from government house 

and having nothing to eat the Rev. Geo. Flett and Mr. 
Audy, clerk of the Hudson's Bay supplied us with a 
little which we desire you to return to them out of the 
Provisions intended for us....Our children starving we 
were obliged to kil an ox given to us by the government 
last spring and we trust he will be replaced by 
another....I beseech and implore you to do somethinq in 
case some of our people should fa11 sick and be unable 
t o  hunt. the greater p a r t  of them havinq large 
families would find it very  hard to see them starving 
around them so 1 trust you would [send] someone in this 



vicinity to help t h e m  a little i n  t h e  way of 
provisions. "' 

Keeseekoowenin and O s h o o p "  also ordered seed for potatoes, 

barley, turnips, cabbageç, carrots, onions, beets, and corn 

since they wanted to begin fanning on a large scale the 

following spring. They wrote t h a t  the previous spring, they 

had been sent only a very small quantity of seed from the 

government, y e t  the treaty had promis& them seed. They 

also requested some medicine, cough mixture and blister 

remedy. Keeseekoowenin and Oçhoop signed the letter, and it 

was witnessed by George Flett. 

Sirice Keeseekoowenin and Gshoop could not speak 

English, Flett or Audy must have interpreted their message 

and fFlled in gaps to make t h e  Letter understandable ta an 

English reader. What the band leaders dictated was very 

likely in a different sequence and could have been put into 

acceptable chronological order by Flett and Audy. Flett and 

Audy were "absent  editors," who gave the impression that the 

letter was created by the band leaders. O r  they may have 

"TARR, RGlO V3555 FI), Riding Mountain Band to 
Provencher, 10 September 1875. This letter is written in 
flowing handwri t ing ,  not Flettfs. It may be Audy who wrote 
the letter for the band. Keeseekoowenin and Oshoop signed 
with an X (his mark). 

"The spelling of the name tlOshooplt varies from place to 
place. The signature in t h i s  letter is as above. 



been amanuenses, "simple transcribers ... of an elder's 

In January 1880, Flett wrote to John Black that he had 

been too busy to send formal reports of the mission. He had 

had to make four trips to a camp of Indians to the north to 

bring them food, medicine, and clothing (the last item sent 

by the women in Winnipeg). He wrote: 

I saw very well that there was danger their freezing to 
death, so 1 got my team of horses and made two trips 
and brought them al1 to my place-twenty of them .... In 
nearly a month 1 have from 20 to 25 to feed every 
day...,The work is prospering fast, thanks be to God; 
we have not a house among us that can hold the half of 
us at meetings. These hard times are good for the 
work. Well may he Say: "Before 1 was afflicted 1 went  
astray but now 1 keep thy word "...The $260 that was 
promised ne f o r  t h e  money 1 spent on the house, I did 
not get by the first of April. 1 will have to sel1 off 
my own lands to make some paynents to the H.B. Co. and 
that 1 would not like to do, I wish to keep something 
for Mrs. Flett if 1 should go before her."' 

In January 1882, Flett wrote to Dr. MacLaren, FMC 

convener at Toronto, that he had been too busy to send in 

the report on the work at Okanase that MacLaren had 

requested last September. Flett had been among the sick and 

dying both night and day and he had no time to make up a 

"~ee Jennif er S. H. Brown, ttDocumentary Editing: Whose 
Voices?" in Occasional Papers of The ~hamnlain Societv 
(Toronto: 1992), 10. 

V U A ,  fonds 122/14, Box 1 File 2, Flett to Black 17 
January 1880. The letter is not in Flettfs writing and 
spelling, capitals, and periods are corrected. The same 
writing continues, on the same page, with a letter written 
by John McKay. Someone at FMC headquarters has recopied 
letters . 



report such as MacLaren desired. He would try t o  mite one 

in spring. Flett continued: 

Meantirne 1 may as well let you know that you canrt 
expect much from my field owing to the amount of 
poverty and sickness which is ever among us. 1 have 
never asked much for my Indians from the Presbytery 
owing to the continual cry about the poverty of the 
Church but think my tinte has now corne as 1 f ind this 
mission not doing nearly so well as who are getting 
aid. 

In a postscript, Flett added that he was the one who needed 

some aid. He had given so much to his parishioners, buying 

medicine with his own money whenever they w e r e  sick, that he 

found himself "rather out of pocket ." '  

The  FMC conveners responded tc Flettrs plea for help in 

their own tirne. Eventually, they repaid some of the money 

FLett borrowed to build the church  at Okanase and to h e l p  

his people. In January 1883, Flett wrote MacLaren that he 

had been able to pay off some of his debt w i t h  money that 

was s e n t  to h i m  so he dutifully s e n t  his report t o  head 

office, although he wrote that it was hard for him t o  Say 

what babies had been born because  "Indians do not know the 

days or months."" In 1885, the Wornenfs Missionary Society 

s e n t  one sack of clothing, one sack of oatmeal, and twenty- 

"WA, fonds 122/14, Box 1, File 3, Flett ta MacLaren, 2 
January 1882. 

4 8 ~ A ,  Ponds 122/14, box 1, file 4, Flett to MacLaren, 9 
January 1883. 



five gallons of molasses to Okanase for relief.4g Women from 

eastern Canada s e n t  many barrels of  used clothing. From 

their point of view, white Canada was helping the "poor 

Indian. tr 

How did Flett see the Okanase people? Did he think of 

them a s  objects for missions or did he relate to them as his 

kinfolk? In his 1890 r e p o r t ,  he opened a window through 

which we can glimpse how he related to the Saulteaux, He 

wrote : 

The Indian men on this reserve can work as well as most 
of your Comon Whit folk. my Church and manse was built 
by the Indians of Okanase. make Thier bob sleighs and 
do a l1  kind of work yes and some of them can drink 
whisky Too - learn -by whit folk 
The woman or wives ar very Clever most of them is very 
clean and tidy Hal hay and Clain out stables Buck saw 
wood yoke up there duble team drve to Church. this They 
do when the nen arr off hunting - old and youncj make or 
nit mittens and socks as well as any old scotch Ladie-" 

The Okanase people drank, Flett adntitted, but they got this 

habit from Europeans. Flett did not condemn Okanase men for 

leaving their farms t o  hunt. The civilizing mission of 

promoting agriculture as the only way of life was not 

uppermost in his mind. He defended t h e  Okanase r e s i d e n t s  as 

hard-working people, clever and industrious. They built the 

church and the manse, most likely reciprocating for a l 1  that 

Flett had done for t h e m .  The relationship went both  ways. 

49~omenfs  Missionarv Society in Manitoba 1884-1959 
(Winnipeg,l959), 16. 

"UCA, Baird Collection, E358-360, Flett to Baird, 28 
March 1890. 



When his people were experiencing hard t i m e s ,  t hey  could 

coun t  on their missionary to see them through. 

On 12 October 1883, Thomas Hart, convener of the 

Manitoba FMC r e p o r t e d  to Thomas Wardrope, convener of the 

FMC of t h e  Nor th  West Church i n  Canada, t h a t  George F l e t t  

had again "according to instructionsw visited the Indian 

reserve  near F o r t  P e l l y .  Upon his r e t u r n ,  Flett had 

"presented a petition from certain Indian chief s 

representing a population of more than 600 on t h e  reserves 

near F o r t  P e l l y  a s k i n g  for Mr, F l e t Y s  appointment as their 

missionary." Flett was w i l l i n g  to do this. The Manitoba 

FMC had instructed Flett to spend the next six months " i n  

that field," l1still retaining however the oversicjht of the 

Okanase Mission, where twenty-six families now resided, al1 

descendants of Chief Okanase (Little ~ o n e )  . '' He w a s  to get 

$300 for his expenses, above his annual salary. In the ten 

years that F l e t t  had worked in the Rid ing  Mountain and Fort 

Pelly areas, he had won the c o n f i d e n c e  of the native people 

to the p o i n t  t h a t  they petitioned for him to be their 

missionary. 

From the point of view of t h e  FMC, the Saul teaux  a t  

Okanase had been civilized t o  the e x t e n t  t h a t  they l i v e d  

almost l i k e  Europeans; at least that was the p u b l i c  

"WA, fonds 122/14/1, Box 1, File 4, Hart t o  Wardrope, 
12 October 1883.  See also APP, 1883, Appendix xcv i -xcv i i .  



presentation.'' According to Baird, FMC convener at 

Winnipeg, the whole band had become Christian by 1895. 

Baird wrote: 

The old chief, the father of a grown up fainily of 
twelve children, saw them all, with his wife, become 
Christians and still remained [pagan], but a few years 
ago, after listening to Mr. Flett's pleas for fourteen 
years, his heart yielded and the whole family is now 
united in the Lord's service." 

That chief was Keeseekoowenin, who received the Christian 

name of Moses Burns when he was baptized." Although Chief 

Okanase (Michael Cardinal), Keeseekoowenin's father, had 

predicted on his death-bed that a missionary would soon corne 

to the area and had stronqly urged his people to listen to 

this missionary, his son held out for many years . 
to Peter Neufeld, Keeseekoowenin was "over six feet tali, cf 

magnificent physique, an excellent buffalo hunter, trapper, 

and farmer, and an outstanding runner." He believed in 

syncretism, that is, he kept his native belief in the Great 

Spirit and combined it with his Christian faith. He had a 

high regard for al1 wildlife. Neufeld goes on to Say that 

- - 

"UCA, APP 1888, Appendix 4, xvii. 

"Baird, 18 . 
54~eeseekoowenin may have been named after Foreign 

Missions convenor R.F. Burns. In Donaghy's farnily tree of 
Michael Cardinal's descendants, the chief is called 
Keeseekoowenin Burns. 



"his mixture of traditional and christian religious beliefs 

harmonized with the teachings of ~lett."~' 

The Hudson's Bay Company's point of view on the 

community was that Riding Mountain had become a money-losinq 

post. In the mid 1 8 8 0 ~ ~  the Saulteaw at Riding Mountain 

were unsettled because of the "RebellionW in the North- 

 est." They did not pay their debts and they did not hunt 

a s  s u c c e s s f u l l y  as usual. I n  1888, they cut a lot of lumber 

that coüld not be sold and the hunt was bad due ta inclement 

weather." In succeeding years, HBC reports from Riding 

Mountain noted many bad debts, although they acknowledged 

that the Saulteaux there were still good hünters. In 1890, 

it became obvious that the post would have to be closed 

soon ,  because expenses were higher than p r o f i t s . j a  

Econornically, t h e  Saulteaux at R i d i n a  Mountain were in 

such  a bad way that the HBC abandoned them. Spiritually, 

they were said to be a success. Every year t h e  Okanase 

reserve was held up by the Presbyterian F'MC as a model; a 

jewel among Indian missions in the North-WestO5' Little was 

"HBcA D.19/3 and D.19/6. 

"HBCA D.18/7, fo. 778 and B.334/e/2. 

" ~ e e  APP 1876, Appendix p. 72; 1877, Appendix Ixviii; 
1878, Appendix Ixxii. Flettrs success at Okanase was always 
highlighted. 



said to the constituency about the economic difficulties at 

the reserve. The public i m a g e  was very strong; Flett, now 

advancinq in years, was a hero among rnissionaries. 

The private reality of how a Presbyterian Foreign 

Mission C o r n m i t t e e  and its white employees related to a 

bicultural missionary, however, was rather different. 

George  Flett may have aspired, to some extent and for a 

short period of time, to become a Revrd Gentleman, but he 

quickly learned that such a position was almost impossible 

for a bicultural person, as his Prince Albert experience 

explicitly demonstrated. As the next cha~ter on his 

Presbyterian relationships shows, it was easier for him to 

become an "Old Philosopher," a station for which the native 

side of his family had probably prepared hirn in h i s  

childhood, and towards which he was inclined befare he 

became a missionary. 



Chapter VI 

George Flett and the Presbyterian Foreign Missions 

Committee, 1874-1897 

In June 1874, the FMC reported to the General Assembly 

t h a t  d u r i n g  t h e  1873 t o  1874 year, "new ground [hadl been 

occupied by the appointment of Mr. George Fletttl who was a 

"an earnest and devoted-..Christian laynan." He had been 

Wery highly recornmended to t h e  C o r n m i t t e e n  and waa qualified 

for mission work among the "IndiansVt because of "bis 

thorough farniliarity with the Cree laquage and acquaintance 

w i t h  Indian habits and modes of tho~ght.~' F l e t t  was 

Vicensed and ordained missionary to t h e  Ind ians"  S y  t h e  

P r e s b y t e r y  of Manitoba on 13 August 1875 and received as a 

member of t h e  Presbytery.Ve was fifty-seven years old 

when he was ordained; his formative years were behind him. 

His outlooks on life and people were surely already well 

developed. 

Flett worked under the auspices of the Synod of 

Manitoba and the North West FMC and was categorized as a 

lrforeignll r a t h e r  than a home missionary because  t h e  people 

on the reserves were not c o n v e r t e d  o r  Caucasian and were 

l i k e  Irother h e a t h e n s  of  a strange tongue. Because  

preaching, teaching, and publishing books (such as hymn 

'UCA, APP 1874, Appendix 58. 

'AFP 1876, Appendix 72. 



books and Bibles) in native languages presented unique 

challenges and because churches on reserves were not usually 

self-supporting, the V o r e i g n  board's expertise better 

suited the case of the Indians.IrJ 

The FMCrs mandate was to send missionaries to foreign 

lands. By 1866, however, its members were increasingly 

cognizant of the fact that many "heathenW were in their own 

country. Their 1866 report printed an illustration of a 

woman who looked through a telescope towards Africa and its 

inhabitants, while "a little wild Arab of the cityn pulled 

at her skirt and asked: "Am not 1 dark and dirty enough?" 

They argued that under the present circumstances, mission 

wcrk in Canada was as i m p c r t a n t  as missions abroad. The 

"harvest' was already "whiten and al1 that was necessary was 

to t t p ~ ~ ~ e ~ ~  the land."" 

For some raason, overseas mission work was more popular 

than missions in Canada. The FMC had t o  convey t h e  message 

to their  public constituency that native peoples on their 

reserves were as spiritually needy and as foreign as people 

across the ocean. Furthermore, there was danger to al1 

Canadians if native needs were ignored. Foreign missions 

'Michael C. Coleman, Presbyterian Miss iona ry  Attitudes 
toward American Indians. 1837-1893 (Jackson: University 
Press of Mississippi, 1885), 15. Although Coleman's book is 
about the policies of the United States Presbyterian Church, 
it is highly likely that Canadian Presbyterian missionaries 
to the Indians worked under the FMC for the same reasons. 

'APP 1966, Appendix xivi. 



seemed more romantic and glamorous to constituents so it was 

necessary, in order to raise support, to explain that 

Voreignl mission work in Canada was vitally important. 

Baird wrote: 

Our young and growing nation cannot harbor within its 
borders solid masses of heathenism, such as Indian 
reserves are, without suffering the contamination which 
must corne from the peculiar moral and social ideals 
entertained in these communities. Possibly we affect 
to d e s p i s e  their barbarism and their dirt, but we are 
influenced by it none the less. ... It is therefore 
incubent upon us as citizens, no less t h a n  as 
Christians, to Save and build up this people. T t  is 
our only safety, no less than our plain duty. This 
emphasizes the necessity of aiming at civilization in 
Indian mission work.' 

Baird c m t i n u e d  that in China or in Hindostan it did not 

matter whether Christians spoke English or not, but the 

Indians who lived in Canada had to learn the national 

language both so that they could become citizens and so that 

they could better handle the "peculiar temptations which 

With regard to FMC reports and Baird's pamphlet, The 

Indians of Western Canada, two questions need to be 

answered. Why and for whom were the reports created? 

Clearly, Baird's stereotype of natives was that they were 

dirty, heathen barbarians. The reports were created to 

convince the constituency of the need to bring about change 

on the reserves. presbyterian constituents needed to become 

'Baird, 6. 

%aird, 6. 



sympathetic to the cause because large amounts of money were 

needed to run mission stations, day schools, boarding 

schools, and industrial schools. Among other techniques, 

Baird used the t o o l  of nationalism to gain a hearing. What 

would happen to good, c l e a n  citizens of Canada if the 

reserves were not purified and civilized? 

Another rationale for Presbyterian missions was that 

they needed to retire the "old debtft to the "Poor Indian."' 

The reference tu a debt was taken from the Apostle Paul's 

statement that he was a "debtor both to the Greeks, and to 

the Barbarians, both t o  the wise, and to the unwise."' The 

Presbyterians were not debtors materially, because their 

settlers had not yet taken land from native peoples. The 

Cree and Saulteaux were still independent and powerful in 

1866. The debt, however, was a spiritual one, and an urgent 

one .  Other denominations were sending missimaries and the 

Presbyterians must nct be l e f t  behind. 

Our V i t t l e  sister' in England [probably the Church 
Missionary Society] ... may well teach us an example. 
Though little among the thousands of Israel, she has 
thrown h e r s e l f  on the very Malakoff of Paganism. It is 
like the stripling David going forth to do b a t t l e  with 
the vaunting giant. Let us imbibe the same heroic 
spirit. Time is pressing; the forces are mustering. 
It behooves us to get up into the high mountain, to 
take a wide survey, and to devise plans in some degree 

'APP, repart of the FMC in the minutes of the Synod of 
the Canada Presbyterian Church, 1863, 83-84 and 1864, 
xlviii. 

'~omans 1:L4 (KJV). 



conunensurate with the vastness of the field to be 
overtaken, and the magnitude of the work to be done,' 

It was shameful that while Roman Catholics, t h e  Church of 

England, and Methodists had missionaries in the great l a n d s  

north and west of Red River, the Presbyterians had n o t  

contributed to t h e  evangel ization of t h e  "large bands of 

Cree Ojibbway (or Saulteaux), Assineboine, Blackfeet, Sioux 

and other Indians, numbering some 30,000.~'~ Yet, although 

the "melting Macedonian callw" had corne to the 

Presbyterians, they found that the Cree at Prince Albert 

were not anxious to receive them, nor were the Saulteaux at 

Okanase waiting with open arms. 

The expectation of the FMC was that reserves to which 

they sent m i s s i o n a r i e s  would become nciviiized.'r From 1875 

to 1891, the annual FMC reports to the Presbyterian 

c o n s t i t u e n c y  celebrated Okanase as  an example of how 

civilized a reserve could become under ideal conditions. 

The Saulteaux at Okanase had made W e r y  decided progress 

towards material cornfort," read the 1883 report. They had 

good gardens, cornfortable  houses, and excellent crops. 

Although they cultivated only ten t o  twelve acres each, they 

'"ee t h e  overture of the Presbytery of Manitoba 9 May 
1877. VUA, fonds 122/14. 



were able to grow enough to m e e t  their needs." In 1886, the 

FMC reported to the annual  Presbyterian Assembly that 

when Mr. Flett entered on his labours the Indians were 
pagan and uncivilized, and now they are a Christian 
community, living in comparative comfort, and, in the 
regularity and interest of their Church attendance, 
giving a good example to their white neighbours." 

In 1888, the FMC reported that through Flett's work at 

Okanase, the Cree and Ojibwa had become farmers--alrnost as 

civilized as white people. Although the buildings they had 

erected met FMC standards, t h e  Saufteaux were still 

participating in the hunt t o  t h e  detriment of their 

agricultural p u r s u i t s . ' "  

The highest goal of t h e  FMC was that the residents on 

t h e  reserves t o  which they sent missionaries s h o u l d  also 

become ~hristian. Readers of FMC reports expected that 

native peoples should give up their own religions and many 

of t h e i r  cultural conventions and embrace Christianity 

wholeheartedly. In 1895 Baird wrote for the benefit of the 

c o n s t i t u e n c y  : 

M r .  F l e t t  h a s  continued...in charge of Okanase, and 
now, in h i s  79th year, when he tells us his resignation 
is at hand, it is his comfort to be surrounded by a 
body of Christian Indians who reflect credit on the 
training t h e y  have had." 

12APP 1883, xcvi. 

"APP 1886, Appendix x c i .  

"APP 1888, Appendix 4, x v i i .  

"~aird, 17-18. 



In 1945,  Donaghy in his reminiscences stated that at the end 

of Flettfs rnissionary career, every person at Okanase had 

accepted ~hristianity. The medicine man no longer had any 

influence; pow-wows and Sun dances were unknown to t h e  

younger generation.16 

The Presbyterian Church also hoped t h a t  in tirne t h e i r  

foreign mission stations would become self-supporting and 

begin to contribute financially to the conference at large. 

As mission churches  matured, they should become miss ion -  

minded, that is, they should think not only of their own 

needs but also of the spiritual poverty of ~eoples yet 

unreached by the gospel. Concern f o r  others should lead 

mission churches to give for further outreach. FLett openi- 

stated, however, that the Okanase residents should not be 

expected to give f o r  church needs beyond the r e se rve .  E v e n  

five years a f t e r  he began t h e  mission, he encountered so 

much poverty and sickness at Okanase t h a t  he f e l t  it was 

wrong to ask the people to "centribute for the extension of 

C h r i s t ' s  cause throuqhout the world."17 

The Saulteaux at Okanase did, however, become self- 

supporting t o  some extent. In 1880, they built a 20 by 30 

f o o t  log church unoer Flett's supervision, roofed with hand- 

"WA, fonds 122/14, box 1 Pile 1, Flett to T. Duncan, 
FMC convener,  2 3  November 1878. 



made shingles." The materials for the building were funded 

at first by Flett but in t i m e  the FMC reimbursed him. 

According to public reports, and to some extent privately, 

Flett met the expections of the constituency, 

Public Relationships with Cornmittee Members 

Flettrs mandate went beyond the confines of the Okanase 

Reserve. He travelled in an area of two to three hundred 

square miles, preaching to the Cree and Ojibwa in their own 

languaqes, In some of thesa areas, such  as the Rolling 

River Reserve, he met with much resistance. In 1879 t h e  FMC 

reported that Flett brought the %cspel of Christu ta many 

"heathen Indiansen Some of the "heathenît whom Flett had won 

for the Presbyterians had previously been "baptized in the 

Romish ChurcheW Although the priest was trying hard to get 

them back, these people remained %teadfast in their 

attachment to the truthu and appeared to have "broken 

completely with [the Romish] system of errer."" 

The FMC reports to the annual General Assembly of the 

Presbyterian Church in Canada included glowing accounts of 

Flettts success. Although Indians on other reserves 

resisted the missionary message, the Okanase Reserve was an 

example of what the FMC hoped to achieve everywhere. In 

laAFP 1880, Appendix lxxxii. 

"APP 1879, Appendix lxxxiii. 
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1895, the year of Flettrs resignation, the Committee 

reported that in the twenty years that Flett had been the 

reserve missionary, he had "seen the transition from 

barbarism and superstition to civilization and 

Christianity. W' 

George Bryce, founder of Manitoba College and a member 

of the Manitoba FMC, after an inspection tour of Okanase in 

1887, said that Flett w a ç  an interpreter, a farm instructor, 

a foreman in building operations, a Christianizer, a 

civilizer, and a missionary who had saved the government 

enormous amounts of money." A f t s r  Flett resigned, the FMC 

report at the General Assembly about Okanase took the fora 

of a t r i b u t e  t3 Flettrs long career as a missionary. P u h l i c  

voices hailed Flett as a hero by virtue of his longevity and 

perseverance and as the instigator of the model of 

civilization Okanase had become, 

Private Relationships with Cornmittee Members and Colleagues 

For some time, Flett got alonq well with FMC cornittee 

members. In private correspondence, however, Flettrs 

relationships with the W C  increasingly diverged from the 

FMCrs public presentations. From 1874 to 1880, Flettfs 

letters and reports were addressed for the most part to John 

?4PP 1895, Appendix 13, xxxvi. 

"Free Press 29 October 1897. Brycefs earlier 1887 
report is part of George Flettfs obituary. 



Black. These letters had a collegial and genial tone. But 

in early 1882, the tenor of his letters changed. He wrote 

t h a t  he had never asked for much from the Presbytery Var rny 

Indians owing to the continual cry about the poverty of the 

ChurchtT but now the time had corne ta tell t h e  FMC t h a t  he 

had spent much money out of his own pocket for the mission 

and he needed t o  be reimbursed. Many other missions, n o t  as 

poor as Okanase, were getting more aid." This letter has a 

cynical tone, and is especially sarcastic about money 

matters and the C o r n m i t t e e ' s  financial dealings with Flett. 

Thomas Hart, provincial FMC convener, interceded with 

the Toronto c e n t r a l  o f f i c e  for Flett on more than one 

occasion. Flett, h e  said, richly deserved to be cornpensated 

for money he had spent and he a l s o  deserved to have a grant 

of  land i n  his own name at Okanase." Flettrs expenses were 

eventually reimbursed, Flettfs t o n e  became mors cûngenial, 

and he had time to fil1 out reports again. He wrote that he 

would like to go to the Generaï Assembly but he could not 

afford it." In 1885, F l e t t  became hixnself a member of t h e  

FMC of t h e  Synod of Manitoba and the North West 

" W A ,  Fonds 122/14, Box 1, File 3, Flett to MacLaren, 2 
January 1882. 

"WA, fonds 122/14, Hart to McLaren, 6 February 1882. 

" W A ,  fonds 122/14, Flett to McLaren, 9 January 1883. 



Territories." Flett continued, through the intercession of 

Hart, to request that the Toronto FMC reimburse him for his 

expenses. O f t e n  it took some tirne before he was paid. 

Hugh McKay, who began mission work at Round Lake, 

Saskatchewan in 1884, w a s  irnpressed with what he saw at 

Okanase. The tlIndiansfl were living in "cornfortable 

circumstances having good houses, cattle, horses ,  Earming 

implements, and ... cultivat[ing! considerable of the land." 
He was ntoved by the communion service he attended at 

Okanase. He wrote to the FMC convener: "1 am not able to 

tell what my feelings were as 1 saw them take with their 

hands the emblems of the broken body & shed blood." As was 

often his task fcr pioneer missicnaries, Flett helped McKay 

find a suitable site to begin ministry among the Cree in the 

Round Lake area  of the Qu'Appelle valley. McKay spoke no 

Cree and needed an interpreter; six years l a t e r ,  however, 

his annual salary was $1,200 while Flettrs was $900.25 

In 1887, Andrew Browning Baird was called from Edmonton 

to teach at Manitoba College and sometime after that, he 

became the joint convenor (with Thomas H a r t )  and 

' W A ,  fonds 122/14, Thomas Hart to Thomas Wardrope, 
October 1885. 

"WA, fonds 122/14. Mackay to Wear S i r w  17 June 1884. 
See also fonds 122/1, Box 16, File 7 ,  for the salary grid 
for missionaries from March 1889 to March 1890. 



administrator for the FMC (Western ~ivision)." One of 

Flettfs first available letters to Baird was addressed to 

"Dear friend.lt It was a report, in Flettrs own words, about 

the Okanase, Rossburn, and Rolling reserves. Okanase was 

doing well, although the men continued to go away for the 

hunt. In Plettrs words, "if the Indians was keep on this 

reserve we would have make more to attend servicem But he 

hastened ta speak highly of his parishioners saying that the 

men worked hard, and that the women were clean and tidy, and 

could knit and sew2' Flett took same pride in the sewing 

s k i l l s  of t h e  Ojibwa women. On one occasion, when an 

eastern womenrs grûup sent a parce1 of clothing to Okanase, 

Flett got some of the Ojibwa women to c u t  out and s e w  a 

boy's suit. When it was completed, he sent it to the 

eastern donors to show them that Okanase women could sew 

well t00.~~ 

At the Rossburn r e s e r v e ,  Flett had not made s u c h  good 

progress because he d i d  not live with them and could not 

talk with then on a d a i l y  basis. About the Rolling River 

" ~ o h n  A.M. Edwards, Andrew Baird of Manitoba Colleae 
(Winnipeg: University of Winnipeg Press. 19721, 81. 

"UCA, Baird Collection, E358-360, Flett to Baird, 28 
March 1890. 

' W A ,  Micro P.S. BX 9001 AlOW. Reel 1 June 1896-June 
1898. "A Pioneer Missionary,lt The Westminster (6 November 
1897), 349. 



people he was pessimistic. They were seldom at home, often 

at Rapid City or Minnedosa drinking. 

They are as bad can be if not keept on there Reserve 
drinking and worse than drlnk that is if anything is 
worse They will soon die off That is al1 1 have to Say 
of them you know what 1 did up west last summer as well 
as 1 do, the old Indian C r a f t  is as bad now as it was 
in St. Pauls tirne.'* 

The 1888 FMC report stated t ha t  t h e  Rossburn and Rolling 

River residents were llsunk in the depths of pagan 

darkne~s.'~" This meant that they were still under the 

control of the medicine man and persisted in their own 

native religion which was unacceptable tu the FMC as xell as 

t o  F l e t t .  The m i s s i o n a r y  goal was that native people in 

their charge s h o u l d  "renounce f a i t h  i n  the nedicine man and 

become f ollowers of Jesus .  "'' 

I n  h i s  same letter, Flett again raised concerns about 

financial matters. He had s e e n  to "Brush Cleaning and fire 

Brakes . .  .ta Pro t ac t  the Mission propets" because he was 

often so far away from home that he needed t o  t a k e  

precautionary rneasures .  Again he had spent his own money 

and he did n o t  think it was r i g h t  but he wrote that he would 

Say no more until he saw Baird at Synod. 

'VCA,  Baird Collection E358-360, Flett to Baird, 28 
March 1890. 

"APP, Appendix 4, xvii, 1888. 

"APP, Appendix x x i ,  1889. 



Flettts postscript implied that he was on fairly good 

terms with Baird at this tirne. 

1 hope you well make out my bad writing 1 have not Mr. 
Lauder to writ for me now and if 1 wrot you in my own 
toung you could not read it neither a l 1  your Greek & 
~atin" 

If FletYs relationship with Baird had been strained, he 

could not have made such a sardonic remark about Baird's 

inability to read Cree in spite of the Eact that he had 

studied Greek and Latin. 

A f t e r  1890, Flett stopped addressing Baird as "dear 

Eriendw; instead he called Baird "dear sir" and the FMC 

became "gentlemen." He became increasingly angry at the way 

events unfolded at Okanase. In the mat te r  of the day school 

and teachers for it, Flett had major disagreements with 

Baird and the FMC. Missionaries offered education to native 

peoples in different forms. The industrial, or residential 

school, became popular in Manitoba in the last half of the 

nineteenth century." Baird, in his pamphlet The Indians of 

Western Canada, gave credit to James Nisbet for laying down 

Y h e  main principlen of these schools--the education of 

young people as one of the main methods of missions to the 

Cree. Nisbet, wrote Baird, provided the "germ of the 

"UCA, Baird Collection E358-360, Flett to Baird, 28 
March 1890. 

"The Davin report, in 1879, advocated that church 
agencies should provide education in industrial schools 
funded by the federal government. See Grant, 158. 



industrial school system, which [was] now proving so 

valuable a factor in Indian mission work every~here.~'~ The 

key t o  the alleged success of t h e  industrial school as  a 

tool for assimilation was that the children were removed 

from t he  influence and culture of their parents, "In the 

schoolsIn wrote Baird, wthe children are gathered and weaned 

away, as much as possible, from the filthy and debasing 

influences of their teepee life,tt'6 The industrial school at 

B i r t l e  was meant to attract children from the reserves under 

Flettr s care , " 

The school at Okanase, however, was a day school. Day  

schools did not have the same control over children that the 

industrial and boarding scbools had since children who lived 

at home did not attend as regularly. The general aims of 

day schoois were the same as the goals of the industrial 

schools, namely "temporal, intellectual and spiritual 

improvement."" Assimilation of the younger generation 

through church-run schools was the aspiration of bath 

government and mission organizations. 

Indian peoples, in general, saw a need for their 

children to learn to read and write in t h e  English language, 

"Baird, 21. 



the white man's secret of power, but they wanted to have 

some control in the process. The Saulteaux at Okanase, 

under the terms of their treaty, had been promised 

government funding for a school for their children. The 

Okanase day school began its operation in 1883.19 The first 

teacher was Donald McVicar, "hiniself an Indian, a fruit of 

the Prince Albert Mission in ML Nisbet's days, a graduate 

and rnedalist of the University of Manitoba" where he had 

earned a B.A. degree. McVicar had been a teacher in various 

mission schools before coming to Okanase." In 1883, the 

attendance at Okanase was thirty, twenty-four boys and s i x  

q i r l s ,  ranging in age from 8 to 26," When McVicar left in 

1886 Alexander Lauder, Flett's son-in-law, taught for some 

time and then in 1889 McVicar returned but he became l a z y  

and incompetent and needed to be replaced." 

In 1889, the FMC proposed ta send a woman to teach at 

Okanase. Flett pleaded with them to send John Black, 

another native teacher, rather than a white woman. Flett 

wrote that the schoolhouse was in no condition for a woman 

to live in; apparently the building served as both school 

"Baird, 16. 

"APP 1883, Appendix xcvi. 

"uCA, Baird Collection, E221, A. Coulter (Rapid City) 
to Baird, 16 November 1889. See also Baird Collection, 
E212, Flett to Baird, 21 October 1889. 



a n d  teacherage. The 1 6  by 18 foot edifice was heated with a 

mud f ireplace and had a mud chimney, like those used in some 

Indian homes." Clearly it was unsuitable for a female 

teacher but if she lived elsewhere, who would keep the 

school warm in winter? Flett went on: 

Both her and the children would freeze. Indian 
children is a very hard thing to manage for a lady it 
n e e d s  a good man to manage Indians not to be too harsh 
n o r  to be too easy." 

Flett's request was granted and John Black was sent to 

Okanase but his tenure did not last long because Flett was 

not satisfied with his teaching methods. Apparently Flettfs 

standards for teachers were quite  high." Accordinq to 

Flett, John Black had not taught the children prsperly in 

the last two years. He wrote: "Our Indians teachers is a 

F a i l l u r  they Know tao much. much learninq has made them 

mad . "'" 
In A p r i l ,  1890, Miss Cameron became the teacher. Flett 

met her, took her to his home, and made her welcorne. When 

Miss Cameron opened the school, she found that the children 

"UCA, Baird Collection, E212, FLett to Baird, 21 
October 1889. 

"APP, ~ppendix lxxxi, 1882. Cuthbert McKay, teacher at 
Crow Stand near Fort Pelly, was under Flettrs supervision. 
The FMC report stated that McKay gave Flett "great 
satisfaction, and we know that Mr. Flettrs standard is very 
high. " 

'UCA, Baird Collection, E378-379, Flett to Baird, 11 
April 1890. 



were not as dirty as she  had expected, b u t  they could speak 

very  little English. They had a s t r o n g  s m e l l  about them 

which she found sickening, the school was dark, dingy, and 

d r e a r y ,  and the blackboard was a W r e t c h e d  wooden one full 

of kno t s  and cracks.Ir She w r o t e  B a i r d  that she could n o t  

p o s s i b l y  live in the schoolhouse." In a l e t t e r  to B a i r d ,  

Flett no ted  a l l  t h e  expenses that would be involved in 

improving the schoolhouse. Meanwhile, Miss Cameron cou ld  

live in t h e  Flettsf home while they went to Rossburn and 

Rolling R i v e r  for two weeks. 

One day during Carneronrs first months at Okanase, Chie f  

~ e e s e e k o o w e n i n  visited the school. He could speak no 

English, but the children interpreted for Miss Cameron that 

he s a i d  h e  had corne t o  see them. Cameron r e p o r t e d ,  V e  sar 

f o r  a while and l o o k e d ,  once filled his p i p e  b u t  didn't 

smoke, then shook hands and left ."" Obviously 

Keeseekoowenin wanted to know what t h e  new white woman 

teacher was teaching the Okanase children. Did the fact 

that he did n o t  smoke his p i p e  mean that he was n o t  

comple te ly  a t  peace w i t h  the education the children were 

receiving? 

"uCA, B a i r d  C o l l e c t i o n ,  E377, Cameron to Baird, 1 0  
April 1890. 

"UCA, B a i r d  C o l l e c t i o n ,  E476, Cameron t o  Baird, 4 
August 1890. 



By August of 1890, Miss Cameron complained of Flettrs 

moodiness" and by October, she had a major disagreement with 

Flett about the distribution of clothing s e n t  by the Womenfs 

Foreign Miss ionary  Society." By November 1890, disagreement 

between Cameron and Flett threatened to split the reserve 

i n t o  two factions .51 

The quarrel was exacerbated when Carneron won a 

government prize of $70 for conducting the best day school 

in the North-Western Superintendency in 1892 and again in 

1893." The w a r m  praise Cameron received front the €MC 

exasperated Flett and he threatened to resign. In January 

1893 he wrote Baird that he had never  expected to resign 

while he  could talk and drive a horse but this predicament 

was forc ing  him t o  t h ink  abaut it. H e  continued: 

1s it not strange that the Foreign Mission Committee 
and  I worked together so harrnoniously for twenty years 
and had no complaints? 1 also got along harmoniously 
with  the ladies of ~innipeg and those  in the east for 
ten years.--.I have worked also with t h e  different 
Indian Agents for twenty years without a word; but now 
the Foreign Mission Committee is down on me--The Ladies 

"UCA, Baird Collection, E476, Cameron to Baird, 4 
August 1890. 

"UCA, Baird Collection, E723-724, Cameron to Baird, 28 
October 1890. 

%CA, Baird Collection, E766, Flett to Baird, 8 
November 1890 .  

"APP 1893, Appendix 11, xlii. 



are down on me--The Indian Agent is down on me--So God 
help me its time 1 was out of this." 

The Committee replied to Flettrs complaints: 

The Committee finds fault with you for writing in a 
disparaging way about your fellow worker on the Okanase 
Reserve and for atterupting tu stir up the Indians of 
the Reserve against the method of teaching pursued in 
the school and it asks that this course of procedure be 
stopped at once.'" 

In an official school report form that Cameron completed for 

the FMC in December 1891, she wrote that she taught reading 

at four different levels, singing, memorization of simple 

Scripture passages, prayer, sewing, knitting, fancy work, 

carding wool, and spinning. There were nineteen pupils on 

the roll, with an average attendance of twelve.'" The 

inspecter whc visited the schaol had written in the register 

that "Miss Cameron has achieved most marked success and 

merits high rec~rnrnendation.~~~ 

If Cameron was so successful, what did Flett object to? 

When Cameron first came, she reported that the Okanase 

children knew very little English. Flett may have thought 

that education in Cree or Saulteaux was more beneficial than 

"UCA, Baird Collectian, F39-43, Flett +O Baird, 20 
January 1893. 

'"UCA, Baird Collection, F80, Baird to Flett, 24 
February 1893, 

55~ompare with 1883 attendance, when there were thirty 
students on the roll. 

-UCA, Baird Collection, E1466, Cameron to Hart, 
December 1891. The enrollment of nineteen in 1891 was lower 
than in 1883 when there were thirty students enroLLed. 



rote memorization in English. In addition, Cameron was 

spending much of her tirne teaching the girls to knit and 

sew. In Flettrs opinion, they could learn homemaking skills 

from their mothers. "Let them learn to read and write while 

they have the chance," wrote Flett to ~aird? Further, 

Cameron liked to give prizes to the children to encourage 

regular attendance. OEten these prizes were clothing from 

the parcels that came from eastern Canada. Flett wanted 

control over the distribution of these bundles. 

The praise Cameron was getting also irritated Flett. 

In 1893, an article appeared in the Western Missionary 

calling Cameron a missionary. FLett dictated an anqry 

letter to Baird [likely written by Lauder), complaining 

vehernently. He wrote: 

Would you be kind enough tc let me kncw who put this 
article in the Western Missionary? No one here ever 
knew she was one--least of al1 myself. The people in 
this neighborhood laugh at the whole farce of the thing 
and jokingly ask when Mrs. Forsyth [Cameronrs married 
name] turned missionary. She has never been anything 
in the shape of a missionary in visiting the sick or 
praying with them or in fact doinq even the smallest 
piece of missionary work yet you continue to praise her 
for work she has never done or attempted and any one 
reading such a misleadinq article as the one enclosed 
would think she was the Okanase missionary and that 1 
was not--when, as they Say Ver practical methods have 
already made a decided change." Yes but 1 think you 
wisely stopped your sentence then. I t s  too long an 
affair for an old-man like me to go into but if some of 
you wifl corne up you will find out from the Indians 
when the "changen is and who has been the missionary 
these last three years and sixteen before it. As for 

"ucA, Baird Collection, F39-43, Flett to Baird, 20 
January 1893. 



myself I'm tired quarrelling and either wish to know my 
own footing here or stick to my resignation." 

Fortunately for Flett Miss Cameron got married and left the 

reserve, but when Miss MacIntosh took over in the fa11 of 

1893, there was tension and friction between her and Flett 

as well. 

When Flett finally resigned in March 1895, the FMC 

appointed Robert C. McPherson as missionary at Okanase. He 

began his work sometime in the fall of 1895. McPherson and 

his wife were also appointed to teach in the reserve day 

school since Miss MacIntosh, Ifthe devoted and successful 

teacher of the Okanase SchoolfW was goinq back t~ Ontario. 

The FMC described McPherson as a nan who " f o r  a number of 

yearsn was Vavorably known in connection with Christian and 

educational work in this country.'l" The Baird Collection 

contains McPherson's provisional teacher's certificate dated 

June 1891, in Regina." McPherson wrote Baird that he  had 

many friends in Winnipeg so he must have lived on the 

prairies for some time."' 

'UCA, Baird Collection, F57, Flett to the FMC, 11 
February 1893. 

Sg~inutes and Re~ort s  of the Thirteenth Svnod of 
Manitoba and the Northwest Territories of the Presbyterian 
Church in Canada, November 1995, 33. 

6 0 U ~ A ,  Baird Collection, F279. 

"uCA, Baird Collection, G756, letter from McPherson t o  
Baird, 13 October 1896. McPherson was disturbed when the 
governnent failed to pay him for sick days. He wrote: Vt  
is degrading to think that our services are valued no higher 
t h a n  ordinary day laborers when Sickness prevents us from 



In his correspondence with Baird, McPherson reported 

that, in his opinion, Flett was "an earnest ~hristian*~!~~ 

But by the summer of 1897, McPherson was having 

difficulties, especially in getting an interpreter and he 

blamed Flett for being I1at the bottomt1 of al1 the tr~uble.~' 

However, when Flett died on 28 October 1897, McPherson 

reported that he was holding his little hymnbook and llhumbly 

but firmly trusting in the Lord Jesus Christ. It seems 

ludicrous that McPherson presumed to pronounce judgment upon 

Flett as  an earnest Christian. McPhersonts air of 

superiority, e s p e c i a l l y  since h e  h imse l f  was a fairly 

inexperienced educator and an unordained lay minister," was 

both patronizing and s u g g e s t i v e  of rac ia l  bias. 

McPherson modified the missionaryrs role at Okanase, 

and Flett vas there to see the changes takinq place. Two 

months before Flett's death his son-in-law, J.A. Lauder, 

described the transition in a letter: 

attending to our duties.' See Baird Collection, G1470-1472, 
letter from McPherson to Baird, 7 May 1897. 

"UCA, Baird Collection, G706, McPherson to Baird, 3 0  
September 1896. 

"ucA, Baird Collection, G1589-1590, McPherson to Baird, 
27 June 1897. 

6 4 U ~ A ,  Baird Collection, G888, McPherson to Baird 30 
November 1897. 

6 5 ~ n  the APP 1986 ~ppendix 6 ii, al1 ordained ministers 
in the Presbytery of Minnedosa are listed as Rev., while 
McPherson is c a l l e d  M i r .  



The Okanase Mission is not doing w e l l  now. The 
Missionary (McPherson) preaching away in English with 
no interpreter and none of his congreqation 
understanding a word-no bible class--no prayer 
meeting--no visiting the Indians in their own homes-- 
nothing but draw his pay and so little for it as 
possible. A fine new school built and 3 or 4 scholars 
at it, and a new house going to be put up for 
McPherson, when the old  mission home is good enough for 
anyone. Thats the way they throw away the money. 
Things w i l l  corne to a deadlock one of these days, I 
think. The old man is very angry at it a l L 6 "  

Flett was angry because the FMC sent a missionary who could 

not converse with the Okanase residents in their own 

language. He had earlier complained to Baird: 

1 do not see how Mrs. Forsyth  can have been such a good 
missionary when she cant speak any Indian. Have any of 
you ever tried to be a missionary without an 
interpreter? If not just try it and see the result." 

Public Presbyterian Church reports and private 

correspondence portrayed two very different sides of Flett. 

In the former, he was a hero while in the latter he w a s  a 

trouble-maker, at least in later years. 

Opinions of Other " W h i t e f t  Presbyterian FMC Employees about 

f lett 

1 have already noted that Europeans typically 

stereotyped bicultural people as dysfunctional, suitable 

only as go-betweens or mediators between two systems. Thus 

66PAM, Coldwell Papers, Box 7, Lauder to Coldwell, 29 
August 1897. 

"UCA, Baird Collection, F57, Flett to Baird, 11 
February 1893. 



L A .  Donaghy, the missionary who served at Okanase from 

1909-1917, believed that "people of mixed blood inheritred] 

the worst qualities of both races." But Donaghy had respect 

for Flettfs work on the reserve and h e  c o n s i d e r e d  Flett an 

exception to average biculteral persons. Flett, Donaghy 

said, "possessed the stronq points of the Scotch and 

Native." Frugal and determined like the Scots ,  he was also 

a good traveller who could "be at home any place under any 

circumstances regardless of physical dis corn fort^.^^^^ 

Other FMC employees of European background, who were 

Flettfs contemporaries, had greater reservations about 

bicultural missionaries. In 1375, before Flett was 

ordained, Hugh McKeller, missionary at Prince Albert, sent 

his views on the matter to William MacLaren, FMC convener at 

Toronto. John McKay, who had qone on the first missionary 

expedition to the North-West with N i s b e t ,  was still at 

Prince Albert and was now responsible to McKeller. He was a 

lTvery efficient assistant," McKeller reported, but it should 

be "bis duty in the f irst place to interpret for the 

missionary & the 2nd to assist the missionary to get a 

knowledge of the language/ McKeller found that McKay was 

prompt in his "duties connected with the Indian" but he was 

not as prompt to give Cree lessons to McKeller. McKeller 

thought these lessons should n o t  be given as a favour, but 

"Donaghy , 4. 



as a duty. McKay should be "employed as a catechist for the 

missionary subject of course to the missionary ... who would 

be responsible to the conunittee for the whole work." 

Considering that McKay had been at the Prince Albert mission 

for nine years, and that McKeller was a relative newcomer, 

it must have been difficult for McKay to maintain a 

cornpliant and submissive attitude at al1 times. 

McKeller continue6 his letter: 

Now I trust such a plan as this shall be adopted 
for the carrying on of general Indian Mission 
work--Mr. Black in his last letter mentioned that 
the Presbytery has asked the General Assembly to 
ordain Mr. Flett as missionary among the Indians. 
That may be a desirable step. 1 am n o t  acquaintsd 
with Mr. Flett personally. Parties who are 
acquainted with him speak highly of h i m .  Yet it 
would be well to be careful whom to orda in .  As 
the Presbyterian principles regard ail who are 
ordained to the office of the Holy Minister to be 
upon equal footing (that is officially of course). 

McKeller went on to Say that Flett did not have a proper 

education and so the church should be very cautious. If 

Flett were ordained, he would be authorized to administer 

the sacraments, not only to Indians, but to al1 who lived 

near the mission. For him to serve communion, rnarry, and 

baptize white people would Yower the dignity of the office 

of ordination as we see it to the eyes of the people." As 

for McKay, there had been talk of ordaining him as well. 

McKeller warned against such a step. The missionary, 

presurnably referring to himself, should have the 

responsibility. McKay should guard the horses and property, 



procure provisions, interpret, and teach the missionary the 

language . '' 
I n  1879, D.C. Johnson, missionary a t  Prince Albert, 

wrote to William MacLaren that in his opinion the FMC should 

make sure that white missionaries remained in charge of 

mission work on reserves. Johnson's rationale for this 

statement is puzzling. He wrote: 

Our English Missionaries must retain the control & 
active management of Indian work until our native 
workers regard it in a different light from what they 
now do. They regard the Indian as an inferior being 
and treat him accordingly. Our Mission children they 
have sought to make the veriest drudges .... 1 am sorry 
to Say that my efforts to see the children properly 
treated have not been seconded but thwarted in every 
possible way. 1 would candidly Say that with my 
present experience, 1 must regard any outlay made on 
children whose training and care are delegated to 
native missionaries as a misappropriation of the 
church s means. '' 

Howard Adams, in Prison of Grass, wrote that when white 

people, whom he called colonizers, chose natives as leaders 

to their people (the colonized), these leaders were often 

inculcated with middle-class standards. They assimilated 

the values and mentality of the colonizers and became more 

oppressive t h a n  white colonizers because they wanted to keep 

their jobs. So the new Vedn oppressor was %ore absolute, 

" W A ,  fonds 116/2, Box 1 File 12, Hugh McKeller to 
William MacLaren, 30 June 1875, 

'*WA, fonds 122/14, box 1, File 12, D.C. Johnson t o  
William McLaren, 20 February 1879. 



exploitive, manipulative, and brutaln than  the old *whitem 

oppressor. '' 

At Okanase, native school teachers John Black and 

Donald McVicar were in contact with the children, although 

Flett was in charge. Flett was not always satisfied with 

their performance because they thought they knew too much as 

a result of a little education. Perhaps they had a tendency 

to feel superior to Okanase students and their parents and 

to do anything to s a t i s f y  their employers. 

Flett h i m s e l f ,  however, as a bicultural employee, did 

not fit Adams' image. His correspondence with his employers 

never sounded as though he f e l t  inferior or had a need to 

i m p r e s s  them. His letters did not have a subservient or an 

overly pious tone. for example, in contrast to McPherson, 

who addressed Baird as "Rev. Mr. dear Sirt1)" F l e t t  u s u a l l y  

used m e r e l y  Wear Sir." Miss MacIntosh sometiaes cfosed h e r  

fetters to B a i r d  W i t h  much loveIN" while Flett closed with 

tlYours very truly." Some of his reports to headquarters had 

a more pious tone than d i d  his letters. B u t  his July, 1879 

report was supposed to reach the Presbytery clerk no later 

t h a n  March. In his very lateness, Flett showed that he was 

"~oward Adams, Prison of Grass: Canada f r o m  t h e  Native 
Point of View (Toronto: New Press, 1975), 185. 

"UCA, Baird Collection, G1589-1590, McPherson to Baird, 
27 June 1897. 

"UCA, Baird Collection, F907, MacIntosh to Baird, 
undated . 



not particularly concerned about his r e p t a t i o n  with the fMC 

or perhaps he demonstrated that he was on " Ind ian  tirne."" 

The picture of Flett that surfaces is of a missionary 

who thought it w a s  important that his parishioners should 

accept ~hristianity and renounce their own religion and 

rituals. He lacked, however, the excessive veneration that 

çome other missionaries, such as McPherson, paid their 

employers, and he resisted the standardized, generalized 

missionary mold. 

74VUA, fonds 122/14, Box 1, File 1, Flettrs report to 
the F'MC, 10 July 1879. 



Chapter VI1 

Synthesis: The Two Worlds of George Flett 

When surveyor William Wagner described George Flett in 

1875 as more like an "old Philosopherw t h a n  a "Revrd 

gentleman,' he explained that Flett did not "stand on his 

dignity as a Revrd gentleman would do." Flett in fact 

blended the qualities of both an "old Philosopherw and a 

"Rev'd gentleman." 

The t e r m  "old Philosopherm evokes a picture of a n a t i v e  

elder with a sense of play, a flexible perception of time 

and place, and an impressive narrative ability. These 

qualities in Flett resulted in a philosophy of mission that 

differed from that of the FMC in some ways. Flett was, 

however, also a "Revtd gentleman," a devoted missionary who 

had a solid claint to be called "Mr. FLett." To d a i m  that 

role, he tried to please the members of the presbyterian FMC 

who believed in the importance of evangelism and w h o  held to 

the strict work ethic that was strong in the nineteenth 

century Protestant church. 

Finally, in the way he bridged two worlds, Flett 

demonstrated that he was culturally enlarged, not 

dysfunctional. In his old age, however, he lost the 

flexibility and the opportunity to relate to two worlds and 

increasingly moved towards the role of a native elder. 

During Flettrs lifetime, the balance of power and the  nature 

of his two worlds had changed to such a significant degree, 



that it was impossible for him, given his situation, 

character and his propensity towards being like a native 

elder, to adjust to the warld of a "Revfd gentleman.11 

Old Philosopher 

George Flett had an antazing capacity to enjoy life 

which he exhibited through a sense of play. This relaxed, 

unhurried approach to life was an intrinsic part of his 

personality, and was surely linked more with his native t h a n  

h i s  Orkney raots. Although it is true that nct al1 Scottish 

people were sombre and driven workers, they were inclined to 

train their children to work, while native parents allowed 

their offspring more freedom to p l a y o L  This çense of the 

importance of play extended into a less regimented a d u l t  

life for native peoples than for Europeans. Although 

Flettrs father came from a strong ûrkney, Presbyterian 

background, his mother and her relatives must have given 

Flett an inclination towards freedom and play. Since Çally, 

Flettrs materna1 grandmother, probably lived with the Flett 

family, the native influence could have been P a i r l y  strong, 

fostering George's development into a person who did not 

"stand on his dignity." Many of Flettrs characteristics and 

'Sec, for example, Alexander Ross's description of the 
Baptiste l'Esprit family who visited, smoked, drank tea, and 
fished. He contrasts the Presbyterian settlement and their 
lwexertionslw with the type of life enjoyed by the l'Esprit 
farniiy. Ross, 82-97. 



attitudes were not in keeping with the customary propriety 

and decoruni of a dour and dignified nRevrd gentleman." 

Flett's sense of play is illustrated by jocular remarks 

in letters indicating that he had an optimistic and humorous 

disposition and that he regarded life with a measure of 

amusement. His correspondence with James Ross, for example, 

described his trip south and his sleeping accommodations on 

the way back to Red River in a very entertaining manner. He 

ended this informative and interesting letter by saying he 

had written only nonsense and that nothing more could be 

expected of him. His tone, however, was not that of someone 

with an inferiority cornplex. If that were the case, he 

would not have written to James Ross, the winner of awards 

at the University of Toronto, in his own hand and with his 

own limited spelling. Rather, it soundeo like a joke and in 

fact, James Ross was greatly cheered by Flett's letter. In 

the same letter, Flett referred to his father-in-law as "the 

old Scottish chiefw whose name he used as a password to 

introduce himself to distinguished people. The nickname 

"JordyW or "beaufrere Jordym demonstrates the affection that 

the Ross family held for Flett, but it also gives the 

impression that he was a breath of fresh air in the staid 

and inflexible atrnosphere of Alexander Ross% strict 

Presbyterian home. 

Another illustration of Flettrs distinctive sense of 

humour is the postscript in his letter to Baird in which he 



remarked that a l 1  Baird's knowledge of Greek and Latin, did 

not confer the ability t o  read Flettfs first languages, Cree 

o r  Saulteaux. These comments have a droll, tonque-in-cheek 

tone consistent with the general impression we get of the 

way Flett looked at life. 

Flett had a taste for adventure and spontaneity, 

epitomized by his reference to a decided hankering for 

buffalo hunt ing  at Red River rather than ice fishing at 

Sault Ste. Marie. He had an inclination for the 

experimental. Members of the Ross farnily made many 

references to his ceaseless efforts t~ build a water mil1 at 

his farm on the White Horse Plains.' He w a s  not afraid to 

try new methods or to take some risks, either for himself s r  

to help others. Flett was the rescuer in the Ross family, 

whether it was to help Jemima with her business after her 

husbandrs death or whether it was to bring James safely home 

from Toronto. He was not bound to a personal schedule, it 

seems, so t h e r e  was always time for other  people. 

As a pe r son  who loved adventure, Flett liked to travel. 

This inclination may have originated with the Flettsr long 

farnily journey in the 1830s. He moved readily to Victoria 

'Cuthbert G r a n t ' s  earlier experiments at building a 
water mill at Sturgeon Creek behind Grantown had failed. 
Since Grant was a witness at Flett's wedding, it is quite 
possible that Flett got ideas about a mill from him. See 
MacLeod and Morton, 104-105. See also Ross's somewhat 
sardonic description of Grant's experiment in Ross, 145-146. 
Ross wrote that Grant did not take into account that 'la good 
huntsmanw might be a Wery indifferent rnill~right.~~ 



and then to Prince Albert after less than three years. 

Flett had travelled widely in the Carlton House area, and 

had become acquainted with people of different communities 

in the region, accepting al1 of them as friends. Coming 

from Victoria to Fort Carlton, Flett did not merely make his 

way from one point to another. He met bicultural people who 

later helped the Nisbet expedition make the difficult 

crossing at the South Saskatchewan River.' John McXay, 

while hunting for provisions for the Nisbet party, met a 

sick "old christian Indian" on the plains who knew Flett and 

had a horse and cart that belonged ta him. These exsmples 

suggest that Flett was an extrovert who socielized with 

people wherever he went. 

Flett's sense of play is f u r t h e r  iilustrated by various 

descriptions of picnics and outings. Benjamin McKenziefs 

mernories of his stay at Red River and h i s  week-long holiday 

with James Ross and George and Mary Flett, were purely about 

relaxation and pleasure.' One wonders how many Red River 

families took tirne for play in the busy summer months. 

Certainly Alexander Rossfs history of t h e  Red River 

settlement p r e s e n t s  the Scottish settlers as solely occupied 

with work to eke out their meager existence. Flettrs 

propensity for play is more in line with native 

'SAB, Nisbet letters S-A57, Nisbet to Burns, 20 June 
1866. 

'~ee HBCA search file--missionaries/windmills. 



characteristics than with the Protestant work ethic but, 

admittedly, some of his spontaneity could have corne from his 

Orkney father who must have had some flair for adventure in 

order to take his large family on that long and difficult 

trip to an unknown destination in 1835. In a sense, Flettrs 

narration of that journey also reminds us of a prolonged 

picnic. 

After Flett settled at Okanase, he often accompanied 

members of the F'MC on their visits to v a r i o u s  Lndian 

missions under their jurisdiction. Baird and Hart's 

mernories of Flett highlighted his capacity to make their 

outinqs pleasurable and memorable. He excelled at setting 

up cornfortable camping sites for the night and at caokinq 

pemmican in many different delicicus ways.' When George and 

Mary helped Hugh M c K a y  choose a mission site, he described 

with great pleasure their journey from Okanase to the area 

of the Qu'Appelle valley. They had tirne to stop in order to 

admire the view at various points: their nightly camp sites 

were pleasurable, cornfortable and happy/ Mary brought her 

gift of sinqing to occasions such as this one and to many 

meetings with the peoples who lived on the plains. 

Flett further demonstrated his native propensities 

through his perception of time and place. When, in 1887, he 

'~onaghy, 17. Donaghy got his information from notes 
left by Baird. 

6 W A ,  fonds 122/14, McKay to "Dear Sirtt  17 June 1884. 



related the s t o r y  of the Flett family excursion to the east, 

William Coldwell remarked in the preface of the article in 

the Free Press that Flett adopted "the Indian mode of fixing 

the tinte, by indicating the season of the year rather than 

naming the month in connection with any event."' His 

approach parallelled John Tanner's way of relating his story 

without calendar dates but rather structuring events 

according to the season of t h e  year.' 

Flettfs sense of place was also more native than the 

European system of definite boundaries enclosinq private 

property. When Nisbet and Flett chose the site for the 

Prince Albert mission, the Cree gave reluctant permission 

for the party to settle on the North Saskatchewan at Carlton 

House because Flett claimed a birthright to that land. 

Flett was born at Moose Lake many miles downstream from 

Carlton House but since both locations were within the 

domain of Cree migrations, he was able to claim a right to 

use the land on the strength of h i s  Cree descent. H e  also 

knew how to make a case to the Cree on their own terms, 

using h i s  knowledge of their cultural p r a c t i c e s  to good 

advantage. 

'Coldwell, 12 March 1887. 

%ee John Fierst, "Strange Eloquence: Another Look at 
The Ca~tivitv and Adventures of John Tanner," in Readinq 
Bevond Words: Contexts for Native Historv, eds. Jennifer 
S.H. Brown & Elizabeth V i b e r t  (Peterborough: Broadview 
Press, 1996), 228. 



Flett further illustrated a native ability for story- 

telling. Caldwell noted that Flett remembered the entire 

journey that took place fifty-one years aqo "as if t h e  whole 

scene, panorama-like, passed vividly before him.zr He spoke 

without using any notes, giving "minute details." Of course 

memory is selective and there were probably parts of the 

story that Flett neglected to include either because they 

were n o t  important to him or because he chose to forget 

them. But his mode of communication was that of a native 

elder, a philosopher like Old Keyam, the story-teller in 

Edward menakewrs experiencee9 I t  is also rerniniscent of 

John Tanner's mode of communicating with Edwin James, who 

later edited Tanner's story. Aftcr Flettrs retirement, the 

1897 M c  report described his gift for communicatinq orally 

His knowledge of Indian character, h i s  familiarity with 
t h e  Cree and Salteaux languages, and his capacity for 
adapting his argument to the circumstances of h i s  
auditors, and embellishing it with vigorous, even if 
homely, illustrations, made him an extremely suitable 
man for some phases of mission work, and his influence 
w i l l  live for many a year among both white men and 
Indians .'O 

George Bryce also alluded to Flettrs forceful mode of oral 

'see Edward Ahenakew, Voices of the Plains Cree, ed. 
Ruth M. Buck (Regina: Canadian Plains Research Centre, 
l995), xiv, 3. 

"APP Appendix 6 ,  xxv. 



communication and his homely illustrations, in the tribute 

he wrote in honour of Flett after Flettrs death.ll 

Because of Flettrs native leanings, his views about 

missions did not always aqree with those of the FMC." His 

personal concept of what it meant to be a missionary to the 

Cree and Saulteaux was to take time to talk with them 

wherever he associated with them and to share his food and 

resources. He did not feel the same time pressure and 

urgency as did members of the FMC. His behaviour stood in 

contrast to the F'MCrs compulsion to get on with missions 

quickly since the field was imense and the task was urgent. 

A questionnaire sent out by the FMC of the Presbyterian 

Church in Canada in 1879 asKed Flett whât he would  r=commerîd 

as the %est methods of enlistinq Christians to work for the 

good of others.ll His answer was: 

1 recommend Kindly dealing with the heathen Indian in 
approaching him. should he corne to the ~inister's 
house give him something to eat as this is considered 
civility by him. In fact s i n c e  I came to Riding 
Mountain 1 have spent my al1 in feeding Indians and 1 
find it the best way of getting at them." 

In the same report, Flett indicated that he thought  t h e  

greatest hindrances to missions were heathenism and 

I L W ~ ,  Micro P.S. BX 9001 AlOW, Reel I June 1896-June 
1898. "A Pioneer Missionary,lt The Westminster (6 November 
1897), 349. 

"WA, "A Pioneer Missionary , 349. 

'IWA, fonds 122/14/1/1. Flett to Committee, 10 July 
1879. 



Catholicism, ~ h i s  view certainly agreed with Presbyterian 

beliefs but differed from Flettrs earlier opposition to 

competitive missions. 

Another contrast between Flett and the FMC members was 

that FletYs priorities were different. ~ddressing physical 

needs was as important to Flett as spiritual conversions. 

He came to Okanase just before the boundaries of the reserve 

were established, at a time when the Saulteaux were in 

desperate need because their whole way of life was under 

pressure to change from the hunt to agricultüre. I n  t h e i r  

1865 report, the FMC quoted a speech made by an Indian whom 

they called "an intelliqent c h i e f t l  to the "Wesleyan 

brethren." According to the Methodists he said:  

When 1 think of my children, an overwhelming sorrow 
fills my heart. If 1 look to the Traders with whom we 
have bartered for mcre t h a n  a hundred yearç, 1 have no 
hope, for Our robes and furs will soon be gone. 
Servants of the Giver of Life, you bring the blessing 
that cheers Our troubled hearts. Teach us to be 
Christians, and then we shall cease to kill each other, 
and Our children will learn how to live on the rich 
lands the Good Spirit has given us.'" 

The Presbyterians responded to speeches like the one 

they heard from the Methodists by sending missionaries such 

as George Flett to the reserves. In 1880, he wrote to the 

deputy superintendent of Indian Affairs to let them know 

what the physical needs at Okanase were. The Saulteaux 

could no longer make their living by hunting because Riding 

"UCA, APP 1865, Appendix liii-liv. 
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Mountain was f u l l  of men cuttinq timber for milling. They 

now needed to make their living by farming. The government, 

however, had failed to keep their promises to the Çaulteaux; 

they had s e n t  oxen to Okanase that were too old and too 

small to work the fields and haul wood for fencing, and 

insufficient seed to plant their fields, so the Okanase 

residents were starving. Flett continued: 

1 do not quite approve of the present policy of the 
Governrnent in sending farrner Agents to farrn fo r  the 
Indians in behalf of Government; better to let some one 
teach them ta make themselves independent, & work amonq 
them constantly; for as it now stands, the o n l y  one 
really benefited by the present system, is the man who 
is sent to farm fo r  the Indians ,  and not the Indians 
themselves . l5 

Flett wrote that he could not do the job he was 

recommendinq, but someone on a s m a l l  salary should corne to 

live with the Saulteaux to teach them agriculture and help 

them to be independent. His statement is surprising since 

according to Wagner, the surveyor, Flett taught the 

Saulteaux how to farm when he first arrived a t  Okanase. 

Now, however, he wrote that he was too busy with his own 

obligations as a missionary. He was constantly alleviating 

the needs of the sick and the dying as the same letter, and 

others, made clear. He closed the letter by writing: 

You may not be pleased with some of my suggestions but 
1 am compelled on behalf of the Indians to point out 

"PM, RG10, R e e l  C-10123, Vol. 3706, File 18,809. 
Flett to L. Van Konghnet [Vankoughnet] Esq., 3 January 1880. 



where 1 think their state can best be improved. Hoping 
this will meet with your earliest attendance.'" 

Flett was willing to express himself even when he disagreed 

with officials and when his views could be unpopular. He 

stood firmly on the side of the Saulteaux at Okanase, and 

was concerned that their physical needs should be met and 

that they should becorne independent even when their way of 

life was changing. 

It is not completely clear whether Flett's philosophy 

of missions was to civilize before Christianizinq. At the 

Prince Albert mission, he seemed to resent the efforts ta 

build up a mode1 farm and school instead of itinerating, 

although he was willing ta take part in children's 

education. He definitely put forth a concentrated effort to 

teach t3e Saulteaux at Okanase ta farm and he helped them 

establish a school for their children. He sometimes alluded 

to the fact that the young men i n  the  area were better than 

the old men, presumably because the young men were less 

steeped in tradition and more teachable. Yet he d i d  not 

seem particularly disturbed that the children were not 

learning English in the school and he was extremely 

disturbed when ministers and teachers who did not speak Cree 

or Ojibwa took over his work. 

"Flett t o  L. Van Konghnet [Vankoughnet], 3 January 
1880. 



Unlike B a i r d  i n  h i s  reports t o  the Presbyterian synod, 

Flett d i d  not think of the Cree at Prince Albert or the 

Saulteaux a t  Okanase as dark and dirty. I n  fact, he 

described Okanase women as clean and industrious. He was 

upset when English-speaking iemale school teachers wanted to 

include sewing in their school cur r icu lum.  To him, that was 

a total waste of time because the g i r l s  could learn t o  sew 

from their mothers at home. As in the matter of training 

Okanase residents to be independent farmers, Flett thouqht 

that the Saulteaux girls could sew on their own by now. 

They knew how to sew just as well as Miss  amero on." Mrs. 

Flett had taught their motbers how to sew and knit years 

ta ago. In schooi, they should be taught ta read and write, 

but it d id  not  seem very important that they learn to speak 

the Enqlish language until the white women teachers came ta 

Okanase . 
Another way in which Flettfs philosophy of missions 

differed from that of the FMC and the Department of Indian 

Affairs was in financial planning. Before Flett left Red 

River for Fort Pelly and the surrounding area in 1874, he 

spent $200 for his outfit. John Black wrote to the FMC that 

he trusted that t h e y  would reimburse the money. In 1880, 

"UCA, Baird Collection, E766, FLett to the FMC 
conveners , 8 November 18 9 0. 

"UCA, Baird collection E1924, Flett to Mrs. Jeffrey of 
the Woman's Foreign Missionary Society, 29 October 1892. 



Flett spent most of his means alleviating the starving 

Saulteaux without ask ing  for proper authorization first." 

Rather than wait for budgets to be drawn up and for 

requisitions to pass the scrutiny of the FMC, Flett, when 

there was a need, took care of it, most often by spending 

his own money. That is why the sick old man on the Prince 

Albert plains had Fiett's horse and cart and that is why 

Flett suddenly found himself "out of pocketn at Okanase.'" 

The result was that he often had t o  beg the  FMC to reimburse 

him. Black and Hart were usually sympathetic, recognizing 

that Flett richly deserved to be refunded. After Flett 

retired, money from the retirement fund was slow i n  cominq. 

FMC o f f i c e r s  thought he shouid exercise nore patience and 

questioned if he uas really in need." 

FletYs monetary practices a t  Okanase were adapted ta 

customs of reciprocity among native peoples in a small face- 

to-face c o m u n i t y .  When his people needed food, medicine, 

or clothing he gave it to them. When he needed help in 

building a church or a home, the Okanase residents were 

ready to help him. Reciprocal relationships and customs may 

"PAC RGlO R e e l  C-10123, Volume 3706, File 18,801, Edgar 
Dewdney to the Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, 31 
July 1881. 

"WA, Presbyterian Church in Canada Home Mission 
Cornmittee Correspondence, Fonds 122/14. Flett to MacLaren 2 
January 1882. 

"UCA, Baird Collection Ga86, J.H. Cameron to Baird, 24 
November 1896. 



be the reason for Flett's lack of accessible cash in his old 

age. He helped his parishioners until he had little left 

for hirnself and Mary when they retired. 

Flett also differed w i t h  the FMC, or at least with 

Nisbet, in naming practices. Whereas Nisbet named the first 

Presbyterian mission Prince Albert, in honour of the royal 

consort, Flett named his mission Okanase, in honour of a 

famous chief. Yet, he gave Christian names to his baptismal 

candidates. Even Keeseekoowenin became Moses Burns, 

probably named after Robert F. Burns, professor at Knox 

College and FMC convenor. Perhaps Flett had na choice in 

the matter of renaminq new conver t s .  That was cornmon 

practice arnong the Presbyterians as well as in cther 

denominations. 

Rev'd Gentleman 

One side of Flett's personality w a s  manifested in his 

sense  of play, his flexible perception of time and place, 

his strong narrative technique, and h i s  differences with FMC 

missions policies and philosophies. But there was another 

s i d e  to his personality, manifested in his aspirations to 

be a Rev'd gentleman. Bicultural individuals had difficulty 

moving away from the negative stereotypes attached to t tha l f -  

breeds." In the HBC in the 1830s and 1840s, most could not 

rise above the rank of a postmaster where their wages were 

lower than clerks, the position that European born 



apprentices held .  But in Red River, people of mixed descent 

found non-company employment in the capacity of teacher, 

sheriff, and medical officermu F l e t t  may have felt a desire 

for p r e s t i g e  which he could gain only  by holding a 

responsible position outside the employ of t h e  HBC. His 

ordination may have fulfilled some of his dreams for 

himself . 
In order to be recognized as a candidate for ordination 

in the Presbyterian church, Flett had to declare that he 

believed in the Westminster Confession of Faith and that he 

would submit to the discipline of the church and conform to 

its methads of worship. One question put to an aspiring 

minister was: 

Are not zeal f o r  the honour of God, love to Jesus 
Christ, and desire of saving souls, your qreat motives 
and chief inducements to enter into the functions of 
the holy ministry, and not worldly designs and 
interests?" 

In order to be qualified to Save s o u l s ,  church doctrine 

required that the one doing the saving should himself be 

saved first. 

F l e t t ' s  religious history was not as standard as that 

of candidates with a European background. presbyterians 

were normally baptized as infants, but that could not happen 

at Moose Lake. He was baptized a t  the age of six into the 

1 2 S e e  Brown, Stranaers in Blood, 208. 

"UCA, APP 1855, 31-32. 



Church of England when the Flett family settled in Red 

River. Later in life, Flett explained that baptism meant to 

him that the applicant was turning from sin and receiving 

the seal of the covenant of grace and being ingrafted into 

christ." But it is doubtful that Flett, as a six-year-old, 

had such insight at the t i m e  of his baptism. 

In 1854 when he visited St. Joseph, Flett refused to 

join a mission team, but in 1866 he was willing to be an 

interpreter for the Nisbet team. Something must have 

happened in the interval to change his opinion about t h e  

need for missionaries to native peoples. He may have had a 

conversion experience while he was in Victoria, under the 

influence of the Methodist George HccDoougall. But he had 

already risen to the position his father had held at Moose 

Lake; he was in charge as the postmaster of an HBC outpost 

and he could expect to rise no higher in the employ of the 

HBC. Perhaps Flett felt a need to change vocations in order 

to raise his social status. He may have thought there was a 

possibility that he could climb up a f e w  rungs on the social 

ladder, as his father and father-in-law, both now dead for 

over a decade, would have wanted him to do. 

His move to Prince Albert and his aspirations to be a 

ItRevrd gentlemanm ended in disappointment. His letter to 

Nisbet indicated that he wanted higher wages, more persona1 

"WA, Fonds 122/14, Box 1, File 1. 
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possessions, and less menial labour. He wanted to remain on 

the çame social level, or higher, as he had been when he 

worked as a postmaster, retaining his standing as Mr. Flett. 

Perhaps he thought he and Nisbet would work together on an 

equal plane, but it became clear that Nisbet would be the 

master and Flett would merely be the intermediary between 

the missionary and the Cree, and by implication, a servant. 

Once Nisbet claimed his role as the master, he dictated 

the goals of the mission, changing them from ~hristianizing 

and travelling to a more sedentary civilizing mission. 

Ffettfs persona1 style was to be an itinerant but Nisbet 

preferred ta place more emphasis on building up a central 

location than to go out to meet the people where they lived 

and hunted. Flett was clear in h i s  belief that the Croe and 

Blackfoot needed to learn about God and his plan of 

salvation for them. But his primary consideration was 

friendship with the people and a willingness to do a l 1  in 

his power to ameliorate their physical needs. Once that was 

done, they could be reached with the gospel of Jesus Christ. 

Thus, Flettrs desire for outreach as well as persona1 status 

was frustrated at Prince Albert. His native sympathies kept 

him from supporting Nisbetfs ideas, and his personal dignity 

stood in the way of becoming Nisbetrs menial labourer. He 

found that as a bicultural person, he could not claim the 

respect he wanted at the Prince Albert mission. 



Flett achieved more persona1 dignity and recognition 

through his ordination and admission to Presbytery on 18 

A u g u s t  1875, and later his membership in the Manitoba FMC. 

It is a matter for conjecture whether Flettrs ordination was 

carried t h e  same prestige as others in the Presbyterian 

Church, or whether he was merely "good anough for indiensn 

as Smith had assured him at St. Joseph in 1854." His title, 

however, changed from "Mr. Fletttt to V e v ,  Flettom 

1 have already pointed out some of the prejudices about 

bicultural and native peoples held by missionaries with a 

European background, Flettrs successor, R.C. McPherçon, 

took it upon himself to assess FLettrs spirituality and to 

send a report about his observations to Baird, The fact that 

McPhersm sent s u c h  a report suggests that he held a 

superior rank bcth in his own view and in the opinion of the 

FMC. The Prince Albert missionary in 1875, Hugh McKeller, 

thought people such  as M c K a y  and Flett should always be 

responsible to a senior missionary with a European 

background; he had grave reservations about McKayts and 

Flettts ordinations. 25 

In s p i t e  of McKellerrs views, Flett was ordained and 

apparently served a mixed congreqation at Okanase, with 

"ROSS Family Collection, le t ter  No. 68, George Flett to 
James Ross, 26 January 1854. 

' = W A ,  Fonds 116/2, Box 1, File 12, Hugh McKeller to 
William MacLaren, 30 June 1875. 



white people present. When Flett first came to Okanase, 

there was  no other Presbyterian Church in the district, so 

white settlers around the reserve came to worship with the 

Okanase residents." Communion records at Okanase show that 

in 1876 nine communicants took part in the ordinance of the 

Lord's Supper, six WhitesW and three Vndian~."~~ Rev. 

James Marnoch, in a personal interview, told me that Flett 

did not care who people were. Because of his ecumenical 

views, a good relationship between the Elphinstone church, 

which white people attended, and the church on the reserve 

still existed i n  1948." 

Given the  views of some of Flettfs superlors and 

colleagues, it may be that ordination to serve in an Indian 

mission w a s  not as prestigious as ordination to the ministry 

of white Presbyterian congregations. Yet undeniably, it was 

an honour to be ordained and later to be nominated to a 

position on the Manitoba FMC. Flettrs writings and actions 

indicate that social status was important to him when he was 

at Victoria and Prince Albert. At Okanase, however, his 

letters do not convey such a message. The tone is that of a 

man content to be one of the people whom he served, without 

"APP, 1876, Appendix 158. 

"James Marnoch, interview by Alvina Block, 6 February 
1996. 



a need to impress FMC conveners with the success of his 

work. 

Despite his intermittent aspirations to be a Revfd 

gentleman, Flett had to comply with constituency 

expectations at every t u r n .  H i s  first taste of pressure t o  

conform came at Prince Albert. Flett chafed against the 

expectation that he would conform to Nisbetfs conception of 

a mission workerzs appearance to outsiders. He wrote that 

he had not expected that he would have to please "al1 the 

H.B.C. officers on the Saskatchewann when he joined Nisbetfs 

team. ft was beneath his dignity to order his l i f e ,  as a 

missionary, so that it would be in line with Nisbetrs 

expectations of how a mission worker should look to HBC 

officers, FMC members, and the constituency. He did not 

understand or appreciate the boundaries that limited him to 

work only for the mission and not to accept any outside work 

contracts to make shingles and build houses for Clarke, 

McDonald, and Ballandyne, 

Flettzs philosophy of life was sorely taxed by Nisbet's 

Protestant work ethic and the expectation that he would work 

only for the mission, not freelance at jobs for surrounding 

settlers and HBC posts and further, instead of becoming a 

"Rev'd he had to fil1 every hour with rnenial 

labour for the mission station. Rather than teach, 

interpret, and preach he had to work at the development of a 

mode1 farm and school which had definite boundaries within 



which he must stay. The Prince Albert limitations and 

restrictions proved too much for Flett. 

The FMC may have quietly recognized that the conflict 

had two sides, for they did not cal1 Flettfs time at Prince 

Albert a dismal failure. Instead, they stated that Mary 

Flett needed medical attention at Red River for a prolonged 

illness, unrecorded elsewhere, and, after a few years, 

ordained him and sent h i m  to Okanase. Tbere too, as in 

Prince Albert, Flett was confronted with rules and 

constraints. At Okanase, however, his relationship with 

members of the FMC seemed fairly cornfortable at first 

because he was in charge and he had native teachers workinq 

under his supervision. 

When English-speaking women teachers came to Okanase, 

he began to have more conflicts with board regulations and 

policies regarding the distribution of clothing, for 

example, Flett felt that at Okanase, there was no further 

need for clothing bundles sent by the Womenfs Foreign 

Missionary ~ociety from the East. He wanted the clothes for 

people living on other reserves, who were not as self- 

reliant as the Okanase Saulteaux. Miss Cameron, however, 

wanted to give clothes to the Okanase school children as 

rewards for attendance and good work. The FMC sided with 



Miss Cameron, with the result that Flett felt humiliated 

because his judgment on this matter had been disregarded." 

As at Prince Albert, Flett was confronted with 

boundaries at Okanase- These boundaries identified the 

confines of the reserve, a new concept in 1874. Hitherto, 

the Saulteaux had travelled freely across ~iding Mountain to 

follow the hunt. Although the hunt continued to some 

extent, both Flett and the Saulteaux among whom he lived and 

worked had to learn to live according to white man's rules 

on the reserve. At Okanase, however, Flett appeared to feel 

less confined, because his assignment included distant areas 

such as Rolling River and Rossburn. In the days before the 

automobile, it was q u i t e  a challenge to be respcnsible for 

stations far removed from each other. Flett, who loved 

itinerating, was equal to this challenge. 

At Okanase, Flett worked until he was weary to the 

bone. Yet he did not resent physical labour as he did at 

Prince Albert- At Okanase Flett was able to define his work 

according to his own priorities. Although he was obligated 

to send reports to the FMC, he was his own master at the 

reserve without a superior looking over his shoulder on a 

daily basis. 

The principal expectation of the FMC was that the 

Saulteaux at Okanase would be converted. According to FMC 

 a ai rd Collection, E723-724, Cameron to Baird, 28 
October 1890 and E766, flett to Baird, 8 November 1890. 



reports to the Presbytery and according to Baird's report, 

Flett met that requirement since al1 of the Okanase 

residents, last of al1 the oid chief Keeseekoowenin, became 

Christians, He also seemed to change his views on 

denominational cornpetition in the mission field; now he said 

that paganism and Catholicism were the greatest hindrances 

to his work. In 1879 the FMC reported that Flett brought 

the "Gospel of Christn to many "heathen Indians." Some of 

the ltheathenU whom Flett had won for the Presbyterians had 

previously been llbaptized in the Romish ~hurch."" Although 

the priest was trying hard ta get them back, these people 

remained %teadfast in their attachment to the truthn and 

appeared t û  have "broken completely with [the R o r n i s h ]  systern 

of error.N'2 In 1893, Flett wrote to Saird,  this tirne to ask 

for clothing and other resources: 

As 1 am making good progress at Rosçburn, having 
baptized 6 Roman Catholics & 5 heathen lately, 1 would 
like you to send me up a good supply of al1 sorts of 
clothing both for young & old. 1 find the R.C. priest 
there is very liberal with his money & think it better 

"Roman Catholicism could have been quite a problem to 
Flett, if he opposed it. According to Neufeld, "the band 
had absorbed some aspects of the Roman ~atholic faith 
through ancestors of the Cardinals and from a Catholic 
mission near Riding Mountain H o u ~ e . ~ ~  The group who lived 
south of Lake Dauphin remained Roman Catholic; they were 
hunters and fishmen while those on the Okanase reserve 
became farmers. See Neufeld, wKeeseekoowenin,w 537-538. 

"APP 1879, Appendix lxxxiii. 



that 1 should be well supplied in order to have a 
better hold on t h e  people." 

At Rossburn, Flett competed with Catholics f o r  souls, in a 

r i v a l r y  that is hard to reconcile with his earlier 

friendship with Father Lacombe, whom he had met in Victoria 

in 1866.'~ The cornpetitive Flett contrasts with his earlier 

responses to h i s  experiences a t  Sault Ste. Marie where h e  

saw how confused natives could be when various denominations 

competed for souls, and at Pembina in 1854. 

Osborne Lauder, a qreat grandson to George and Mary 

Flett, wrote that his mother told him that when the Okanase 

residents converted to Christianity during Flett's tirne, 

they  had to "give up al1 t h e i r  old I nd i an  be l i eve s . "  H e  

added: "They now seem to be reverting back to them.ll" That 

the Okanase residents did not remain staunch Presbyterians 

may sugqest t h a t  even in Flettts t i m e  t h e  Okanase Saulteaux 

practiced a f o r m  of syncretism that the FMC was not aware 

of. The combining of Christian beliefs with traditional 

practices may not have been very visible to Flett, because 

be ai rd Collection, F396-397, Flett to Baird, 7 
September 1893. 

"~anaghy, 17.  When Lacombe published hiç French-Cree 
dictionary, he sent a copy to Flett. LacombeYs dictionary 
was published before 1879 when he gave a copy to the pope 
during his visit to Rome. See MacGregor, 241. 

 ette ter from Osborne Lauder (Elphinstone) to Alvina 
Block (Winnipeg), 12 March 1996. 



of his own bicultural background and his broad experience 

with native p e o p l e s  . 
To clarify the issue of competition and syncretisa, it 

may be helpful to compare Flett with Charles Pratt, his Red 

River classmate and the native ancestor of Winona Stevenson. 

Stevensonrs parents and grandparents told her that Pratt was 

a wonderful story teller, a buf fa lo  hunter, an interpreter 

for the government, and a partner in native ceremonies 

"beyond the watchfu l  eyes of his Anglican superiors and 

Indian agents.f1 But she discovered, from archival records, 

that he was also the missionary who "wrote like every other 

missionarytt and whose tslanguage and ... message differed 
little from [other] tenacious e~anqelicals.~" Stevenson 

concluded that Pratt lived in two parallel worlds, one for 

his descendants to whom he bequeathed his oral history, and 

one for his CMS superiors wham he hoped to convince that he 

was an ideal missionary." 

Unlike Pratt, Flett did not use pious and subservient 

language or denigrate the Cree and Ojibwa in his 

correspondence. Yet he worked for twenty years to 

Christianize and civilize the Okanase residents and the 

natives in the surrounding areas and, according to Osborne 

Lauder, did not want thern to retain any of their native 

- 

"Stevenson, tUournals and Voices,<' 307, 308. 

"Stevenson, tfJournals and Voices, t1 312. 
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beliefs, Perhaps Flett, like Pratt, worked on two planes. 

F l e t t  was w e l l  aware of native traditions but needed to 

convince the FMC that he was conforming to their mission 

policies. Flett knew how Canadians thought and operated. 

He had two competing interests while communicating with two 

cultures to Eind a common ground. F r o m  1888 to 1 8 9 7 ,  

private correspondence portrayed Flett quite differently 

than d i d  the public reports. That there were t w o  planes of 

communication suggests that there were also two ways of 

being, 

Conclusion 

So who was Flett, an "old Philosophertt or a "Rev'd 

Gentleman8*? He could be both, as an intermediary or a go 

between, living both in a native and a European world. 

Influenced by both, he seemed to do this without any undue 

effort or preoccupation. Baird said of Flett, "He has a 

name...that shows he has something of the Scotchman in h i m  

and a complexion that shows he haç something of the 

native?' But Flettrs biculturalism was exhibited in much 

more than his name and his complexion. At some points Flett 

seemed to aspire to a position that fitted in w i t h  his 

European ancestry, while at other times, especially towards 

t h e  end of h i s  life, he swung towards his native roots. 



Often, his actions were as mixed as his ancestry; not 

clearly either European or native but some of both. 

Mission boards and their church constituencies had 

certain expectations of their employees. The residents of 

the reserves on the Canadian prairies also had expectations 

of the missionary who came to live with them, but their 

desires often did not match those of the mission boards- 

Bicultural rnissionaries had sympathies for and knowledge of 

both European and native cultures. They tried to satisfy 

both their boards and their parishioners. Like Peter Jones, 

Flett "acted as a bridge between the t w o  cultures, qoing 

back and 

otaer . 
The 

apparent 

f o r t h  between them and helping them understand each 

inconqruities in George Flettrs life were more 

than real, reflecting the mobility or f lexibility 

that bicultural people exhibited as they moved from one role 

to another in their efforts to bridge cultures. His 

missionary and othe r  endeavours substantiate Clifton's claint 

that bicultural people often mastered knowledge of the two 

cultures in their ancestry and moved between them w i t h  ease. 

Flett demonstrated an ability to straddle both the demands 

and expectations of the native population and those of the 

mission board. He successfully combined some of the 

attitudes and characteristics of both an "old Philosopheru 



(native elder) and of a "Revrd gentleman" (devoted 

missionary). 

Flett often appeared to identify more closely with the 

Okanase residents than he did with the FMC, although he was 

also usually able tu please the F'MC niembers who were his 

employers. Sometimes, however, he found it difficult to 

operate in two worlds and satisfy the inhabitants of both 

and then his relationship with the FMC was sorely taxed. 

Flett's two worlds were mirrûred after his death by the 

different worlds in which his two dauqhters lived. Flett 

naned both Letitia and Annie in his will. Letitia married 

Alexander Murray. Both Letitia and Alexander are referred 

to as Znglish Metis in the 1879 Red River Census and they 

bota collected $160 scrip money in 1876." In Flett's will, 

Murray is described as a farner at St Charles. He m u s t  have 

become successful since, in 1880 and in 1881, both he and 

Letitia purchased more land and he is named Alexander Murray 

Esquire." In 1899, he was called the Honorable Alexander 

Murray. '' 

Annie married John Alexander Lauder, also named as a 

farmer in Flett's will; Lauder was also a storekeeper at 

"PAM, Scrip records, Reel T-4687. 

"PAM RG15, Reel C-14908, Vol 145, 15 March 1880. See 
also RG15, Reel C-14910, Vol. 148, 3 February 1881. 

"PM, MG14 C73 William Coldwell Papers, Box 7, Folder: 
Correspondence 1899-1900. R. Ross Sutherland, barrister, to 
Hon. Alexander Murray, 29 March 1899. 



Elphinstone and a teacher on the Okanase Reserve. Murray 

and Lauder were named as trustees of Flettrs will but Lauder 

died a month before Flett, leaving Murray as sole executer. 

Murray corresponded extensively with William Coldwell about 

t h e  execution of t h e  will. Murray's understanding of 

Flettrs will was that his savings (approximately $1700) 

should remain in the bank where they would bear interest 

which could go to Mrs. Flett. Upon her death, the principal 

would be equally divided between Mrs. Murray and Mrs- Lauder 

and their children. Mary Ross Flett wanted to spend the 

principal, but Murray's opinion was that: "If Mr. Flett had 

intended for Mrs. Flett to hoard up her annuity until the 

es ta te  was exhausted he would certainly have mentioned i t . I t "  

Coldwell disagreed, because  t h e  money w a s  really Mrs. 

Flettfs in the first place, o n l y  put in her husbandrs name.'" 

The final outcome is unknown. 

Letitia apparently was the wife of a gentleman who was 

familiar with monetary systems in the growing city of 

Winnipeg. Annie, on the other hand, stayed at Okanase after 

her husband died, and she lived w i t h  Mary Ross Flett. 

Before Lauder died, he had tried to convince Annie to move 

back to Red River where their children could be educated. 

But, he wrote to Coldwell, "Annie has made up her mind to 

"PM MG14 C73 William Coldwell Papers, Box 7 Folder:  
Correspondence 1899-1900, 12 April 1899. 

4 4 C o l d w e l l  to Murray, 7 June 1899. 



stay on here and wonft take a house in town after a l l . " " 5  

A f t e r  Lauder died in 1897, she lived close to the reserve 

where she looked after the store which Lauder had purchased 

from the HBC. Her sons Leo and Sam took over the business 

in 1903." Osborne Lauder, a descendant, still lived at 

Elphinstone in 1996. 

Letitia obviously moved towards a European ethnic 

affiliation and to risinq social standards at Red River. 

Annie, on the other hand, was content to run a store at 

Elphinstone where both native and white people purchased 

their supplies. The two daughters, disparate in age and 

experience, seem to have had little to do with each other. 

Their llves and t h e  differences in them exemplify the 

trajectories of Flett's two dissimilar worlds. 

Alexander Ross believed that half-breed children were 

inferior to children with two European parents unless they 

received a good education. H ~ S  son-in-law, Flett, did not 

have the advantage of an education abroad or in Toronto. 

Yet the records that illuminate his life clearly show that 

he was not inferior to his European peers nor did he feel 

inferior to thern. William Butler's opinion was that half- 

breeds were good only as guides, voyageurs, trappers, or 

"William Caldwell Papers, Lauder to Coldwell, 29 August 
1897. 

'6Centennial History Committee, Our Storv to 1984 (Rural 
Municipality of Strathclair, 1984), 7 8 .  



hunters and that they lacked courage and true manhood. 

Flett's Iife, however, proves that he was a good son-in-law, 

a faithful husband, and a diligent missionary. He was at 

ease in the Ross family or while conducting a tour of the 

Indian country for B a i r d  and Hart. He could contribute to 

Louis Riel's provisional government, trade furs with t h e  

Blackfoot and Cree for the HBC, relate easily to the Ojibwa 

at Okanase, or please the Presbyterian FMC and its 

constituency. It took a culturafly enlarged person to fil1 

al1 those roles. 

In his old age, however, when Flett faced a 

deteriorating situation a t  the Okanase Reserve and changinq 

con tex t s  in regard to relationships between ministers and 

teachers and the Saulteaux people, he could no longer move 

easily between two worlds and bridge the gap. He could n o t  

toferate teachers and ministers on the reserve who were not 

able to speak Ojibwa or Cree and who thought the Okanase 

people were backward. My opinion is that in later years, 

Flett saw himself as an elder who taught the people wisdom. 

Katherine Pettipas explains the importance of kinship 

networks in native communities, and adds that equally 

important was 

the education of the children in the belief systems and 
wisdom of their elders through observation, listening, 
and participation .... The concentration of religious 
knowledge resided with the elders, who throughout their 



lifetimes acquired both practical and spiritual 
expertise to guide their people." 

This description of a native elder fits George Flett in h i s  

role at the Okanase Reserve. 

Pettipas also describes the ability of elders to 

function as protectors and keepers. Flett witnessed 

documents that his Ojibwa and Cree friends sent to the 

government and kept some reserve papers in his home.'' Thus 

in a certain way, he seemed to be the guardian of the 

reserve. The Saulteaux at Okanase very likely saw Flett as 

one of their rrgrandfatherslr or %ld menw since he was a part 

of their kinship network. 

But, Pettipas continues, by the 1880s the position û f  

the elder was passing from leaders to the Department of 

Indian Affairs employees, mission teachers, and graduates 

from Indian schools. When Indian agents, white 

missionaries, and teachers became the possessors of 

knowledge, elders were seen as unprogressive.4g In his last 

years, when Flett's position as an elder was challenged by 

the FMCts praise of an anglophone teacher or when an 

outsider missicnary who could not speak Cree or Ojibwa took 

"~atherine Pettipas, Severinq the Ties that 
Bind:Governrnent Repression of Indiqenous Reliaious 
Ceremonies on the Prairies (Winnipeg: University of Manitoba 
Press, 1994), 60-61. 

"TARR RGlO Vol. 3555 File 13, Letter from Chief and 
Headmen of Riding Mountain to Provencher, 10 September 1875. 

"~ettipas, Severinq the Ties that Bind, 61, 73. 



over his position, he was angry. The future of the reserve 

and its residents, deprived of the influence of elders such 

as Flett and others, was being threatened. 

Edward Ahenakew, in telling the stories of Old Keyam 

the storyteller who kept native history alive, demonstrated 

the wisdom of an elder. The elder was responsible to instil 

beliefs and values into his people and in return, he 

commanded their respect. The role of an ttOld Manrv was an 

institution of Indian life throughout the centuries." flett 

was part of the kinship network at Okanase; like Old Keyam, 

he was getting on in years, he was a good story-teller, and 

he took tirne to listen and to talk to people. The Ojibwa 

became his people, In contrast to Henry Budd, Flett did not 

become anglicized, but identified more closely with the 

Saulteaux in his old age. 

As a postmaster at Victoria, Flett was known as Mr. 

Flett. As Nisbetts interpreter at Prince Albert, he was 

also called Mr. Flett. After h i s  ordination in 1875, he 

became Rev. Flett. Yet, his search for status was futile. 

At the end of his career, his opinions were of less value to 

the FMC than those of the white female school teachers. He 

was buried in the Indian cemetery at Okanase and when 

Keeseekoowenin and Baptiste Bone died, they were buried near 

"Ahenakew , 10. 



to him. Mary lived at Okanase f o r  fifteen more years. She 

died in 1912 and was buried at Okanase beside her husband." 

"Donaghy, special insert. 1 s a w  their tombstones in 
the Indian cemetery at Okanase. Mary's inscription reads: 
"In loving m e m o r y  of a devout sincere and humble Christian 
a s l e e p  in Jesus." 
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